








 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

BOARD OF EDUCATION 

MEETING 
 
 
 

       
 
 
 
 

       
 
 
 
 

MAY 16, 2011 

1



 

 

BOARD OF EDUCATION 
MILLARD PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

OMAHA, NEBRASKA 
 
BOARD MEETING                   STROH ADMINISTRATION CENTER 
5:15 P.M.                                  5606 SOUTH 147th STREET 
                                                            MAY 16, 2011 
4:45 P.M. PAYBAC Reception 

AGENDA 
 

A. Call to Order 
 

The Public Meeting Act is posted on the Wall and Available for Public Inspection 
 

B. Pledge of Allegiance 
 
C. Roll Call 
 
D. Public Comments on agenda items – This is the proper time for public questions and comments on agenda items only.  Please 

make sure a request form is given to the Board President before the meeting begins. 
 

E. Routine Matters 
1. *Approval of Board of Education Minutes – May 2, 2011 
2. *Approval of Bills 
3. *Receive the Treasurer’s Report and Place on File 
4. Summary of Committee of Whole Meeting – May 9, 2011 

 
F. Information Items 

1. Showcase:  PAYBAC Award Winners 
2. Superintendent’s Comments 
3. Board Comments/Announcements 
4. Report from Student Representatives and Presentation of Plaques to Students 

 
G. Unfinished Business: 

1.    Approval of Policy 3122 – Support Services – Business – Procurement Cards 
3.    Approval of Policy 5410 – Pupil Services – Substance Use 
4.    Approval of Policy 5480 – Pupil Services – Search and Seizure 
5.    Approval of Policy 5490 – Pupil Services – Use of Alcohol and other Drug Screening and Testing Technology 
 

H. New Business 
1. Election of New Board Member 
2. Approval of 2011 Graduates 
3. Approval of Regular Education Bus Services for 2011-2012 
4. Approval of Rule 5480.1 – Pupil Services – Search and Seizure 
5. Approval of Rule 5490.1 – Pupil Services – Use of Alcohol and other Drug Screening and Testing Technology 
6. Approval of Rule 6031.1 – Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment – School Day for Students  
7. Approval of Rule 6315.1 – Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment – Millard Education Program: Use of Assessment 

Data  
8. Approval of Utility Easement at Ezra Millard Elementary 
9. Approval of Liability Insurance Self-Insured Retention Program 
10. Approval of PreK-12 Science Framework: Part I PreK-8 
11. Approval of PreK-5 Science Field Study 
12. Approval of Personnel Actions:  Amendment to Continuing Contract(s), Leave(s) of Absence, Resignation(s), New 

Hire(s) 
13. Oath of Office for New Board Member 
14. Negotiation (Executive Session) 
15. Personnel Matter (Executive Session) 

 
I. Reports 

1. ELO Senior Status Report 

2



 

 

Agenda 
May 16, 2011 
Page 2 
 
 

2. Legislative Update 
3.    Bond Issue Survey Report 

 
J.   Future Agenda Items/Board Calendar.   

1. 2011 Graduation on Saturday, May 28, 2011 at Civic Auditorium – Millard North at 10 a.m., Millard South at 1 p.m., 
and Millard West at 4 p.m. 

2. Board of Education Meeting on Monday, June 6, 2011 at 6:00 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 South 
147th Street 

3. Millard Public Schools Foundation Golf Tournament on Friday, June 10, 2011 at the Players Club 
4. Committee of the Whole Meeting on Monday, June 13, 2011 at 6:00 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 

South 147th Street 
5. Board of Education Meeting on Monday, June 20, 2010, 2011 at 6:00 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 

South 147th Street 
6. Board of Education Meeting on Monday, July 11, 2010, 2011 at 6:00 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 

South 147th Street 
7. Board of Education Meeting on Monday, August 1, 2011 at 6:30 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 

South 147th Street 
8. Committee of the Whole Meeting on Monday, August 8, 2011 at 6:30 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 

South 147th Street 
9. Board of Education Meeting on Monday, August 15, 2010, 2011 at 6:30 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 

5606 South 147th Street 
 

K. Public Comments - This is the proper time for public questions and comments on any topic.  Please make sure a request form is 
given to the Board President before the meeting begins. 

L.  Adjournment:   

All items indicated by an asterisk (*) will comprise the Consent Agenda and may be acted on in a single motion.  Items may be 
deleted from the Consent Agenda by request of any board member. 
 

3



BOARD OF EDUCATION 
MILLARD PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

OMAHA, NEBRASKA  
 
BOARD MEETING        STROH ADMINISTRATION CENTER 
5:15 P.M.                            5606 SOUTH 147TH STREET 
                                                                           MAY 16, 2011 
4:45 P.M. – PAYBAC Reception 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE MEMORANDUM 
A. Call to Order 
 
 The Public Meeting Act is posted on the Wall and Available for Public Inspection 
 
B. Pledge of Allegiance 
 
C. Roll Call 
 
D. Public Comments on agenda items - This is the proper time for public questions and comments on agenda items only.  Please 
make sure a request form is given to the Board President prior to the meeting. 
 
*E.1. Motion by                     , seconded by, ______________, to approve the Board of Education Minutes – May 2, 2011.  (See 

enclosure.) 
 
*E.2. Motion by                     , seconded by                     , to approve the bills.  (See enclosures.) 
 
*E.3.  Motion by                     , seconded by                     , to receive the Treasurer’s Report and Place on File.  (See enclosure.) 
 
E.4.  Summary of Committee of the Whole Meeting – May 9, 2011 
 
F.1.  Showcase:  PAYBAC Awards 
 
F.2.  Superintendent’s Comments  
 
F.3.  Board Comments/Announcements 
 
F.4.  Report from Student Representative and Presentation of Plaques to Students 

 
G.1.  Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, to approve Policy 3122 – Support Services – Business – 

Procurement Cards (See enclosure.) 
 
G.2.  Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, to approve Policy 5410 – Pupil Services – Substance Use 

(See enclosure.) 
 
G.3.  Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, to approve Policy 5480 – Pupil Services – Search and 

Seizure (See enclosure.) 
 
G.4.  Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, to approve Policy 5490 – Pupil Services – Use of Alcohol 

and other Drug Screening and Testing Technology (See enclosure.) 
 
H.1. Election of New Board Member  
 
H.2.  Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, to approve 2011 Graduates from Millard North, Millard 

South and Millard West (See enclosures) 
 
H.3.  Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, that regular education bus services be approved as 

submitted in the “2011-12 Elementary Transportation Areas” document and, further, that the price of middle school “bus 
tickets” be increased to $1.50 per trip for the 2011-12 school year (See enclosure.) 

 
H.4. Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, to approve Rule 5480.1 – Pupil Services – Search and 

Seizure (See enclosure.) 
 

4



 
Administrative Memorandum 
May 16, 2011 
Page 2 
 
 
H.5. Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, to approve Rule 5490.1 – Pupil Services – Use of Alcohol 

and other Drug Screening and Testing Technology (See enclosure.) 
 
H.6. Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, that 1) the proposed revisions to Rule 6031.1 be approved 

as submitted, and 2) that the proposed instructional time parameters to the school day as contained herein for 2011-2012 be 
approved (See enclosure.) 

 
H.7. Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, to approve Rule 6315.1 – Curriculum, Instruction, and 

Assessment – Millard Education Program – Use of Assessment Data 
 
H.8. Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, to approve the Permanent Easement for MUD to install a 

water main near 144th and Blondo Streets be approved as submitted  (See enclosure.) 
 
H.9. Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, that the District commence a self-insured retention 

program for its liability coverage beginning June 1, 2011 as submitted (See enclosure.) 
 
H.10. Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, to approve PreK-12 Science Framework: Part I (See 

enclosure.) 
 
H.11. Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, to approve PreK-5 Science Field Study (See enclosure.) 
 
H.12. Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, to approve Personnel Actions:  Amendment to Continuing 

Contract(s), Leave(s) of Absence, Resignation(s), New Hire(s) (See enclosure.) 
 
H.13. Oath of Office for New Board Member 
 
H.14. Negotiation (Executive Session) 
 
H.15 Personnel Matter (Executive Session) 
 
I.  Reports: 

1. ELO Seniors’ Status Report 
2. Legislative Update 
3. Bond Issue Survey Report 

 
J.  Future Agenda Items/Board Calendar 

1. 2011 Graduation on Saturday, May 28, 2011 at Civic Auditorium – Millard North at 10 a.m., Millard South at 1 p.m., 
and Millard West at 4 p.m. 

2. Board of Education Meeting on Monday, June 6, 2011 at 6:00 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 South 
147th Street 

3. Millard Public Schools Foundation Golf Tournament on Friday, June 10, 2011 at the Players Club 
4. Committee of the Whole Meeting on Monday, June 13, 2011 at 6:00 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 

South 147th Street 
5. Board of Education Meeting on Monday, June 20, 2010, 2011 at 6:00 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 

South 147th Street 
6. Board of Education Meeting on Monday, July 11, 2010, 2011 at 6:00 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 

South 147th Street 
7. Board of Education Meeting on Monday, August 1, 2011 at 6:30 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 

South 147th Street 
8. Committee of the Whole Meeting on Monday, August 8, 2011 at 6:30 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 

South 147th Street 
9. Board of Education Meeting on Monday, August 15, 2010, 2011 at 6:30 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 

5606 South 147th Street 
 

K. Public Comments - This is the proper time for public questions and comments on any topic.  Please make sure a request form is 
given to the Board President before the meeting begins. 

5



 
L.  Adjournment 
 ll items indicated by an asterisk (*) will comprise the Consent Agenda and may be acted on in a single motion.  Items may 

be deleted from the Consent Agenda by request of any board member. 

6



MILLARD PUBLIC SCHOOLS 
SCHOOL DISTRICT NO 17 

 
A meeting was held of the Board of Education of the School District No. 17, in the County of Douglas in the State of 
Nebraska.  The meeting was convened in open and public session at 6:30 p.m., Monday, May 2, 2011, at the Don Stroh 
Administration Center, 5606 South 147th Street.   
 

Present: Dave Anderson, Mike Pate, Linda Poole, Mike Kennedy, and Patrick Ricketts  
 

Notice of this meeting was given in advance thereof by publication in the Daily Record on Friday, April 29, 2011; a copy 
of the publication is being attached to these minutes.  Notice of this meeting was given to all members of the Board of 
Education and a copy of their Acknowledgment of Receipt of Notice and the agenda are attached to these minutes.  
Availability of the agenda was communicated in advance notice and in the notice of the Board of Education of this 
meeting.  All proceedings hereafter shown were taken while the convened meeting was open to the attendance of the 
public. 
 
At 6:30 p.m. Dave Anderson called the meeting to order and announced the public meeting Act is posted on the wall and 
available for public inspection.  Mr. Anderson asked everyone to say the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Roll call was taken and all members were present. 
 
Public Comments – Four community members encouraged the board not to add additional time to the school day. 
 
Motion by Mike Kennedy seconded by Linda Poole, to approve the Board of Education Minutes from April 18, 2011, to 
approve the bills, and receive the treasurer’s report and place on file, upon roll call vote, all members voted aye.  Motion 
carried. 
 
Employees of the Month were Charlene Paschall, paraprofessional at Upchurch Elementary and Toni Caragiulo, 
kindergarten teacher at Cottonwood Elementary. 
 
Showcase highlighted students in Forensics, World Language (French, German. Latin, and Spanish), Culinary Arts, 
Debate, and Health Occupations Students of America 

 
Board Comments: 
 
Mike Pate attended the Learning Community Board meeting.  He indicated it was a short meeting with nothing new to 
report.  He said he still has not received answers to his questions from the February meeting.  Mr. Stilwill, Chief 
Operating Officer, did tell Mr. Pate he will get the answers to his questions. 
 
Linda Poole reported that she was a judge at the middle school culinary contest and they all did a marvelous job.   She 
thanked Sodexo for sponsoring the event. 
 
Mrs. Poole visited Millard West to see how they could handled students during lunch and how it would impact them if 
there was closed campus.  She said they will probably need budgetary help from the board. 
 
Mrs. Poole said she was notified that there will be a meeting next Wednesday of the Governor’s Technical Advisory 
Committee and she was going to forward the documents to Mark Feldhausen, so that if he had any questions or concerns 
he would be able to let Mrs. Poole know and then she would take them to the meeting. 
 
Patrick Ricketts thanked Sodexo for sponsoring the culinary contest for the middle school students. 
 
Mr. Ricketts said he attended the MEA dinner and congratulated all of the retirees. 
 
Mr. Ricketts thanked all of the board candidates for their interest in the open position on the Board. 
 
 

7



Board of Education Minutes 
May 2, 2011 
Page 2 
 
 
Dave Anderson also was a judge at the middle school culinary contest, and he said the kids did a phenomenal job in their 
preparation of the food. 
 
Alison Brokke, student representative from Millard West and Jeff Story, student representative from Millard North 
reported on their schools academic and athletic activities during the last two weeks. 
 
The board reduced the board candidates to five, and they are:  Todd Clarke, Scott Gray, Thomas Marble, Paul Meyer, and 
James Ritter.  These individuals will be interviewed on May 9, 2011 for the open board position. 
 
Linda Poole provided the first reading of Policy 3122 – support Services – Business – Procurement Card.  This policy will 
be on the next board agenda for approval. 
 
Motion by Linda Poole, seconded by Patrick Ricketts, to approve Rule 3811.1 – Support Services – Transportation – 
Students – Regular Education, upon roll call vote, all members voted aye.  Motion carried.   
 
Mike Kennedy provided the first reading of Policy 5410 – Pupil Services – Substance Use.  This policy will be on the next 
board agenda for approval. 
 
Patrick Ricketts provided the first reading of Policy 5480 – Pupil Services – Search and Seizure.  This policy will be on 
the next board agenda for approval. 
 
Mike Pate provided the first reading of Policy 5490 – Pupil Services – Use of Alcohol and other Drug Testing 
Technology.  This policy will be on the next board agenda for approval. 
 
Motion by Mike Pate, seconded by Patrick Ricketts, to approve Administrator for Hire:  Jeffrey Kerns, Assistant Principal 
at Andersen Middle School, upon roll call vote, all members voted aye.  Motion carried. 
 
Motion by Linda Poole, seconded by Patrick Ricketts, to approve Personnel Actions:  Resignations: LeAnna R. Brown, 
John T. Carroll, Terri S. Carter, Joslyn J. Darling, James D. Kahm, Alicia Rodick, Stephanie M. Schade, and Matthew S. 
Shrader; New Hires:  Meghan M. Gibilisco, Kristin R. Greenwald, Raymond A. LeBlanc, Crystal M. Moody, Ashley L. 
Romshek, Megan K. Septak, Jennifer L. Smith, Trevor Wenger, and Susan A. Wilde, upon roll call vote, all members 
voted aye.  Motion carried. 
 
Dave Anderson delayed negotiation to the end of the meeting for Executive Session. 
 
Reports included:  Enrollment Report, Legislative Update, and an Instructional Hours Report, 
 
Future Agenda Items/Board Calendar:  The 2011 Graduation will be held on Saturday, May 28, 2011 at Civic Auditorium 
– Millard North at 10 a.m., Millard South at 1 p.m., and Millard West at 4 p.m.  A Board of Education Meeting will be 
held on Monday, June 6, 2011 at 6:00 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 South 147th Street.  A 
Committee of the Whole Meeting will be held on Monday, June 13, 2011 at 6:00 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration 
Center, 5606 South 147th Street.  A Board of Education Meeting will be held on Monday, June 20, 2010, 2011 at 6:00 
p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 South 147th Street.  A Board of Education Meeting will be held on 
Monday, July 11, 2010, 2011 at 6:00 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 South 147th Street. 
 
Dave Anderson said the board would go into Executive Session for the purpose of negotiation. 
 
At 8:50 p.m. Linda Poole made a motion, seconded by Mike Pate, to go into Executive Session for the purpose of 
negotiation, upon roll call vote, all members voted aye.  Motion carried. 
 
Dave Anderson said the board will go into Executive Session for the purpose of negotiation. 

8





 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Millard Public Schools 
May 16, 2011 

 

10



Millard Public Schools
Check Register

Prepared for the Board Meeting of  May 16, 2011

Date: 5/11/2011

Check No Vend No Vendor Name Amount
ANDERSEN MIDDLE SCHOOL065425323606 130.50 
CORVUS INDUSTRIES LTD015805323607 1,425.00 
COLLEGE BOARD/NYO107482323609 300.00 
DJONT/CMB OR SOUTH LEASING LLC138631323612 693.00 
TAMARIN LODGING LLC138633323613 358.76 
HY-VEE INC133397323614 2,289.24 
HY-VEE INC132878323615 350.14 
INTERNATIONAL BACCALAUREATE102451323616 845.00 
KIEWIT MIDDLE SCHOOL134284323617 150.00 
NE DEPT OF HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES131412323618 200.00 
NORTHWESTERN UNIVERSITY137434323621 1,250.00 
PERSONAL PERCEPTIONS NORTHWEST LLC138634323623 1,800.00 
RESORT INNS OF AMERICA INC136727323626 567.84 
AMERICAN EXPRESS011651323648 8,472.61 
BORDEN CONSULTING CORPORATION133647323650 440.00 
IB-ARMS134048323655 775.00 
INTERWORKS INC138629323656 7,200.00 
NEBRASKA WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT068801323658 17,793.12 
SAM'S CLUB DIRECT081630323665 100.00 
KIMBERLEY K SAUM-MILLS081725323666 187.40 
TEXAS INTERNATIONAL BACCALAUREATE134604323668 1,500.00 
UNIVERSITY OF NEBRASKA AT OMAHA068840323671 200.00 
ATS MOBILE TELEPHONE CO INC010083323673 75.69 
RAYMOND J SAVARD136956323674 3,000.00 
NICOLE BERRYMAN135806323676 359.28 
NANCY A BROSAMLE136986323679 195.50 
ALLISON M BROWN138640323680 209.04 
JONATHAN C BUSCHER137179323681 159.04 
RYAN P BUTLER138641323682 299.04 
JANET S BUTLER020800323683 350.66 
DIAN  H CARLSON138642323685 7.81 
CCS PRESENTATION SYSTEMS133970323687 10,700.00 
DALE CLAUSEN025235323689 13.83 
COX COMMUNICATIONS INC108436323692 198.28 
MONICA M COX133002323693 390.06 
PATRICIA A CRUM109021323694 326.00 
CULLIGAN WATER CONDITIONING106893323695 57.72 
WILLIAM DAUGHTRIDGE136517323696 20.34 
DEEP ROCK WATER130339323697 43.80 
DAVID M DIEHL135133323698 755.60 
FEDERAL EXPRESS040450323701 429.67 
FIRST NATIONAL BANK TRUST DEPT040902323702 700.00 
TAMMY GEBHART106894323703 168.15 
DAVID L. GERARD130343323704 500.00 
JUAN R GONZALEZ-OLEA138644323705 40.00 
MICHAEL G GUNTER135574323708 209.04 

11



Millard Public Schools
Check Register

Prepared for the Board Meeting of  May 16, 2011

Date: 5/11/2011

Check No Vend No Vendor Name Amount
HARRY A KOCH COMPANY056820323709 1,831.00 
GREENWOOD PUBLISHING GROUP INC048517323710 467.50 
VICTORIA L HOSKOVEC136336323712 447.53 
CHRISTOPHER M HUGHES108153323713 22.68 
HY-VEE INC133397323714 636.52 
HY-VEE INC049851323715 1,174.45 
HY-VEE INC049850323716 196.75 
SCOTT  H INGWERSON136349323717 511.96 
JULIE C JOHNSON138646323718 54.00 
LISA A JOHNSON138647323719 75.00 
JANET L LARSON136518323722 58.07 
KRAIG J LOFQUIST133758323723 12.86 
ALAN T LUNZMAN135395323724 183.04 
JANIS R MULLINS066490323725 337.50 
NEBRASKA SCIENTIFIC068684323726 211.10 
NEXTEL PARTNERS INC109843323727 834.28 
AMY NUNAMAKER134628323728 337.50 
MAUREEN P ORD132779323729 75.00 
PAPIO TRANSPORT SCHOOL SERVICE INC138288323733 16,361.00 
MIKE PATE071753323734 1,552.18 
PATRICK RICKETTS138651323736 106.12 
AMBER E RIPA137470323737 729.22 
JAMIE L ROBINSON138650323738 309.61 
JOHN W ROSE137873323739 71.50 
ERIN SALTON137209323741 21.91 
PEGGY A SCHLIEKER138568323742 400.00 
MARYLINN R SMITH136697323743 387.50 
MARK THOLEN137472323747 126.00 
JEAN R UBBELOHDE131819323748 128.39 
UNITED PARCEL SERVICE090242323749 560.77 
BARBARA N WALLER093008323753 44.88 
TAMARA J WILLIAMS136322323754 2,268.22 
ROBERT J YAKUS130371323755 50.34 
YOUNG & WHITE096200323756 29,853.52 

126,674.06 Total for GENERAL FUND
NOVA RDH INC13760923036 2,087.28 
BUSCO INC13340623037 3,058.00 
SARAH J BANIK13788923038 104.25 
DAMON BARBER13833123039 62.55 
KATHERINE L BOYLE13505723040 45.65 
JAYCE BUSCH13813723041 41.70 
MARKAIL CHANNEL13827023042 93.83 
MADELEINE R COLBERT13716023043 20.85 
CULLIGAN WATER CONDITIONING10689323044 19.23 
ERIC A DALHOFF13857323045 52.13 
RAFAEL DIAZ13699923046 72.98 

12



Millard Public Schools
Check Register

Prepared for the Board Meeting of  May 16, 2011

Date: 5/11/2011

Check No Vend No Vendor Name Amount
JASON FIGGINS13803923047 41.70 
JUSTIN FIGGINS13804023048 31.28 
MARLEY J FLEMING13700023049 95.56 
ENCORE ONE LLC13598323050 51.68 
GOODWIN TUCKER GROUP01067023051 4,011.72 
DREW A GRANDGENETT13846623052 41.70 
LAUREN N GRIEB13857423053 31.28 
ANDERS J HANSON13840323054 6.95 
DEBRA J HOPKINSON13606523055 7.36 
NIKEE Z JAMES13827123056 135.53 
TAYLOR M KIM13716223057 6.95 
MICHAEL KRMPOTIC13737623058 62.55 
ROWAN W LANG10222923059 129.32 
ZAKARY R LINES13833423060 27.80 
AVERY K LOVGREN13772923061 34.75 
ANDREW E LUCAS JR13725123062 41.70 
TAYLOR J MARSHALL13657023063 90.35 
MILLARD PUBLIC SCHOOL CLEARING ACCT13627923064 305.95 
CASSANDRA M MUNSON13827223065 104.25 
SOPHIA O NICHOLS13778623066 34.75 
CONNIE J NOVACEK13159423067 3.69 
EDRIE K PEARCE10244523068 408.51 
RAY MARTIN COMPANY13236923069 2,872.00 
DEB RINGER13090323070 31.83 
SAMSON SANDERS13808323071 20.85 
QUINTON G SCALETTA13767123072 31.28 
TREY A SCHULTZ13700223073 31.28 
KAITLYN C SNODDY13636723074 62.55 
MARISOL SORIANO13849123075 114.68 
RYAN E SPITZER13793323076 52.13 
JUDE H SUDBECK13715823077 96.35 
CORNELIA A SULLIVAN09982423078 5.19 
ZEFFREY A TRUSLER13840223079 34.75 
AUTO LUBE INC13804623080 41.72 
CARLY J WHITE13767223081 41.70 
AUSTIN K WILSON13700323082 31.28 

14,831.37 Total for FOOD SERVICE 
FUND

TERENCE G CABRAL138539323608 775.00 
HY-VEE INC132878323615 63.47 
NEBRASKA HUMANITIES COUNCIL108180323619 75.00 
BRIAN L NELSON107732323620 206.25 
TIMOTHY J OWENS138175323622 300.00 
TODD L REESON138504323624 206.25 
DENISE M RIEDER138538323625 150.00 
DAWN C TURNBULL138632323627 50.00 
UNIVERSITY OF NEBRASKA-LINCOLN068834323628 50.00 

13



Millard Public Schools
Check Register

Prepared for the Board Meeting of  May 16, 2011

Date: 5/11/2011

Check No Vend No Vendor Name Amount
STEPHEN W. VENTEICHER107354323629 750.00 
RUDOLPH A VLCEK III135863323630 250.00 
JUSTIN L WILLIAMSON138537323631 300.00 
ELIZABETH A ANDREASEN134167323649 490.22 
TERENCE G CABRAL138539323651 1,250.00 
DANIEL P CONWAY138547323652 300.00 
ANGELA M DIEHM133261323653 150.00 
HONEYMAN RENT ALL049320323654 32.70 
JEWISH FEDERATION OF OMAHA INC134875323657 464.00 
BRIAN L NELSON107732323659 500.00 
TIMOTHY J OWENS138175323660 150.00 
PERU STATE COLLEGE108428323661 712.50 
LINDSAY M PETERSON138635323662 870.73 
DENISE M RIEDER138538323664 150.00 
AMY A SCHROER135542323667 292.50 
THAT POTTERY PLACE INC136446323669 150.00 
UNIVERSITY OF NEBRASKA AT OMAHA068840323670 1,337.22 
STEPHEN W. VENTEICHER107354323672 450.00 
JULIE A BARTHOLOMEW133353323675 798.07 
DENISE CANIGLIA138032323684 107.22 
ELIZABETH A CHADEK136807323688 2.65 
CONCORDIA UNIVERSITY106184323690 870.73 
DEBRA J CONYERS130368323691 870.73 
KATHLEEN M GUINAN135930323707 76.70 
GREENWOOD PUBLISHING GROUP INC048517323710 24,489.00 
LAURA K HENDRICKSON138645323711 50.91 
ANNE E JOHNSON134850323720 468.00 
LYN E PAHLS133964323730 42.72 
BARBARA L ROTHENBERG130747323740 28.79 
UNIVERSITY OF NEBRASKA KEARNEY068839323750 584.00 
UNIVERSITY OF NEBRASKA AT OMAHA068840323751 490.22 
CAROL B VANDE KERKHOFF136919323752 490.22 

39,845.80 Total for GRANT FUND
PRODUCTIVITY INC138487323663 6,200.20 
DOSTALS CONSTRUCTION CO INC130648323699 1,975.00 
TAB HOLDING CO INC134170323745 50.00 

8,225.20 Total for DEPRECIATION 
FUND

DARREL DRAPER107948323610 250.00 
DARREL DRAPER107948323611 250.00 
ROBERT ALLEN BETZOLD138638323677 252.00 
VANDA BOTALETTO138639323678 90.00 
ALEXANDER CASIMIRO138643323686 63.00 
ROBERT W DUNNE134591323700 140.00 
WAYNE GRUDLE130309323706 100.00 
RICK W JONES138648323721 252.00 

14



Millard Public Schools
Check Register

Prepared for the Board Meeting of  May 16, 2011

Date: 5/11/2011

Check No Vend No Vendor Name Amount
JERRY REA130904323735 84.00 
CORNELIA A SULLIVAN099824323744 60.00 
CARRIE THELEN138649323746 198.00 

1,739.00 Total for ACTIVITY FUND

191,315.43 Report Total               

15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



5/10/2011 5/16/2011 5/16/2011

Lot Quantity

1 20

2 1

3 2

4 4

5 1

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

drill press

floor burnishers

electrical testing meters

lot of 5 TV's

Millard Public Schools - Planned Disposition of Surplus Property 

BOE Packet Due Date: BOE Meeting Date: Sale or Disposals Scheduled After:

Description

laptop computers

73





AGENDA  SUMMARY  SHEET 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM: Policy 3122 – Support Services – Business – Procurement Cards 
 
MEETING DATE: May 2, 2011 and May 16, 2011 
 
DEPARTMENT: General Administration 
 
TITLE & BRIEF 
DESCRIPTION: Policy 3122 – Support Services –Business – Procurement Cards:  The approval of 

a policy authorizing the use of procurement cards in the District. 
 
ACTION DESIRED: Approval      x        Discussion             Information Only                                      .       
 
BACKGROUND: Outside consultants were recently engaged to conduct a study of the District’s 

purchasing processes and procedures.  One of the recommendations made by the 
consultants was that the District use procurement cards to reduce the cost of 
processing payments for small transactions and to facilitate purchases where 
traditional purchase orders are not accepted. 

 
 Proposed Policy 3122 authorizes the use of procurement cards in the District with 

the issuance and use of such cards subject to procedures promulgated by the 
superintendent (or designee). 

 
 The procurement card procedures have been drafted and are attached for your 

review.  You will also note that training is required for all cardholders.  Each card 
holder must receive a perfect score on the assessment contained in the training 
before he/she is issued a card. 

  
OPTIONS AND 
ALTERNATIVES: n/a 
 
RECOMMENDATION: It is recommended that (after second reading) Policy 3122 – Support Services – 

Business – Procurement Cards be approved as submitted. 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN 
REFERENCE: n/a 
 
IMPLICATIONS OF 
ADOPTION/REJECTION: n/a 
 
TIMELINE: Immediate 
 
RESPONSIBLE PERSON: Ken Fossen, Associate Superintendent (General Administration) 
 
SUPERINTENDENT’S 
APPROVAL: __________________________ 

75

sphelps
Kieths Stamp



Support Services – Business 
 
Procurement Cards  3122 
 
 
Procurement cards may be used for purchases made on behalf of the District.  The issuance and 
use of such procurement cards shall be subject to the procedures promulgated by the 
superintendent (or designee). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Policy Adopted:  May 16, 2011  Millard Public Schools 
 Omaha NE 
 
 

76



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
 

AGENDA ITEM:     Policy 5410 
 
MEETING DATE:     May 16, 2010 
 
DEPARTMENT:     Pupil Services  
 
TITLE AND BRIEF DESCRIPTION:       Substance Use 
 
 
ACTION DESIRED:    Approval 
 
BACKGROUND:  Changes to Policy 5490 and rule 5490.1 created 

minor adjustments to this policy which also 
addresses substance abuse. Specifically, trained 
administrators may use alcohol/drug detection 
technology to screen students prior to them 
entering/exiting school related functions. 

 
 
OPTIONAL/ALTERNATIVE 
CONSIDERATIONS:    N/A 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS:    Approval 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  N/A 
 
IMPLICATIONS OF ADOPTION 
OR REJECTION:  Approving the updated policy will help preclude 

alcohol/drug related infractions. 
 
TIMELINE:      August 10, 2011 
 
PERSONS RESPONSIBLE:   Dr. Kraig J. Lofquist, Director of Pupil Services 
 
EXECUTIVE  
DIRECTOR, HUMAN RESOURCES:      Dr. Jim Sutfin 
 
SUPERINTENDENT APPROVAL:  _________________________________ 

77

sphelps
Kieths Stamp



Pupil Services 
 
Substance Use 5410 
 
 
In order to ensure the highest possible standards of learning as well as the safety, health, and well-being of students, 
the District endorses a substance abuse policy which will aid students to abstain from the use of illegal drugs, 
intervene early when student use is detected, take corrective disciplinary action when necessary, and provide 
aftercare support for students. 
 
As used in this Policy "drugs” shall include tobacco, alcohol, controlled substances as defined by state law, other 
mood or behavior-affecting substances which are not taken for medical purposes, and “look-alike” drugs. 
 
I. PREVENTION 
 

The District will adopt an age appropriate developmentally based drug, tobacco and alcohol education and 
prevention program, which includes in its scope the legal, social, and health consequences of drug, tobacco 
and alcohol use and provides information and techniques for the resistance of peer pressure for use of illicit 
drugs, tobacco or alcohol.  The program shall be for all students in all grades of the schools operated and 
served by the District from the early childhood level through grade twelve (12). 

 
The District will provide students with information and activities focused on preventing students from 
using drugs.  Prevention activities will be centered around the instructional program, guidance and 
counseling, school climate, and family and community involvement. 

 
II. INTERVENTION 
 

The District shall make available to students, information about any drug, tobacco or alcohol counseling, or 
rehabilitation, or re-entry programs available to students. 

 
The District shall establish and maintain an assistance program, through a team approach, to aid students 
who are chemically involved to successfully address their harmful involvement with chemicals and to 
continue in a school program. 

 
III. DISCIPLINE 
 

The District shall notify all students that the use of illicit drugs and the unlawful possession and use of 
tobacco and alcohol are wrong and harmful. 

 
The rules established by the District shall clearly prohibit the unlawful possession and use or distribution of 
illicit drugs, tobacco and alcohol by students on school premises or as a part of any District activities and it 
shall be applicable to students in all of the schools in the District. 

 
The District shall adopt disciplinary sanctions consistent with local, state and federal laws up to and 
including expulsion and referral for prosecution of students who violate the District’s Standards of  
Student Conduct and a description of sanctions as described by the rules of the District including sanctions 
which require the completion of an appropriate rehabilitation program. 

 
Students have the right to attend school in an environment free of drugs.  Possession or use of tobacco, or 
possession, distribution or use of mood or behavior-affecting substances, alcohol, "look-a-likes” or drug 
paraphernalia, are prohibited on school grounds and at school-sponsored or school-related activities.   

 
The consequences for possession, distribution, or use of drugs, abusive chemicals, mood altering drugs, 
unauthorized medication, or possession of drug-related paraphernalia will result in disciplinary action. 

78



It is the policy of the District to take positive action through education, counseling, parental involvement, 
medical referral, and police referral where appropriate in the handling of incidents in the schools involving 
mood or behavior-affecting substances or alcohol. 

 
School property and student property may be searched by school authorities in the interest of the 
maintenance of the health and safety of students and staff, the educational process, and to further school 
purposes. 

 
Students may be subjected to alcohol and other drug screening and testing technology pursuant to District 
Policy 5490 and Rule 5490.1. 

 
IV. TREATMENT 
 

The District will work cooperatively with community treatment personnel to facilitate the educational 
program of students in treatment. 

 
V. COOPERATION PROGRAMS 
 

The District will work cooperatively with the students, parents, guardians and community treatment 
personnel, to support aftercare and post-treatment plans for students returning from treatment. 

 
VI. NOTICES 
 

The District shall provide, distribute and shall give to all students, parents and guardians a copy of the 
Standards of Student Conduct and the statement of disciplinary sanctions enacted pursuant to this Policy 
and shall notify parents, guardians and students that compliance with the Standards of Student Conduct are 
mandatory for all the students in the District. 

 
Related Policies and Rules:  5410.1, 5480, 5480.1, 5490, 5490.1 
 
 
Legal Reference:  Neb. Rev. Stat. § 79-254 et seq. 

 Neb. Rev. Stat. § 79-265 
  Neb. Rev. Stat. § 79-267 (6) 
  Neb. Rev. Stat. § 79-293 
 
 
Policy Approved: July 16, 1990 Millard Public Schools 
Revised:  July 6, 1998; September 25, 2000, May 16, 2011 Omaha, Nebraska 
Reaffirmed:  April 19, 2010 

79



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
 

AGENDA ITEM:     Policy 5480 and Rule 5480.1 
 
MEETING DATE:     May 16, 2011 
 
DEPARTMENT:     Pupil Services  
 
TITLE AND BRIEF DESCRIPTION:       Search and Seizure 
 
 
ACTION DESIRED:    Approval 
 
BACKGROUND:  Changes to Policy 5490 and Rule 5490.1 created 

necessary changes to our “search and seizure” 
policy and rule. Specifically, trained administrators 
may use alcohol/drug detection technology to 
screen students prior to them entering/exiting school 
related functions. 

 
OPTIONAL/ALTERNATIVE 
CONSIDERATIONS:    N/A 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS:    Approval 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  N/A 
 
IMPLICATIONS OF ADOPTION 
OR REJECTION:  Approving the updated policy and rule will help 

preclude alcohol/drug related infractions. 
 
TIMELINE:      August 10, 2011 
 
PERSONS RESPONSIBLE:   Dr. Kraig J. Lofquist, Director of Pupil Services 
 
EXECUTIVE  
DIRECTOR, HUMAN RESOURCES:      Dr. Jim Sutfin 
 
SUPERINTENDENT APPROVAL:  _________________________________ 

80

sphelps
Kieths Stamp



Pupil Services  
 

Search and Seizure          5480 
 
 
Certificated staff members are permitted to search students or students' possessions whenever there is a reasonable 
suspicion that the student has in the student's possession illegal, dangerous or any other object the possession of 
which is contrary to District Ppolicy, governing law, or when necessary for the welfare and well-being of students, 
the protection of District property, or the administration of District Ppolicy. 
 
School lockers are the exclusive property of the District and may be opened or searched by certificated staff 
members without notice and without student consent.  
 
Certificated staff members may seize and take custody of any objects or substances found during a search whenever 
such objects or substances are dangerous, contrary to law or school policy, or which may threaten the welfare of 
students, school personnel, or District property.  
 
Students may be subjected to alcohol and other drug screening and testing technology pursuant to District Policy 
5490 and Rule 5490.1. 
 
The refusal of a student to consent or submit to a reasonable search and/or to surrender objects or substances found 
as a result of such search may be grounds for discipline. 
 
Policy Approved: July 5, 1988     Millard Public Schools 
Revised: July 5, 1994; October 16, 2000; May 16, 2011  Omaha, NE 
Reaffirmed:  December 20, 2010   

81



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
 

AGENDA ITEM:     Policy 5490 & Rule 5490.1 
 
MEETING DATE:     May 16, 2011 
 
DEPARTMENT:     Pupil Services  
 
TITLE AND BRIEF DESCRIPTION:       Use of Alcohol and other Drug Screening and  
                                                                        Testing Technology 
 
ACTION DESIRED:    Approval 
 
BACKGROUND:  The proposed changes would allow trained 

administrators to screen students for alcohol use 
prior to entering or leaving a school related 
function. In the past, the District has had students 
enter events under the influence which has created a 
disruption to such events. Using the updated 
technology will help continue to send a message 
that alcohol and other drug use will not be tolerated. 

 
OPTIONAL/ALTERNATIVE 
CONSIDERATIONS:    N/A 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS:    Approval 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  N/A 
 
IMPLICATIONS OF ADOPTION 
OR REJECTION:  Approving the updated policy and rule will help 

preclude alcohol/drug related infractions. 
 
TIMELINE:      August 10, 2011 
 
PERSONS RESPONSIBLE:   Dr. Kraig J. Lofquist, Director of Pupil Services 
 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR,  
HUMAN RESOURCES:         Dr. Jim Sutfin 
 
SUPERINTENDENT APPROVAL:  _________________________________ 

82

sphelps
Kieths Stamp



Pupil Services  
 
Use of Alcohol and other Drug Screening and Testing Technology 5490 
 
The District will provide students with the opportunity to obtain an education and participate in school sponsored 
events and activities in a safe, healthy, and orderly environment free of alcohol and other drugs.  Accordingly, the 
District may use alcohol and other drug screening and testing technology in order to ensure a safe environment at 
school and school sponsored events and activities.  
 
The District may use such screening and testing technology with students before they may enter or exit a school 
sponsored event or activity, or prior to leaving on a field trip or other off-campus event or activity sponsored by the 
school. 
 
When reasonable suspicion exists that a student has consumed or possesses alcohol or any other type of drug in 
violation of dDistrict policy, the student will be advised of the suspicion.  As part of the investigation, dDistrict 
personnel may conduct field tests using technology available to them for the determination of whether or not a 
student has consumed is under the influence of, or in possession of alcohol or other drugs. 
 
 
 
Related Policies and Rules:  5490.1 
 
Policy Approved: March 6, 1995 Millard Public Schools 
Revised:  August 19, 1996; October 16, 2000; September 2, 2008; May 16, 2011 Omaha, Nebraska 

83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



AGENDA  SUMMARY  SHEET 
 

AGENDA ITEM: Regular Education Bus Services for 2011-12 
 
MEETING DATE: May 16, 2011 
 
DEPARTMENT: General Administration 
 
TITLE & BRIEF 
DESCRIPTION: Bus Transportation for 2011-12 – The approval of the subdivision list for 

elementary transportation and the increase in the fee for middle school bus tickets. 
 
ACTION DESIRED: Approval     x         Discussion             Information Only                                      .       
 
BACKGROUND: When reviewing the board motions from the last meeting, it was discovered that 

we did not take action on two portions of the 2011-12 bus transportation proposal.  
The two portions that were not addressed by the board motion were: (1) the 
approval of the list of subdivisions qualifying for elementary regular education bus 
services and (2) the increasing of the price for middle school “bus tickets” from 
$1.25 per trip to $1.50 per trip. 

 
 Attached for your information are the following (which were also presented and 

discussed at the board meeting on May 2nd): 
 

1.  List of subdivisions that will receive elementary bus services in 2011-
12 under Rule 3811.1 as amended at the May 2nd board meeting 

2. A copy of Rule 3811.1 with the adopted amendments noted. 

3. A PowerPoint showing the 1-mile bus service radius for each 
elementary school. 

  
OPTIONS AND 
ALTERNATIVES: n/a 
 
RECOMMENDATION: It is recommended that regular education bus services be approved as submitted in 

the “2011-12 Elementary Transportation Areas” document and, further, that the 
price of middle school “bus tickets” be increased to $1.50 per trip for the 2011-12 
school year. 

 
STRATEGIC PLAN 
REFERENCE: n/a 
 
IMPLICATIONS OF 
ADOPTION/REJECTION: n/a 
 
TIMELINE: Start of the 20121-12 school year. 
 
RESPONSIBLE PERSON: Ken Fossen, Associate Superintendent (General Administration) 
 
SUPERINTENDENT’S 
APPROVAL: __________________________ 

101

sphelps
Kieths Stamp



School Subdivisions

Abbott None

Aldrich None

Ackerman None

Black Elk None

Bryan Meadowbrook Estates (Beyond 1 Mile)

Giles Ridge

Cather Oakbrook Meadows

Cody None

Cottonwood None

Disney None

Ezra None

Harvey Oaks Center Park/Raintree (Beyond 1 Mile)

Hitchcock None

Holling Heights None

Montclair Boys Town

Morton Armbrust Acres (Beyond 1 Mile)

Elshire Acres

The Reserve 

The North Reserve

Neihardt Rock Creek (Beyond 1 Mile)

Chalco Point (Beyond 1 Mile)

Norris Old Town Millard (Beyond 1 Mile)

The Meadows

Reagan West Bay Springs (Beyond 1 Mile)

Oakmont (Beyond 1 Mile)

Town Ranch Estates (Beyond 1 Mile)

Cattail Creek (Beyond 1 Mile)

Coyote Run (Beyond 1 Mile)

2011‐12 ELEMENTARY SCHOOL TRANSPORTATION AREAS

1 of 2

102



Reeder Harrison Park Replat #4 (Beyond 1 Mile)

Sunridge (Beyond 1 Mile)

Sunridge Replat #2 (Beyond 1 Mile)

Falcon Ridge/Village @ Falcon Ridge (Beyond 1 Mile)

Rolling Meadows and Replat

Coventry

Rural Douglas County

Cottonwood Creek

Rockwell None

Rohwer None

Sandoz Southridge

Millard Highlands South #1 (Beyond 1 Mile)

Upchurch None

Wheeler None

Willowdale None

2 of 2

103



Support Services – Transportation 
 
Students – Regular Education  3811.1 
 

I. The District shall provide the following student transportation services to students at the elementary school 
level: 

 
A. Any elementary students who live more than two miles from their assigned schools shall be 

provided free transportation services to such schools. There shall be no charge for such services. 
 

B. The board of education may, in its sole discretion, approve additional free transportation services 
for students who reside within two miles of their assigned school, however, there shall be no bus 
stops located within a one-mile radius of the main entrance of such elementary school.  Students 
residing within such one-mile radius may, if they so choose, walk to a regularly scheduled bus 
stop (beyond one mile) to board and ride such bus. 

  
C. The location and spacing of bus stops (consistent with the foregoing) shall be determined by the 

superintendent (or designee). 
  

D. In areas where there is no district-provided transportation service, parents may, at their expense, 
seek to contract for such services directly with the District’s contracted transportation service 
provider (or any other transportation provider). 

  
B. Any elementary student who lives in a subdivision that was assigned to a school other than its 

neighborhood school shall be provided transportation services to his/her assigned school 
provided that such services were approved by the Board of Education at the time of such 
reassignment. 

 
C. Any student who, in his/her walks to school, encounters at least three of the following five 

circumstances shall be provided transportation services at no charge: 
 

1. The student must cross a road with a speed limit of 45 mph or greater. 
 

2. The student must, due to lack of sidewalks, walk in a nonresidential street (or the 
unimproved area immediately adjacent thereto). 

 
3. The student must cross a four-lane (or more) state or federal highway or interstate 

highway. 
 

4. The student must cross one or more non-residential intersections that (a) do not have 
pedestrian crossing signs, markings, or signals, or (b) do not have sufficient visual 
range for safe pedestrian crossing. 

 
5. The student must traverse consistently high-volume roadways where temporary road 

conditions present limited walking space. 
 

II. The District shall provide the following student transportation services to students at the Middle School 
level: 

 
A. The District shall arrange transportation services for all middle school students who live more 

than two miles from their assigned schools. There shall be a charge for such transportation. The 
charge for such services shall be determined annually by the District. The charge may (but need 
not be) sufficient to recover the full cost for such services. 

 
B. No transportation services shall be arranged by the District for students living within two miles 

of their assigned schools, however, the parents of such student may, at their expense, seek to 
contract for such services with the District’s contracted transportation service provider (or any 
other transportation provider). 

104



 
C. Any middle school student who lives in a subdivision that was reassigned to another middle 

school further from the subdivision than its original school shall be provided transportation 
services to his/her assigned school provided that such services were approved by the Board of 
Education at the time of such reassignment 

 
III. The District shall provide the following student transportation services to students at the high school level: 

 
A. The District shall provide transportation services free of charge to any student who lives more 

than four miles from his/her assigned school. However, the District may, at its sole discretion, 
elect to provide mileage reimbursement to any or all such qualifying students in lieu of 
transportation. The mileage reimbursement rate for such shall be as prescribed by state law. 

 
B. B. No transportation services shall be provided by the District for students living within four 

miles of their assigned high schools, however, the parents of such students may, at their expense, 
seek to contract for such services with the District’s contracted transportation service provider 
(or any other transportation provider). 

 
IV. Unless otherwise required by law, the District shall not provide transportation services to in-district transfer 

students (i.e., those students who, at their request, are permitted to attend a school other than the school to 
which they would have been assigned based upon the location of their residence). 

 
Related Policies & Rules: 3811 
 
Policy Adopted: April 23, 2007  Millard Public Schools 
Revised:  May 2, 2011 Omaha NE 

 
 

105



Abbott Elementary  1.0 Mile Radius Scenario
No Transportation currently provided

1.0 mile 
radius

106



Ackerman Elementary  1.0 Mile Radius Scenario
No Transportation currently provided

1.0 mile 
radius

107



Aldrich Elementary  1.0 Mile Radius Scenario
Currently 1 Bus (South of Dodge St), all students within the 1 mile radius (-1 Bus 2011-12)

1.0 mile 
radius

2010 Non-Transported

2010  Transported

108



Black Elk Elementary  1.0 Mile Radius Scenario
No Transportation currently provided

1.0 mile 
radius

109



Bryan Elementary  1.0 Mile Radius Scenario
Currently 1 Bus, All other students within 1 mile radius (No changes)

1.0 mile 
radius

2010 Non-Transported

2010  Transported

Soft Mile Buffer
Some “potential” 
students

110



Cather Elementary  1.0 Mile Radius Scenario
Currently 1 Bus, All other students within 1 mile radius  (No changes)

1.0 mile 
radius

2010 Non-Transported

2010  Transported

Soft Mile Buffer
Some “potential” 
students

111



Cody Elementary  1.0 Mile Radius Scenario
No Transportation currently provided

1.0 mile 
radius

112



Cottonwood Elementary  1.0 Mile Radius Scenario
No Transportation currently provided

1.0 mile 
radius

113



Disney Elementary  1.0 Mile Radius Scenario
No Transportation currently provided

1.0 mile 
radius

114



Ezra Millard Elementary  1.0 Mile Radius Scenario
No Transportation currently provided

1.0 mile 
radius

115



Harvey Oaks Elementary  1.0 Mile Radius Scenario
Currently one bus, still 10 students outside the hard mile radius ( no changes 2011-12)

1.0 mile 
radius

2010 Non-Transported

2010  Transported

116



Hitchcock Elementary  1.0 Mile Radius Scenario
No Transportation currently provided

1.0 mile 
radius

117



Holling Heights Elementary  1.0 Mile Radius Scenario
Currently 1 Bus, all students within the 1 mile radius (-1 Bus 2011-12)

1.0 mile 
radius

2010 Non-Transported

2010  Transported

118



Montclair  Elementary  1.0 Mile Radius Scenario
Currently 1 Bus, all students within the 1 mile radius (-1 Bus 2011-12)

1.0 mile 
radius

2010 Non-Transported

2010  Transported

Soft Mile Buffer
Some “potential” 
students

119



Morton Elementary  1.0 Mile Radius Scenario
Currently 1 Bus, (1 Bus 2011-12) No change

1.0 mile 
radius

2010 Non-Transported

2010  Transported

Soft Mile Buffer
Some “potential” 
students

120



Neihardt  Elementary  1.0 Mile Radius Scenario
Currently 1 Bus, (1 Bus 2011-12) No change

1.0 mile 
radius

2010 Non-Transported

2010  Transported

Soft Mile Buffer
Some “potential” 
students

121



Norris  Elementary  1.0 Mile Radius Scenario
Currently 1 Bus, (1 Bus 2011-12) No change

1.0 mile 
radius

2010 Non-Transported

2010  Transported

2.0 mile 
radius

Soft Mile Buffer
Some “potential” 
students

122



Reagan  Elementary  1.0 Mile Radius Scenario
Currently 8 Buses, (5 Bus 2011-12) -3 Buses

1.0 mile 
radius

2010 Non-Transported

2010  Transported

Soft Mile Buffer
Some “potential” 
students

123



Reeder  Elementary  1.0 Mile Radius Scenario
Currently 4 Buses, (3 Bus 2011-12) -1 Bus

1.0 mile 
radius

2010 Non-Transported

2010  Transported

Soft Mile Buffer
Some “potential” 
students

124



Rockwell  Elementary  1.0 Mile Radius Scenario
Currently 1 Bus, All students within 1 Mile radius (0 Bus 2011-12) -1 Bus

1.0 mile 
radius

2010 Non-Transported

2010  Transported

125



Rohwer  Elementary  1.0 Mile Radius Scenario
Currently 1 Bus, All students within 1-mile radius (0 Bus 2011-12) -1 Bus

1.0 mile 
radius

2010 Non-Transported

2010  Transported

126



Sandoz  Elementary  1.0 Mile Radius Scenario
Currently 2 Buses, (2 Bus 2011-12) (No Change)

1.0 mile 
radius

2010 Non-Transported

2010  Transported

Soft Mile Buffer
Some “potential” 
students

127



Wheeler  Elementary  1.0 Mile Radius Scenario
No Transportation currently provided

1.0 mile 
radius

1.0 mile 
radius

128



Willowdale  Elementary  1.0 Mile Radius Scenario

1.0 mile 
radius

No Transportation currently provided
129



Upchurch  Elementary  1.0 Mile Radius Scenario
Currently 5 Buses, All students inside 1-mile radius (0 Bus 2011-12) -5 Buses

1.0 mile 
radius

130



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
 

AGENDA ITEM:     Policy 5480 and Rule 5480.1 
 
MEETING DATE:     May 16, 2011 
 
DEPARTMENT:     Pupil Services  
 
TITLE AND BRIEF DESCRIPTION:       Search and Seizure 
 
 
ACTION DESIRED:    Approval 
 
BACKGROUND:  Changes to Policy 5490 and Rule 5490.1 created 

necessary changes to our “search and seizure” 
policy and rule. Specifically, trained administrators 
may use alcohol/drug detection technology to 
screen students prior to them entering/exiting school 
related functions. 

 
OPTIONAL/ALTERNATIVE 
CONSIDERATIONS:    N/A 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS:    Approval 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  N/A 
 
IMPLICATIONS OF ADOPTION 
OR REJECTION:  Approving the updated policy and rule will help 

preclude alcohol/drug related infractions. 
 
TIMELINE:      August 10, 2011 
 
PERSONS RESPONSIBLE:   Dr. Kraig J. Lofquist, Director of Pupil Services 
 
EXECUTIVE  
DIRECTOR, HUMAN RESOURCES:      Dr. Jim Sutfin 
 
SUPERINTENDENT APPROVAL:  _________________________________ 

131

sphelps
Kieths Stamp



Pupil Services  
 
Search and Seizure 5480.1 
 
 
I. General Statement.  Certificated staff are authorized to conduct searches of a student's person, clothing, 

automobile, and property under a student's control including, but not limited to, purses, handbags, book 
bags, and briefcases.  Certificated staff are also authorized to search student lockers.  Certificated staff 
may take into custody any objects or substances that are illegal under federal or state law, or in violation of 
District Policy or Rule. 

 
II. Procedures for Non-District Property.  The following procedures shall be followed with respect to searches 

and seizures under this Rule: 
 

A. Reasonable Searches Permitted.   
 

1. Searches of non-District property are to be conducted at such times and places as are 
reasonable under the circumstances.  The scope of the search shall likewise be 
reasonable. 

 
2. Searches can be made under this Rule at any place on District property, at a District 

event, or at a place under District control or sponsorship. 
 

B. Person, Clothing, Automobiles, Personal Possessions, and Field Trips. 
 

1. A search of a student's person, clothing, automobile, personal property or possessions 
will only be made if there is reasonable cause to believe that the student has possession or 
control of an illegal object or substance that is illegal under federal or state law, or in 
violation of District Policy or Rule.  

 
2. A search of the person, clothing, automobile, personal property or possessions shall be 

made, whenever practicable, by two certificated staff members.  When the search is 
made of the student's person, the search shall be conducted only by staff members of the 
same sex as the student being searched. 

 
3. Prior to leaving on a field trip or other off-campus activity sponsored or participated in by 

the District, the District may search any baggage, purses, or other containers in the 
possession of or under the control of a District student participating in the field trip or 
other off-campus activity.  In addition, students may be subjected to alcohol and other 
drug screening and testing technology pursuant to District Policy 5490 and Rule 5490.1. 

 
III. District Property:  Student Lockers.   Student lockers are the exclusive property of the District and the 

District does not relinquish its control and ownership of lockers by making them available for students.  
Student lockers are provided to students only for student convenience, and this privilege may be withdrawn 
by the District at any time.  The search and inspection of lockers and the taking into custody of objects or 
substances which are illegal or in violation of District Policy or Rule may be conducted at any time by 
certificated staff without notice and without student consent.  Whenever practicable, two certificated staff 
members shall be present at the time locker searches are conducted.   

 
IV. Alcohol and other Drug Screening and Testing Technology.   Students may be subjected to alcohol and 

other drug screening and testing technology pursuant to District Policy 5490 and Rule 5490.1. 
 
 
 

132



IV. Enforcement of this Rule.   The refusal by a student to consent to or permit a search, or the refusal to 
surrender objects or substances which are illegal or violate District Policy or Rule, may subject such student 
to suspension, expulsion, or other disciplinary action. 

 
 
VI. Law Enforcement Authorities.  Police officers and other law enforcement authorities shall be permitted to 

conduct a search of a student, the student's clothing, and the student's possessions and property on District 
property, at a District event, or at a place under District control whenever such officers or authorities: 

A. Possess a judicial order providing for the same;   
  

B. Are otherwise authorized by law to make a search; or  
 

C. Exigent circumstances exist.   
 

D. Neither school officials nor staff members shall participate directly or indirectly in any search or 
actions relating thereto conducted by a police officer or law enforcement official.   

 
 
Related Rules:   5400.1 
   5410.1 

   5490 
   5490.1 

 
 
Rule Approved:  July 13, 1988 
Revised:  July 5, 1994; June 16, 1997; October 16, 2000; May 16, 2011 
Reaffirmed:  December 20, 2010 Millard Public Schools 
 Omaha, NE 

133



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
 

AGENDA ITEM:     Policy 5490 & Rule 5490.1 
 
MEETING DATE:     May 16, 2011 
 
DEPARTMENT:     Pupil Services  
 
TITLE AND BRIEF DESCRIPTION:       Use of Alcohol and other Drug Screening and  
                                                                        Testing Technology 
 
ACTION DESIRED:    Approval 
 
BACKGROUND:  The proposed changes would allow trained 

administrators to screen students for alcohol use 
prior to entering or leaving a school related 
function. In the past, the District has had students 
enter events under the influence which has created a 
disruption to such events. Using the updated 
technology will help continue to send a message 
that alcohol and other drug use will not be tolerated. 

 
OPTIONAL/ALTERNATIVE 
CONSIDERATIONS:    N/A 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS:    Approval 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  N/A 
 
IMPLICATIONS OF ADOPTION 
OR REJECTION:  Approving the updated policy and rule will help 

preclude alcohol/drug related infractions. 
 
TIMELINE:      August 10, 2011 
 
PERSONS RESPONSIBLE:   Dr. Kraig J. Lofquist, Director of Pupil Services 
 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR,  
HUMAN RESOURCES:         Dr. Jim Sutfin 
 
SUPERINTENDENT APPROVAL:  _________________________________ 

134

sphelps
Kieths Stamp



Pupil Services 
 
Use of Alcohol and other Drug Screening and Testing Technology 5490.1 
 
I. Procedures.  The following procedures govern the use of alcohol and other drug 

screening and testing technology by school administrators: 
  
 A. The District may require all students to submit to alcohol screening before they 

may enter or exist a school sponsored event or activity, or prior to leaving on a 
field trip or other off-campus event or activity sponsored by the school.  Such 
screening devices may be used to sample students' breath and any liquid-carrying 
containers.  If such screening has positive results, then there shall be a second 
screening.  If such second screening again has positive results, then there is a 
reasonable suspicion that the student has violated the District's alcohol policy and 
the student may be subjected to a field test. 

 
     A. B. Students suspected of violating the District's alcohol and other drugs policy may 

be subjected to a field test.  Refusal to consent or submit to a field test may be 
grounds for discipline. 

 
     B. C. If the student tests a field test is positive for alcohol and/or other drugs, the 

positive results will be used as evidence in any disciplinary procedures against the 
student.  

 
     C. D. Results of field tests, refusal to consent or submit to a field test, and other 

evidence will be used by the administration in determining disciplinary action.  
 
     D. E. Student field test results for alcohol or other drugs will be made available to the 

student's parents or guardian.  Screening results for students entering or existing 
school sponsored events or activities, or for students leaving on a field trip or 
other off-campus event, will not be shared with parents unless such results are 
positive. 

 
     E. F. Regardless of the results of the field test, the If a student screens or tests positive 

for alcohol or other drug use, they will be released from school or any school 
sponsored event or activity, only to the student's parents or guardian or an adult 
designated by the student's parents or guardian. 

 
     F. G. Staff, students, and parents will be notified annually of these procedures.  
 
     G. H. Field screening and testing devices will only be administered by school 

administrators appropriately trained as provided by the manufacturer of the field 
test devices. 

 

135



     H. I. Field screening and testing devices will be tested for accuracy and calibrated as 
necessary as provided by the manufacturer. 

 
II. Annual Report to Board 

A report summarizing all field screening and testing will be annually presented to the 
Board. 

 
III. Definitions 
 
 A. Screening, field screening, and screening technology shall mean a passive alcohol 

detecting device which is a non-invasive high speed instrument which can be used 
as a sniffer for overt or covert alcohol detection, which is administered for 
students entering or existing school sponsored events or activities, or for students 
leaving on a field trip or other off-campus event or activity. 

 
 B. Testing, field testing, and testing technology shall mean an active alcohol or other 

drug detecting device which is administered when there is reasonable suspicion 
that a student has violated the District's alcohol or other drug policies. 

 
 
Related Policies and Rules: 5480, 5480.1, 5490 
         
Rule Approved:   March 6, 1995 
 
Revised:   August 19, 1996; October 16, 2000; September 2, 2008; May 16, 2011 
 
 Millard Public Schools 
 Omaha, NE 

136



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET

AGENDA ITEM: Rule 6031.1—School Day for Students

MEETING DATE: May 16, 2011

DEPARTMENT: Educational Services

TITLE AND
BRIEF DESCRIPTION: Rule 6031.1—School Day for Students

ACTION DESIRED: __X__ Approval

BACKGROUND: The changes provided in Rule 6031.1 will facilitate adjustments to the school day.
The additional instructional time is needed to:

 address the increasingly complex curriculum that is aligned to state standards and indicators in
preparation for District and state assessments,

 fully implement the Rule 10 and Rule 14 guidelines for daily and weekly instruction in core
curricular areas as described in the Nebraska Department of Education booklet, “Planning the
Weekly Schedule in the Elementary Grades,”

 ensure that research-based, best practices regarding instructional time, also called academic
learning time or engaged learning time, are followed as found in Effective Schools Research and
recent meta-analyses summary studies (Hattie, J. (2009) Visible Learning: A Synthesis of Over
800 Meta-Analyses Relating to Achievement.).

The recommended instructional time adjustments:
 preserve the double routing busing transportation model at no additional cost,
 increase the District’s average instructional time in comparison to the other ten districts within

the Learning Community,
 increase the District’s instructional time average. It is anticipated that the District instructional

time average will exceed the state-wide average thus qualifying the District for a state-aid
instructional time allowance for the 2012-2013 school year.

In so doing, it is recommended that the following instructional time parameters be approved for the
2011-2012 school year:

 Elementary student hours be 8:30 – 3:45 thereby adding 30 minutes/day on M, T, Th, F
 Wednesday Elementary early release be at 2:15 thus retaining time for teacher collaboration and

planning,
 Middle school student hours be 7:45 – 3:00 thereby adding 15 minutes/day
 High School hours remain as is with the exception that the 20 hours of flex scheduling be

reduced to no fewer than 10 hours,
 the last day of school will be a full day, and
 that transition times and other alterations of the school day be at the discretion of the Office of

the Superintendent in accordance with Rule 6031.1, section IV.

137



RECOMMENDATIONS: It is recommended that (1) the proposed revisions to Rule 6031.1 be
approved as submitted, and (2) that the proposed instructional time
parameters to the school day as contained herein for 2011-2012 be
approved.

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE: Strategy 1 and Strategy 4

TIMELINE: Effective for 2011-2012

RESPONSIBLE PERSON(S): Mark Feldhausen, Assoc. Supt. (Educational Services)

SUPERINTENDENT’S APPROVAL: ______________________
(Signature)

BOARD ACTION:

138

sphelps
Kieths Stamp



Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment

School Day for Students 6031.1

In designing the school day, the following considerations are to be met:

I. The learning activities are to be carefully guided and supervised.

II. Opportunities shall be provided so as to receive assistance from teachers outside of the regular school day.

III. Instructional hour for K-12 means a period of time, at least sixty (60) minutes, which is actually used for the
instruction of students.

Instructional hour in a preschool program means a period of time, at least sixty (60) minutes, which is used for
teaching in the following areas of children’s growth and learning: social-emotional development; cognitive
learning in the areas of language and literacy; mathematics, science and problem-solving; creative arts; health
and nutrition; and physical and motor development. Meal or snack time is a part of the program curriculum
and provides opportunities for learning and social development, as well as nutrition, and therefore is included
as part of the instructional time.

IV. The instructional hours per full school day will be up to six and three-quarter (6¾) (6) hours in the elementary
schools and six and one half (6½) up to seven (7) hours in the secondary schools. An alteration of the school
day shall be subject to the approval of the Office of the Superintendent.

V. Parents of students and the general public shall be informed of the reasons for the variations which may exist
in the times designated for the beginning and ending of the school day.

VI. High school students shall take a minimum of four (4) classes (two in block) each semester.

VII. Early dismissal to facilitate student employment shall be limited to course-related work study and/or
internship programs. Exceptions due to hardship may be granted by the building principal or their designee.

Legal Reference: Neb. Rev. Stat. § 79-101

Related Policies and Rules: 6031P, 5550.1

Rule Approved: June 16, 1975 Millard Public Schools
Revised: March 16, 1998; April 24, 2000; October 16, 2000; March 6, 2006 Omaha, Nebraska
September 15, 2008; May 16, 2011

139



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET

AGENDA ITEM: Rule 6315.1 – Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment
Millard Education Program – Use of Assessment Data

MEETING DATE: May 16, 2011

DEPARTMENT: Assessment, Research, and Evaluation

TITLE AND BRIEF Annual review of Rule 6315.1
DESCRIPTION: Millard Education Program – Use of Assessment Data

ACTION DESIRED: Approval _x_ Discussion Information Only ____

BACKGROUND: The changes cited result in the elimination of the 5th and 8th

grade Science ELO in lieu of State Science testing at those grade
levels. In addition, the 11th grade State Science test is added per
state requirements.

OPTIONS AND
ALTERNATIVES: N/A

RECOMMENDATIONS: Approve changes in Rule 6315.1.

STRATEGIC PLAN
REFERENCE: To meet the mission of the district.

IMPLICATIONS OF
ADOPTION/REJECTION: If not approved, MPS students in 5th and 8th grade would be

assessed twice in large scale spring science tests.

RESPONSIBLE Dr. Mark Feldhausen and Dr. Tami Williams
PERSONS:

SUPERINTENDENT’S
APPROVAL: _____________________________________________

140



Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment

Millard Education Program – Use of Assessment Data 6315.1

The assessment system shall take its overall direction from the District strategic plan and from state and federal
requirements. The assessment system shall be aligned with the written curriculum and shall measure student
progress within the primary, intermediate, middle and high school grade levels. The system shall provide
opportunities for reteaching to occur if the student does not demonstrate mastery.

The assessment system will include Essential Learner Outcome assessments (designed to measure the Millard
Education Plan outcomes) as well as assessments designed to comply with state and federal legislation.

As curriculum revisions occur, the assessment system shall reflect those changes and modifications to assessments
and shall be approved by the Millard Board of Education. The curriculum content areas, grade levels when
administered, and the types of assessments shall be as follows:

Level: Primary grades (K-2)
Outcome When Administered Type of Assessment
Math 2nd Grade ELO Assessment

Level: Intermediate Grades (3-5)
Outcome When Administered Type of Assessment
Reading Comprehension

and Vocabulary
3rd, 4th, and 5th Grade NE Dept. of Education

Writing 3rd and 5th Grade ELO Assessments
Writing 4th Grade NE Dept. of Education
Mathematics 3rd, 4th, and 5th Grade NE Dept. of Education
Social Studies 4th Grade ELO Assessment
Science 5th Grade ELO/NE Dept. of Education

Level: Middle School Grades (6-8)
Outcome When Administered Type of Assessment
Reading Comprehension

and Vocabulary
6th, 7th, and 8th Grade NE Dept. of Education

Writing 6th and 7th Grade ELO Assessments
Mathematics 6th, 7th, and 8th Grade NE Dept. of Education
Social Studies 8th Grade ELO Assessment
Science 8th Grade ELO/NE Dept. of Education
Writing 8th Grade NE Dept. of Education

Level: High School Grades (9-12)
Outcome When Administered Type of Assessment
Reading Comprehension 9th Grade ELO Assessment
Writing 10th Grade ELO Assessment
Mathematics 10th Grade ELO Assessment
Reading Comprehension

and Vocabulary
11th Grade NE Dept. of Education

Mathematics 11th Grade NE Dept. of Education
Social Studies 11th Grade ELO Assessment
Science 11th Grade ELO Assessment/NE Dept. of Education
Writing 11th Grade NE Dept. of Education

141



I. Implementation of Assessment System

A. In accordance with Policy 6301 and Rule 6301.1, the District shall use all reasonable efforts to
provide adequate measurement by:

1. Establishing the reliability and validity of each recommended assessment;

2. Ensuring that the alignment of the assessment contents is consistent with the District’s
curriculum;

3. Ensuring that the students of the District are provided with the opportunity to learn the
material which is the subject of each assessment;

4. Ensuring the establishment of adequate and necessary reteaching; and

5. Ensuring a proper cutscore for each assessment is established through acceptable and reliable
methods.

B. Upon approval and adoption of the cutscore established for each assessment by the Board of
Education, the assessment will be incorporated in the District curriculum.

II. Description of the Standard Setting Process

A. Psychometrically accepted, standard methods shall be used for setting the cutscores on the
assessments. All assessments shall be re-examined and recalibrated as needed to ensure
curriculum alignment as well as appropriateness of the cutscore.

III. Effect of Student Performance

A. When a student has successfully met the Essential Learner Outcomes assessment cutscore for each
outcome:

1. A notation shall be made in the student’s cumulative record. Such information will be
communicated to parent(s)/guardian(s) in writing.

2. Students who meet the cutscores for the high school Essential Learner Outcomes assessments
have met an essential criterion for graduating from the Millard Public Schools. Upon
successful completion of the required number of credits as defined by Policy 6320 and Rule
6320.1, the students shall be eligible for a graduation diploma from the Millard Public
Schools.

B. If a student has not met the cutscore for a given Essential Learner Outcomes, the following shall
occur:

1. An Individual Learning Plan (ILP) shall be designed by a team of qualified staff. Classroom
teachers may refer students to the Millard Intervention Team (MIT) for assistance in
evaluating and implementing problem solving and intervention strategies.

2. Utilizing the Essential Learner Outcomes, school representatives will offer the student
supplemental learning activities that address recognized deficiencies. Supplemental learning
activities may include, but are not limited to, the following:

142



a. Differentiated/complementary instruction during regular classes (i.e., peer tutoring,
needs groups, individualized instruction);

b. Before or after school tutorials;
c. Study hall tutorials;
d. Change of interdisciplinary teams or level of instruction;
e. Repeat of specific course(s) of study;
f. Attendance at specific class(es) designed to address deficiencies; and/or
g. Attendance at summer school.

3. If the student is verified with a disability the IEP Team may reconvene to review the ILP and
to ensure that the IEP is written to assist the student in areas of weakness and that appropriate
accommodations are in place.

4. If the student has a 504 Accommodation Plan, the 504 Team may reconvene to review the ILP
and to ensure that needed accommodations are in place in areas of weakness.

C. Procedures for high school students

If after a retake of an assessment, a student has not met the cutscore for a given Essential Learner
Outcomes assessment, the following shall occur:

1. The Individual Learning Plan will be reviewed by a qualified team and, if necessary,
redesigned. Students shall be referred to MIT for identification of needs if not previously
referred.

2. The student shall be retested using the appropriate Essential Learner Outcomes assessment.
Students shall be given the opportunity to be retested multiple times until the requisite
cutscore is achieved. Students shall be given notice of the opportunities for retesting.

3. The student will be considered ineligible for a diploma from the Millard Public Schools until
such time that the requisite cutscores are achieved for high school Essential Learner
Outcomes assessments.

4. If the student is verified with a disability or has a 504 Accommodation Plan, then the IEP or
504 Team will reconvene to review the education plan and may consider lowering the
cutscore requirement as part of the IEP or 504 Accommodation Plan. The student’s parent(s)
and/or guardian(s) shall be notified and shall also be advised of the effect of lowering the
cutscore.

a. Applications for approval of lowered cutscore requirements may be submitted by the
student’s IEP or 504 Team to the Associate Superintendent of Educational Services for
consideration and where appropriate, approval. The Associate Superintendent of
Educational Services or designee shall decide and respond to all such requests.

b. If the lowered cutscore is approved, the student shall then be eligible to receive a
graduation diploma with appropriate notation from the Millard Public Schools as
provided in Rule 6320.1.

D. Demonstration of Proficiency

An additional opportunity is available to demonstrate student proficiency. After two retest
attempts to meet the established cutscore(s) for the Essential Learner Outcome assessments
without achieving the cutscore, students, under building supervision, shall participate in a process,
as provided in the District’s Assessment Procedures, to demonstrate an appropriate level of
proficiency in reading, writing, math, science or social studies. A student who successfully meets

143



the standards and requirements of a Demonstration of Proficiency shall have met one of the
essential criteria for graduating from the Millard Public Schools.

IV. District Procedures for Opting Out of Recommended Reteaching

A. Should a student participating in the Assessment Program not meet the requisite cutscore and be
recommended for one of the reteaching strategies listed above, the student’s parent(s)/guardian(s)
shall have the right to refuse placement of their student within the recommended strategy and
either:

1. Request an alternative teaching strategy; or

2. Refuse such placement at all.

B. Such requests for an alternative teaching strategy shall be submitted in writing to the appropriate
building principal. The building principal or designee shall respond within thirty (30) calendar
days.

V. District Procedures for New Students

A. At the elementary and middle school level, new students will take grade level assessments given
after their arrival

B. At the high school level, incoming students shall take all high school assessments designated for
that grade level or lower grades, regardless of their grade-level when they enter the District. They
may participate in all remedial and supplemental learning activities provided by the District.
Students are required to meet the established cutscore on each of the high school Essential Learner
Outcome assessments.

VI. District Procedures for Students with Disabilities and ELL Students

Pursuant to the Assessment Accommodations section of the District’s Assessment Procedures Manual, all
students are to participate in the District’s regular assessments and the only students to be excluded are
those with a disability or language proficiency which has excluded the student from the norm sample of the
standardized assessment, and/or those students who have not participated in the area and/or level of the
curriculum that the assessment measures. Even for such students, they are not totally exempt and they must
take an alternate assessment.

A. Procedures for Students with Disabilities

The preceding assessments may not be appropriate for some students with disabilities whose
individualized education programs prescribe a different course of instruction and/or different
requirements for graduation. The participation of students with disabilities, the provision of
accommodations, and the provision of alternate assessments will be in accordance with the
District’s Assessment Procedures, which include the process for identifying appropriate
assessment accommodations and alternate assessments.

B. Procedure for ELL Students

Students must meet all graduation requirements in the English language to earn a Millard Public
Schools diploma. ELL students who have not demonstrated adequate English language
proficiencies may postpone testing according to district procedures.

144



VII. Student’s Right to Appeal

A. Students who have not achieved the necessary high school cutscores as approved by the Millard
Board of Education may appeal the denial of a diploma.

B. A student may appeal the denial of a diploma only on the grounds that the student’s failure to
achieve the required cutscore is due to:

1. The failure of the District to provide a reasonable accommodation that was previously
requested by the student and denied by the District.

2. The failure of the District to provide an alternate assessment or approve a demonstration of
proficiency, which had been previously requested by the student and denied by the District.

VIII. Procedures for Appeal

A. Within seven (7) days after the receipt of the notice that the student failed to achieve the cutscore
required for graduation from the Millard Public Schools, a written notice of appeal shall be served
upon the Superintendent of the Millard Public Schools or his/her designee. Such appeal shall set
forth all of the reasons for the appeal as provided herein and shall set forth the relief sought by the
student, parent(s) or guardian(s). Such notice of appeal may also include any additional
information, which is relevant to the appeal.

B. Within seven (7) days after the receipt of the written notice of appeal and any supporting
information relevant to the appeal, the Superintendent or designee shall consider and render a
decision on the appeal based on whether the decision of the District was unreasonable. Such
decision shall then be forwarded to the student’s parent(s) and/or guardian(s) advising the
student’s parent(s) and/or guardian(s) of the basis for the Superintendent’s decision and the
reasons therefore.

C. Within seven (7) days after the receipt of the written notification from the Superintendent or the
Superintendent’s designee, a written request may be made by the student, parent(s), or guardian(s)
to the secretary of the Millard Board of Education or the Superintendent, or designee for a hearing
before the Millard Board of Education, or a committee of the Board consisting of not less than two
(2) members or more than three (3) members to be held on the issue whether the decision of the
Superintendent or designee was unreasonable.

D. Such hearing shall be held before the Millard Board of Education or committee within thirty (30)
days of the date the request for hearing was received. If a hearing request is not received in a
timely manner, the decision of the Superintendent or the Superintendent’s designee shall be final.

E. The student, parent(s) and/or guardian(s) shall be advised at least seven (7) days prior to the date
of the hearing before the Board and such notification shall set forth the date, time, and place for
the hearing before the Millard Board of Education or committee.

F. The parties may, by mutual written agreement, extend the time for hearing or final determination.

G. The student, parent(s), and/or guardian(s) shall have the right to be represented by legal counsel
and shall have the opportunity to present such evidence that is material to the issue or issues stated
in the appeal.

H. The hearing shall be conducted in closed session and in accordance with the student privacy laws
unless the student, parent(s), and/or guardian(s) shall request, in writing, that the hearing be held
in open session. Any formal action of the Millard Board of Education or committee shall be taken
in closed session unless such proceeding was requested by the student, parent(s), or guardian(s) to
be held in open session.

145



I. The decision of the Millard Board of Education or committee shall be by vote of a majority of the
members of the Millard Board of Education and the Millard Board of Education or committee
shall reduce its findings and decision to writing and provide the written findings and decision to
the student, parent(s), and/or guardian(s) within ten (10) days of the hearing. When conducting
such proceedings, the Millard Board of Education or committee shall be exercising a judicial
function and deciding a dispute of adjudicative facts.

IX. Annual Review

This Rule shall be reviewed annually.

Related Policies & Rules: 6301, 6301.1, 6315, 6320, 6320.1, 6320.2, 6320.3

Rule Adopted: December 21, 1998 Millard Public Schools
Rule Revised: February 7, 2000; February 4, 2002; March 3, 2003; Omaha, Nebraska
June 21, 2004; June 6, 2005; January 16, 2006; June 4, 2007; June 16, 2008;
June 15, 2009; June 7, 2010; May 16, 2011

146



AGENDA  SUMMARY  SHEET 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM: Utility Easement at Ezra Elementary 
 
MEETING DATE: May 16, 2011 
 
DEPARTMENT: General Administration 
 
TITLE & BRIEF 
DESCRIPTION: Utility Easement at Ezra Elementary – The approval for a Permanent Easement to 

MUD for the installation of a 36” water main. 
 
ACTION DESIRED: Approval     x         Discussion             Information Only                                      .       
 
BACKGROUND: The City of Omaha will be commencing and road improvement project near Ezra 

Elementary School.  Prior to such project commencing, the Metropolitan Utilities 
District (MUD) needs to install a 36” water main.  The proposed Easement (see 
attached) is necessary for them to complete this project. 

 
  
OPTIONS AND 
ALTERNATIVES: n/a 
 
RECOMMENDATION: It is recommended that approval be given to the Permanent Easement for MUD to 

install a water main near 144th and Blondo Streets be approved as submitted. 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN 
REFERENCE: n/a 
 
IMPLICATIONS OF 
ADOPTION/REJECTION: n/a 
 
TIMELINE: Immediate 
 
RESPONSIBLE PERSON: Ken Fossen, Associate Superintendent (General Administration) 
 
SUPERINTENDENT’S 
APPROVAL: __________________________ 

147

sphelps
Kieths Stamp



148



149



150



151



AGENDA  SUMMARY  SHEET 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM: Liability Insurance Self-Insured Retention Program 
 
MEETING DATE: May 16, 2011 
 
DEPARTMENT: General Administration 
 
TITLE & BRIEF 
DESCRIPTION: Liability Insurance Self-Insured Retention Program – the conversion of the 

Districts current liability insurance program to a self-insured retention program. 
 
ACTION DESIRED: Approval     x         Discussion             Information Only                                      .       
 
BACKGROUND: At the last regular board meeting, a report was submitted with regard to engaging 

in a self-insured retention (SIR) program for the District’s liability insurance.  This 
program would include General Liability (GL), Auto Liability (AL), and School 
Board Legal Liability (SBLL).  The self-insured retention would have a single 
occurrence stop loss of $100,000 and an aggregate stop loss of $1,000,000.  This 
would be provided through United Educators (UE) insurance company 

 
 The use of an SIR program would require the District to engage the services of a 

Third Party Administrator (TPA) to process claims.  The District has interviewed 
and is recommending Berkley Risk Administrators Company for this service. 
Berkeley will also be providing services as a TPA for the Omaha Public Schools. 

 
 Our insurance consultants from the Harry A Koch Company (i.e., Don Kamins and 

Bill Johnson) will be present to address any questions to make another presentation 
if the board should so choose. 

  
OPTIONS AND 
ALTERNATIVES: n/a 
 
RECOMMENDATION: It is recommended that the District commence a self-insured retention program for 

its liability coverage beginning June 1, 2011 as submitted. 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN 
REFERENCE: n/a 
 
IMPLICATIONS OF 
ADOPTION/REJECTION: n/a 
 
TIMELINE: June 1, 2011 
 
RESPONSIBLE PERSON: Ken Fossen, Associate Superintendent (General Administration) 
 
SUPERINTENDENT’S 
APPROVAL: __________________________ 

152

sphelps
Kieths Stamp



Millard Public Schools
Board Meeting:  May 16, 2011

153



Program Features
• Homogenous Risk Retention Group

• Long-Term Control and Stability
• Specific Member Self-Insured Retentions; “per 

occurrence” and “annual stop loss aggregate.” Example: 
$100,000 each occurrence; $1,000,000 annual stop loss

• Select Excess Limits up to $25 Million Available
• Lines of Coverage: GL, SBLL, Auto, EPLI, Medical 

Nurses Professional Liability
• Berkley Risk Administrators Company, LLC. - Claims 

Management Administration 

154



Risk Services
• Annual Public School Conference
• Public School News (published three times a 

year)
• Public School Advisory Committee Meeting 

(quarterly, via phone roundtables)
• K-12 Highlights (link in the UE Risk Management 

Library)
• Educator Sexual Misconduct Policy Guide, 

written by Karen-Ann Broe

155



Insurance Coverages
School Board Legal Liability

General Liability
•Products Liability

•Completed Operations
•Nurse Professional

•Employee Benefit Error & Omission

Automobile Liability
• Liability Only

156



Specific Excess Insurance

General
Liability

Auto
Liability

Self Insured Retention
$100,000

School Board
Liability

Excess Coverage
$5,000,000

(Per occurrence 
GL & Auto)

Notes:      1) Defense costs outside of policy limits
2) Basket deductible of $100,000 per occurrence
3) Defense costs part of $100,000 SIR for MPS
4) Nurse professional included

157



Travelers
SBLL
Auto
GL

Loss Example #1
Average Year with $75,000 of total losses and no one 

claim over $100,000

$182,379 
Premium

$75,000 Avg Loss Year

$25,000 TPA Costs

Guaranteed Cost 
Program

Total Cost
$282,379

Total Current 
Premium

$510,000

United Educators

158



Travelers
SBLL
Auto
GL

Loss Example #2
Average Year with $75,000 of total losses and 

one occurrence of $1,000,000

$182,379 
Premium

$75,000 Avg Loss Year

$30,000 TPA/ Legal 
Cost

Guaranteed Cost 
Program

Total Cost
$387,379

Total Current 
Premium
$510,000

United Educators

$100,000 Large Loss

159



School District #17 of Douglas County 
Millard Public School District  

 
 

Comparison of 2010 vs. 2011 Insurance Premiums 
 
 

Coverage 2010-11 
Actual 

Premium 

2011-12 
Quoted 

Premium 
   

Property $301,105 $301,290 
Inland Marine 
(mobile equipment floater) 

$6,093 $6,093 

Renovation Project Construction 
Blanket Installation  

$1,500 $3,560 

Builders Risk – new schools $7,210 $0 
Boiler & Machinery $28,624 $28,624* 
Crime $8,510 $9,100 
Automobile – Physical Damage $28,140 $29,096 
General Liability incl. EBL $224,038 $182,379** 
Automobile - Liability $128,188 Included in GL 
Umbrella Excess $118,031 Included in GL 
School Leaders E&O $20,842 Included in GL 
Nurses Professional $11,227 Included in GL 
Berkley Risk Administrators (TPA) 
 

NA 
 

$25,000 minimum 
premium 

Cyber Liability: Network Security, 
Privacy Liability, Internet Liability  

$24,237 
 

$23,847 
 

Fiduciary Liability $6,941 $7,222 
Workers Compensation $804,108 $823,470 
Pollution/Mold Liability $36,519 $35,535 
Sub Total $1,755,313 $1,475,216 
Harry A. Koch Co Consulting Fee $45,414 $46,197 
Total Cost with Consulting Fee $1,800,727 $1,521,413 
 
 
* subject to final renewal quote 
 
** does not include losses within the Self Insured Retention of $100,000 each occurrence 
 
 
 

160



School District #17 of Douglas County 
Millard Public School District  

 
 

Marketing Summary 
 
 

Carrier Response 
  

ACE Declined; does not fit their appetite 
Acuity Declined; operations 
Amerisafe Declined; operations 
Chubb Declined; operations 
C.N.A. Declined; operations 
EMC Not competitive; quoted Work Comp with $150,000 and 

$250,000 deductibles 
Hartford Not competitive; quoted Work Comp at $1,358,407 
Indiana Insurance Declined; not competitive 
Liberty Mutual Work Comp quotation received ($823,470) 
Sentry Not competitive; quoted Work Comp with $250,000 

deductible 
Travelers Renewal quotation received 
United Educators Casualty quotation received ($182,379) 
United Heartland Not competitive; quoted Work Comp at $1,087,288; also 

provided option with $250,000 deductible 
Zurich Declined; operations 

 
 
 

161



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 

AGENDA ITEM:   Approval of the PreK-12 Science Framework: Part I PreK-8 

MEETING DATE:   May 16, 2011 

DEPARTMENT:   Educational Services 

TITLE: PreK-12 Science Framework: Part I PreK-8 

BRIEF DESCRIPTION: The PreK-12 Science Framework: Part I PreK-8 is being presented for 
approval.  Included in the framework:  Millard Public Schools Mission and 
Beliefs; PreK-12 Science Philosophy; Millard Essential Learner Outcomes; 
Curriculum Planning Committee and Community Focus Group 
Participants; and the Timeline of Developmental Events.  Included is the 
PreK-8 Science Matrix based on the Nebraska State Standards and 
Indicators complete with additional Millard Standards and Indicators.  The 
Nebraska State Science Standards are divided into grade bands: K-2, 3-5,  
6-8, and 9-12.  The standards and indicators for each grade band must be 
taught sometime during the grades within each band.    

DESIRED ACTION: Approval    

BACKGROUND: The PreK-12 Science Core Committee of 29 district members worked 
towards the completion of Phase I of the Curriculum Cycle.  Part I 
focused on the PreK-8 Matrix, which is being presented at this time.  
Part II will consist of the 9-12 Matrix and will be presented to the Board 
of Education in Summer 2011.  Part III: Textbook/ Instructional 
Materials Selection will be presented in Winter 2011.      

 Research reviewed by subcommittees in 2010 and 2011 included:  
Inquiry, Integration with other Content Areas, Technology, and Scope 
and Sequence. 

RECOMMENDATIONS: Recommend approval of the PreK-12 Science Framework: Part I 

STRATEGIC PLAN   Strategic Plans 2, 4 & 5 
REFERENCE:  
 
IMPLICATIONS OF  
ADOPTION OR REJECTION: Delayed implementation 
 
TIMELINE: Implementation August 2012 
 
RESPONSIBLE  Dr. Mark Feldhausen, Dr. Carol Newton, Dr. Nancy Johnston, 
PERSON(S): Dr. Clara Hoover, and Nancy Thornblad 
 
SUPERINTENDENT’S 
APPROVAL:  _________________________________________________ 
 
BOARD ACTION: 

162

sphelps
Kieths Stamp



 

 

 

PreK–12 Science Framework 
 

Part I:  PreK-8  Spring 2011 
 
Part II: 9-12   Summer 2011 
 
Part III: Textbook/Instructional 

Materials Selection 
     Winter 2012 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

163



 

 

Millard Public Schools 
 

Millard Board of Education 

Dave Anderson 
Mike Kennedy 

Mike Pate 
Linda Poole 
Pat Ricketts 

 
Keith W. Lutz, Ed.D., Superintendent 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Notice of Non-Discrimination  
 
The Millard School District does not discriminate on the basis of race, color, religion, national 
origin, gender, marital status, disability, or age, in admission or access to or treatment of 
employment, or in its programs and activities.  The following person has been designated to 
handle inquiries regarding the non-discrimination policies:  Superintendent of Schools, 5606 
South 147th Street, Omaha, NE 68137 (402) 715-8200.  The Superintendent may delegate this 
responsibility as needed.  Complaints and grievances by school personnel or job applicants 
regarding discrimination or sexual harassment shall follow the procedures of District Rule 
4001.2.  Complaints and grievances by students or parents regarding discrimination or sexual 
harassment shall follow the procedures of District Rule 5010.2. 

164



 

Table of Contents 

 

Millard Public Schools Mission and Beliefs ................................................................................... 1 

Millard Essential Learner Outcomes .............................................................................................. 2 

PreK-12 Science Curriculum Planning Committee Members 2010-2011 ...................................... 3 

PreK-12 Science Community Focus Group .................................................................................... 4 

Instructional Materials Selection Committees ................................................................................ 5 

Phase I Timeline ............................................................................................................................. 7 

Phase I Activities To Be Completed ............................................................................................... 7 

Introduction to PreK-12 Science Matrix ......................................................................................... 8 

Matrix .............................................................................................................................................11 

 

 

 

165



1 

Millard Public Schools Mission and Beliefs 
 

Millard Public Schools Mission 

The mission of the Millard Public Schools is to guarantee that each student develops the 
character traits and masters the knowledge and skills necessary for personal excellence and 
responsible citizenship by developing a world-class educational system with diverse programs 
and effective practices designed to engage and challenge all students. 

 

Millard Public Schools Beliefs 

We believe: 
 Each individual has worth. 
 Individuals are responsible for their actions. 
 Our greatest resource is people. 
 Diversity enriches life. 
 All people can learn. 
 High expectations promote higher achievement. 
 Achievement builds self-esteem; self-esteem promotes achievement. 
 All people are entitled to a safe, caring, and respectful environment. 
 Responsible risk-taking is essential for growth. 
 Excellence is worth the investment. 
 Educated and involved citizens are necessary to sustain our democratic society. 
 Public education benefits the entire community and is the shared responsibility of all. 
 All schools are accountable to the community. 
 Shaping and developing character is the shared responsibility of the individual, family, 

school and community. 
 
PreK-12 Science Philosophy 
 
The purpose of science education is to prepare all students to be scientifically literate members 
of society.  A scientifically literate person uses science knowledge, skills and processes to meet 
the challenges of a dynamic society by making everyday decisions, participating in public 
discussions, functioning in the work force, and appreciating the natural and engineered world.   

 

166



2 

Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment  

Written Curriculum - Content Standards 6110.1 
The Essential Learner Outcomes of the Millard Public Schools are the following: 

MILLARD ESSENTIAL LEARNER OUTCOMES 
• CITIZENSHIP • FINANCIAL LITERACY • HUMAN RELATIONS • LANGUAGE ARTS  

• MATHEMATICS • READINESS FOR WORK • READINESS FOR LIFE-LONG LEARNING • SCIENCE  
• SOCIAL STUDIES • TECHNOLOGY • FINE AND PERFORMING ARTS • WELLNESS 

                           ACADEMIC SKILLS AND APPLICATIONS 

Students will demonstrate proficiency by meeting established standards on 
district-wide assessments. This proficiency, along with the successful 
completion of 225 credits (230 credits for class of 2013 and beyond) and a 
Personal Learning Plan (PLP), is used for diploma granting or denial. 
 
LANGUAGE ARTS 

 Students will learn and apply reading skills and strategies to comprehend 
text. 

 Students will apply writing skills and strategies to communicate. 
 

MATHEMATICS 
 Students will communicate number sense concepts using multiple 

representations to reason, solve problems, and make connections within 
mathematics and across disciplines. 

 Students will communicate geometric concepts and measurement 
concepts using multiple representations to reason, solve problems, and 
make connections within mathematics and across disciplines. 

 Students will communicate algebraic concepts using multiple 
representations to reason, solve problems, and make connections within 
mathematics and across disciplines. 

 Students will communicate data analysis/probability concepts using 
multiple representations to reason, solve problems, and make 
connections within mathematics and across disciplines. 

 

SCIENCE 
 Students will combine scientific processes and knowledge with scientific 

reasoning and critical thinking to ask questions about phenomena and 
propose explanations based on gathered evidence. 

 Students will integrate and communicate the information, concepts, 
principles, processes, theories, and models of the Physical Sciences to 
make connections with the natural and engineered world. 

 Students will integrate and communicate the information, concepts, 
principles, processes, theories, and models of the Life Sciences to make 
connections with the natural and engineered world. 

 Students will integrate and communicate the information, concepts, 
principles, processes, theories, and models of the Earth and Space 
Sciences to make connections with the natural and engineered world. 

 

SOCIAL STUDIES 
9. Demonstrates understanding of structure, operations and relationships 

between local, state, national and international governments 
10. Demonstrates practical knowledge of history, economics and geography 
11. Understand global independence. 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
Course outcomes and assessments will determine program and building 
accountability in the areas of clarity (what is to be taught) competence (what is 
to be learned), consistency (among buildings), continuity (articulation) and 
communication (among teachers and with parents). The following indicators 
are not used by district-wide assessments for diploma-granting or denial. 
 

LANGUAGE ARTS 

 Students will learn and apply speaking and listening skills and strategies 
to communicate 

 Students will identify, locate, and evaluate information. 
 

FINANCIAL LITERACY 

 Demonstrates skills to manage financial resources. 
 Makes sound financial choices by using appropriate resources. 

 

HUMAN RELATIONS 
 Understands ethnic and cultural differences. 
 Understands human differences. 

TECHNOLOGY 
 Obtains information electronically and organizes it 

successfully 
 Conveys information using technology 
 Uses a variety of technological resources to solve problems. 

 
 

FINE AND PERFORMING ARTS 
 Experiences and evaluates a variety of music, art, or drama. 

 
 

WELLNESS 
 Understands human growth and development 
 Identifies the values of good nutrition and physical activity  
 Evaluates the impact of addictive substances and behaviors 

  
                      LIFE SKILLS AND PERFORMANCES  
 
Within the school setting, students in the Millard Public Schools will: 
 
 
READINESS FOR WORK 

 Demonstrate the ability to manage time 
 Demonstrate the ability to follow directions 
 Solve problems by processing available information pertinent to a 

given situation, making decisions as appropriate 
 Develop ability to work with others to accomplish tasks/goals 
 Demonstrate essential knowledge of good work habits 
 Demonstrate responsibility 

 
READINESS FOR LIFE-LONG LEARNING 

 Demonstrate ability to set and pursue short term and long term goals 
 Obtain, organize and evaluate information successfully 
 Develop the attributes of: 

- integrity, 
- self-discipline, 
- positive attitude 
- perseverance 
 
 

CITIZENSHIP  
 Participate in community and/or school organization 
 Respect diversity 
 Respect the rights of others 
 Treat others in a considerate and non-demeaning 

manner 
 
 
 
Revised: Strategic Planning, December 5, 1996 
T-Chart Approved: Millard Board of Education, January 13, 1997 
 
 
 
 
Rule Adopted: May 3, 1999                                                Millard Public Schools 
Revised: June 18, 2001; July 21, 2003;                                       Omaha, Nebraska 
     December 4, 2006; March 2, 2009; March 1, 2010 
     April 18, 2011 

167



3 

PreK-12 Science Curriculum Planning Committee Members 2010-2011 
 

Under the facilitation of Clara Hoover and Nancy Thornblad, MEP Facilitators 
 
Jamie Anderson Morton Elementary School Kindergarten Teacher 
Susan Anglemyer Upchurch Elementary School Principal 
Lori Bartels Don Stroh Administration Center Special Education Elementary Coordinator 
Tyler Berzina West High School Science Teacher 
Tom Boldt North High School Science Teacher 
Pam Brennan Don Stroh Administration Center Special Education Elementary Program Facilitator 
Dave Buckley North High School Science Teacher 
Curtis Case South High School Principal 
Julie Coe Rockwell Elementary School Third Grade Teacher 
Dayna Derichs Wheeler Elementary School Fifth Grade Teacher 
Ann Gapinski Central Middle School Assistant Principal 
Jann Glesmann Beadle Middle School Science Teacher 
Chris Howe Kiewit Middle School Science Teacher 
Kara Hutton Don Stroh Administration Center  Coordinator of Special Projects 
Megan Hylok West High School Science Teacher 
Susan Javon South High School Science Teacher 
Ron Kaspar South High School Science Teacher 
Diane Kinney North Middle School Science Teacher 
Jason Krska West High School Science Teacher and Department Head 
Jacen Lefholtz Ron Witt Support Service Center MEP Technology Facilitator 
Shelley McCabe Ron Witt Support Service Center  PreK/Title I MEP Facilitator 
Jennifer Oddo Reagan Elementary School First Grade Teacher 
Tyler Pearson North High School Science Teacher 
Tyler Renken South High School Special Education/Science Teacher 
Nichole Schwab Russell Middle School Science Teacher and Department Head 
Kaye Schweigert Kiewit Middle School Special Education Teacher 
John Spehn Central Middle School Science Teacher 
Trina Switzer Andersen Middle School Science Teacher 
Jerri Wesley Rockwell Elementary School Principal 

 

168



4 

 

PreK-12 Science Community Focus Group 
 
Under the facilitation of Clara Hoover and Nancy Thornblad, MEP Facilitators 
 
Jason Heinze   Schemmer (architecture firm)  
Clara Hoover   Millard Public Schools 
Christine Jacobsen  Papio Missouri River Natural Resources District (Parent) 
Sara Klein   Parent 
Michaela Lucas  NASA Nebraska Space Grant and EPSCoR (UNO) (Parent) 
Laura Nielsen   Pediatrician (Parent) 
Stacey Ocander  Metropolitan Community College (Parent) 
Renae Rust   University of Nebraska at Omaha Biology Department (Parent) 
William Tapprich  University of Nebraska at Omaha Biology Department 
Nancy Thornblad  Millard Public Schools 
 

169



5 

Instructional Materials Selection Committees 
 
Elementary School 
 

Under the facilitation of Nancy Thornblad, MEP Facilitator 
 

Jamie Anderson   Morton Elementary School 
Susan Anglemyer   Upchurch Elementary School 
Lori Bartels    Special Education Elementary Coordinator 
Pam Brennan    Special Education Elementary Program Facilitator 
Julie Coe    Rockwell Elementary School 
Erin Dahl    Ezra Elementary School 
Dayna Derichs    Wheeler Elementary School 
Tammy Gebhart   Math MEP Facilitator 
Jann Glesmann   Beadle Middle School 
Gina Hill    Upchurch Elementary School 
Kara Hutton    Coordinator of Special Projects 
Jacen Lefholtz    MEP Technology Facilitator 
Lynne Lyons    Disney Elementary School 
Connie Masek    Wheeler Elementary School 
Shelley McCabe   PreK/Title I MEP Facilitator 
Karen Naylor    Willowdale Elementary School 
Kim Nissen    Black Elk Elementary School 
Jennifer Oddo    Reagan Elementary School 
Colette Schweers   Sandoz Elementary School 
Debra Sheldon    Cody Elementary School 
Brooke Studt    Neihardt Elementary School 
Jerri Wesley    Rockwell Elementary School 
 
Middle School 
 

Under the facilitation of Clara Hoover, MEP Facilitator 
 

Erin Dahl    Ezra Elementary School 
Bentley Benson   Kiewit Middle School 
Jon Buscher    North Middle School 
Erin Byrd    Russell Middle School 
Suzie Devney-Hankins  Kiewit Middle School 
Tracy Harrington   Beadle Middle School 
Bruce Hayden    North Middle School 
Beth Hemphill    Russell Middle School 
Toni Henry    Andersen Middle School 

170



6 

Chris Howe    Kiewit Middle School 
Kara Hutton    Coordinator of Special Projects 
Janet Jizba    North Middle School 
Lisa Klosner    Central Middle School 
Alan Koebel    Beadle Middle School 
Jason Krska    West High School 
Jacen Lefholtz    MEP Technology Facilitator 
Susie Mahoney   Russell Middle School 
Teresa Myers    Central Middle School 
Cindy Orso    Central Middle School 
Kent Speer    Beadle Middle School 
John Spehn    Central Middle School 
Nancy Starr    Andersen Middle School 
Trina Switzer    Andersen Middle School 
Amanda Wiltgen   Central Middle School 
 
High School 
 

Under the facilitation of Clara Hoover, MEP Facilitator 
 

Sara Bailey    Horizon High School 
Tyler Berzina    West High School 
Randy Derrig    North High School 
Katy Dornbos    West High School 
Sharon Eblen    North High School 
Peter Grimes    North High School 
Angela Halloran   South High School 
Justin Higgins    West High School 
Johanna Hon    South High School 
Megan Hylok    West High School 
Jacen Lefholtz    MEP Technology Facilitator 
Susie Lemons    South High School 
Tim Leuschen    South High School 
Krista Moravec   West High School 
Tom Neumann   South High School 
Maureen Ord    North High School 
Tyler Pearson    North High School 
Nate Seggerman   West High School 
John Swoboda    North High School 
Jennifer Wilson   South High School 
 

171



7 

Phase I Timeline 
 
 

October 2010 Orientation was held for Curriculum Planning Committee. 
 

November 2010 
Curriculum Planning Committee met. 
 

December 2010 

Research groups conducted research in the following areas. 
 Inquiry 
 Integration with other content areas 
 Technology 
 Scope and sequence 

December 2010 Community Focus Group met. 
 

January 2011 
Curriculum Planning Committee met. 
Research shared with Curriculum Planning Committee. 

February 2011 Vendor fairs were held for Instructional Materials Selection Committees. 

March 2011 Instructional Materials Selection Committees met. 

March 2011 
Curriculum Planning Committee members met in small, grade band 
groups. 

April 2011 Curriculum Planning Committee members met in small, grade band 
groups.  

May 2011 Middle Level Instructional Materials Selection Committee met. 

 

Phase I Activities To Be Completed 
 

May 2011 Framework Part I: PreK-8 presented to Board of Education for approval. 

May 2011 
Elementary Field Study Proposal presented to Board of Education for 
approval. 

May 2011 High school Curriculum Planning Committee finalizes high school course 
offering. 

June 2011 Framework Part II: 9-12 presented to Board of Education for approval. 

 

 

172



8 

Introduction to PreK-12 Science Matrix 

Introduction 
 

The intent of this matrix is to display the Nebraska State Science Standards, approved by the 
Nebraska State Board of Education on October 6, 2010, as well as the additional Millard 
Standards and Indicators created through the Science Curriculum Planning Committee, in an 
organized fashion showing the scope and sequence of the standards and indicators.  Additional 
information is provided, where appropriate, to show progression in concepts and skills. 
 
Legend 
 
The Nebraska State Science Standards are divided into grade bands: K-2, 3-5, 6-8 and 9-12.  The 
standards and indicators for each grade band must be taught sometime during the grades within 
each band. 
 
  Cell without shading: No State grade band standard or indicator exists. 
 
 Shaded cell: State grade band standard or indicator is not taught in this grade. 
 
Inquiry, the Nature of Science, and Technology are taught in all grades where listed. 
 
In the Life Science, Physical Science, and Earth and Space Sciences parts of the matrix, grade 
numbers are noted in highest grade of each grade band (2, 5, 8, 12).  The grade number indicates 
the grade in which each indicator is taught.  If no grade is noted, the indicator is taught in only 
the highest grade of the grade band. 
 

Nomenclature 
 

The PreK-12 Science Standards and Indicators are sequenced in the following matrix. 
The nomenclature for the standards and indicators is as follows: 
 
 SC Science 
 LA Language Arts 
 
 S State Standard 

M Millard Standard  
 

 P4-12 Grade Level 
 
 1-4 Comprehensive Standard 
  1 – Inquiry, the Nature of Science, and Technology 
  2 – Physical Science 
  3 – Life Science 
  4 – Earth and Space Sciences 
 

173



9 

 Comprehensive Standard  Grade Band Standard 
 Inquiry, the Nature of  1 – Abilities to Do Scientific Inquiry 
    Science and Technology 2 – Nature of Science 
     3 – Technology  
 
 Physical Science  1 – Matter 
     2 – Force and Motion 
     3 – Energy 
 
 Life Science   1 – Structure and Function of Living Systems 
     2 – Heredity 
     3 – Flow of Matter and Energy in Ecosystems 
     4 – Biodiversity 
 

 Earth and Space Sciences 1 – Earth in Space 
     2 – Earth Structures and Processes 
     3 – Energy in Earth’s Systems 
     4 – Earth’s History   
 
Examples 
 
SC S 08.1.3.a  Science, State Standard, Grade 8, Comprehensive Standard 1, 
   Grade Band Standard 3, Indicator a 
 
SC M 03.1.1.b Science, Millard Standard, Grade 3, Comprehensive Standard 1, 

Grade Band Standard 1, Indicator b 
 

Indicators are grouped by concept within each grade band standard. 
 

Grade Band Standard   Concepts of Each Grade Band Standard 
 Abilities to Do   Scientific Questioning 
    Scientific Inquiry  Scientific Investigations 
     Scientific Controls and Variables 
     Scientific Tools 
     Scientific Observations 
     Scientific Data Collection 
     Scientific Interpretations, Reflections and Applications 
     Scientific Communication 
     Mathematics 
     Reading Comprehension (LA) 
 

 Nature of Science  Scientific Knowledge 
     Science and Society 
     Science as a Human Endeavor 
 
 Technology   Abilities to Do Technical Design 
     Understanding of Technical Design 
 _______________ 

174



10 

Matter    Properties and Structure of Matter 
     States of Matter 
     Physical and Chemical Changes 
     Atomic Structure 
     Classification of Matter 
 

 Force and Motion  Motion 
     Inertia/Newton’s 1st Law 
     Forces/Newton’s 2nd Law 
     Newton’s 3rd Law 
     Universal Forces 
 

 Energy    Sound/Mechanical Waves 
     Light 
     Heat 
     Electricity/Magnetism 
     Nuclear 
     Conservation 
     Mechanical Energy 
     Chemical Energy 
 _______________ 
 

Structure and Function  Characteristics of Life 
    of Living Systems  Cellular Composition of Organisms 
     Characteristics of Living Organisms 
     Behavior 
 

 Heredity   Inherited Traits 
     Reproduction 
 

Flow of Matter and  Flow of Energy 
    Energy in Ecosystems  Ecosystems 
     Impact on Ecosystems 
 

 Biodiversity   Biological Adaptations 
     Biological Evolution 
 _______________ 
 

 Earth in Space   Objects in the Sky and Universe 
     Motion of Objects in the Solar System 
     Gravitational Effects 
 

 Earth Structures and  Properties of Earth Materials 
    Processes   Earth’s Processes 
     Use of Earth Materials 
 

 Energy in Earth’s Systems Energy Sources 
     Weather and Climate 
 

 Earth’s History   Past/Present Earth 
 

175



11 

 
K- 12 Comprehensive Standard:  Inquiry, the Nature of Science, and Technology 

Students will combine scientific processes and knowledge with scientific reasoning and critical 
thinking to ask questions about phenomena and propose explanations based on gathered 

evidence.  
Concepts Grade Level Standards 

 

 Pre K Kindergarten Grade 1 Grade 2 Grade 3 Grade 4 Grade 5 Grade 6 Grade 7 Grade 8 

Abilities  
to do  

Scientific 
Inquiry 

SC M P4.1.1 
Students, 
with adult 
guidance, will 
ask questions 
conduct 
investiga-
tions, make 
and 
communicate 
observations. 

SC M 00.1.1 
Students will 
ask questions 
conduct 
investiga-
tions, make 
and 
communicate 
observations. 

SC M 01.1.1 
Students will 
ask questions 
and conduct 
investigations 
that lead to 
observations 
and 
communica-
tion of 
findings. 

SC S 02.1.1 
Students will 
ask questions 
and conduct 
investigations 
that lead to 
observations 
and 
communica-
tion of 
findings.  
 

SC M 03.1.1 
Students will 
plan and 
conduct 
investigations 
that lead to 
the 
development 
of 
explanations.  
 

SC M 04.1.1 
Students will 
plan and 
conduct 
investigations 
that lead to 
the 
development 
of 
explanations.  
 

SC S 05.1.1 
Students will 
plan and 
conduct 
investigations 
that lead to 
the 
development 
of 
explanations.  
 

SC M 06.1.1 
Students will 
design and 
conduct 
investigations 
that will lead 
to 
descriptions 
of 
relationships 
between 
evidence and 
explanations. 

SC M 07.1.1 
Students will 
design and 
conduct 
investigations 
that will lead 
to 
descriptions 
of 
relationships 
between 
evidence and 
explanations. 

SC S 08.1.1 
Students will 
design and 
conduct 
investigations 
that will lead 
to 
descriptions 
of 
relationships 
between 
evidence and 
explanations.  
 

Nature of 
Science 

SC M P4.1.2 
Students will 
describe how 
scientists go 
about their 
work.  
 

SC M 00.1.2 
Students will 
describe how 
scientists go 
about their 
work.  
 

SC M 1.1.2 
Students will 
describe how 
scientists go 
about their 
work.  
 

SC M 02.1.2 
Students will 
describe how 
scientists go 
about their 
work.  
 

 
 

SC M 03.1.2 
Students will 
describe how 
scientists go 
about their 
work.  
 

SC M 04.1.2 
Students will 
describe how 
scientists go 
about their 
work.  
 

SC S 05.1.2 
Students will 
describe how 
scientists go 
about their 
work.  
 

SC M 06.1.2 
Students will 
apply the 
nature of 
science to 
their own 
investiga-
tions.  
 

SC M 07.1.2 
Students will 
apply the 
nature of 
science to 
their own 
investiga-
tions.  
 

SC S 08.1.2 
Students will 
apply the 
nature of 
science to 
their own 
investiga-
tions. 
 

Technology 

SC M P4.1.3 
Students will 
explore a 
simple design 
problem.  
 

SC M 00.1.3 
Students will 
explore a 
simple design 
problem.  
 

SC M 01.1.3 
Students will 
solve a 
simple design 
problem.  
 

SC M 02.1.3  
Students will 
solve a 
simple design 
problem.  

 

SC M 03.1.3 
Students will 
solve a 
simple design 
problem.  
 

SC M 04.1.3 
Students will 
solve a 
simple design 
problem.  
 

SC S 05.1.3 
Students will 
solve a 
simple design 
problem.  
 

SC M 06.1.3 
Students will 
solve a 
design 
problem 
which 
involves one 
or two 
science 
concepts.  
 

SC M 07.1.3 
Students will 
solve a 
design 
problem 
which 
involves one 
or two 
science 
concepts.  
 

SC S 08.1.3 
Students will 
solve a 
design 
problem 
which 
involves one 
or two 
science 
concepts.  
 

 

176



12 

 
K- 12 Comprehensive Standard:  Inquiry, the Nature of Science, and Technology 

Students will combine scientific processes and knowledge with scientific reasoning and critical 
thinking to ask questions about phenomena and propose explanations based on gathered 

evidence. 
Concept  Grade Level Standards 
 

Abilities  
to do  

Scientific 
Inquiry 

Pre K Kindergarten Grade 1 Grade 2 Grade 3 Grade 4 Grade 5 Grade 6 Grade 7 Grade 8 
SC M P4.1.1 
Students, 
with adult 
guidance, will 
ask questions 
about 
observations 
and 
communicate 
findings.  
 

SC M 00.1.1 
Students will 
ask questions 
and conduct 
investigations 
that lead to 
observations 
and 
communica-
tion of 
findings.  

SC M 01.1.1 
Students will 
ask questions 
and conduct 
investigations 
that lead to 
observations 
and 
communica-
tion of 
findings.  
 

SC S 02.1.1 
Students will 
ask questions 
and conduct 
investigations 
that lead to 
observations 
and 
communica-
tion of 
findings.  
 

SC M 03.1.1 
Students will 
plan and 
conduct 
investigations 
that lead to 
the 
development 
of 
explanations.  
 

SC M 04.1.1 
Students will 
plan and 
conduct 
investigations 
that lead to 
the 
development 
of 
explanations.  
 

SC S 05.1.1 
Students will 
plan and 
conduct 
investigations 
that lead to 
the 
development 
of 
explanations.  
 

SC M 06.1.1 
Students will 
design and 
conduct 
investigations 
that will lead 
to 
descriptions 
of 
relationships 
between 
evidence and 
explanations.  
(Structured 
Level Inquiry) 
 

SC M 07.1.1 
Students will 
design and 
conduct 
investigations 
that will lead 
to 
descriptions 
of 
relationships 
between 
evidence and 
explanations.  
(Guided Level 
Inquiry) 

SC S 08.1.1 
Students will 
design and 
conduct 
investigations 
that will lead 
to 
descriptions 
of 
relationships 
between 
evidence and 
explanations.  

 
Scientific 

Questioning 
 

SC M P4.1.1.a  
With adult 
guidance, ask 
questions that 
relate to a 
science topic  
 

SC M 00.1.1.a  
Ask questions 
that relate to a 
science topic  
 

SC M 01.1.1.a  
Ask questions 
that relate to a 
science topic  
 

SC S 02.1.1.a  
Ask questions 
that relate to a 
science topic  
 

SC M 03.1.1.a  
Ask testable 
scientific 
questions  
 

SC M 04.1.1.a  
Ask testable 
scientific 
questions  
 

SC S 05.1.1.a  
Ask testable 
scientific 
questions  
 

SC M 06.1.1.a  
Formulate 
testable 
questions that 
lead to 
predictions and 
scientific 
investigations  
 

SC M 07.1.1.a  
Formulate 
testable 
questions that 
lead to 
predictions and 
scientific 
investigations  
 

SC S 08.1.1.a  
Formulate 
testable 
questions that 
lead to 
predictions 
and scientific 
investigations  
 

 
Scientific  

Investigations 
 

SC M P4.1.1.b  
Use their five 
senses to 
participate in 
simple 
investigations 
with teacher 
direction 
 

SC M 00.1.1.b  
Use their five 
senses to 
participate in 
simple 
investigations  
 

SC M 01.1.1.b  
Conduct 
simple 
investigations 
with teacher 
direction  
 

SC S 02.1.1.b  
Conduct 
simple 
investigations  
 

SC M 03.1.1.b  
Plan and 
conduct 
investigations 
and identify 
factors that 
have the 
potential to 
impact an 
investigation  
 

SC M 04.1.1.b  
Plan and 
conduct 
investigations 
and identify 
factors that 
have the 
potential to 
impact an 
investigation  
 

SC S 05.1.1.b  
Plan and 
conduct 
investigations 
and identify 
factors that 
have the 
potential to 
impact an 
investigation  
 

SC M 06.1.1.b  
Conduct 
logical and 
sequential 
investigations  
 

SC M 07.1.1.b  
Design and 
conduct logical 
and sequential 
investigations 
including 
repeated trials  
 

SC S 08.1.1.b  
Design and 
conduct logical 
and sequential 
investigations 
including 
repeated trials  
 
 
 
 
 
 

177



13 

 
Scientific 
Controls  

And Variables 

       SC M 06.1.1.c  
Determine 
controls and 
use 
independent 
(manipulated) 
variables  
 

SC M 07.1.1.c  
Determine 
controls and 
use dependent 
(responding) 
and 
independent 
(manipulated) 
variables  
 

SC S 08.1.1.c  
Determine 
controls and 
use dependent 
(responding) 
and 
independent 
(manipulated) 
variables  
 

 
Scientific  

Tools 
 

SC M P4.1.1.c  
Explore the 
guided use of 
simple tools   
 

SC M 00.1.1.c  
Select and use 
simple tools 
with guidance 
 

SC M 01.1.1.c  
Select and use 
simple tools 
appropriately  
 

SC S 02.1.1.c  
Select and use 
simple tools 
appropriately  
 

SC M 03.1.1.c  
Select and use 
equipment 
correctly and 
accurately  
 

SC M 04.1.1.c  
Select and use 
equipment 
correctly and 
accurately  
 

SC S 05.1.1.c  
Select and use 
equipment 
correctly and 
accurately  
 

SC M 06.1.1.d 
Select and use 
equipment 
appropriate to 
the 
investigation, 
demonstrate 
correct 
techniques  
 

SC M 07.1.1.d 
Select and use 
equipment 
appropriate to 
the 
investigation, 
demonstrate 
correct 
techniques, 
and apply 
appropriate 
mathematical 
concepts  
 

SC S 08.1.1.d 
Select and use 
equipment 
appropriate to 
the 
investigation, 
demonstrate 
correct 
techniques, 
and apply 
appropriate 
mathematical 
concepts  
 

 
Scientific  

Observations 
 

SC M P4.1.1.d  
Observe and 
explore the 
world of 
familiar objects 
using their 
senses and 
tools 
 

SC M 00.1.1.d  
Describe 
objects, 
organisms, or 
events using 
pictures, 
words, and 
numbers  
 

SC M 01.1.1.d  
Describe 
objects, 
organisms, or 
events using 
pictures, 
words, and 
numbers  
 

SC S 02.1.1.d  
Describe 
objects, 
organisms, or 
events using 
pictures, 
words, and 
numbers  
 

SC M 03.1.1.d  
Make relevant 
observations 
and 
measurements  
 

SC M 04.1.1.d  
Make relevant 
observations 
and 
measurements  
 

SC S 05.1.1.d  
Make relevant 
observations 
and 
measurements  
 

SC M 06.1.1.e 
Make 
qualitative and 
quantitative 
observations  
 

SC M 07.1.1.e 
Make 
qualitative and 
quantitative 
observations  
 

SC S 08.1.1.e 
Make 
qualitative and 
quantitative 
observations  
 

 
Scientific Data 

Collection 
 

SC M P4.1.1.e  
Begin to record 
observations  
(drawings, 
tallies) 

SC M 00.1.1.e  
Collect and 
record 
observations  
(drawings, 
tallies) 
 

SC M 01.1.1.e  
Collect and 
record 
observations 
(drawings, 
pictographs, 
charts, tallies) 
 

SC S 02.1.1.e  
Collect and 
record 
observations  
 
SC M 02.1.1.e  
Collect and 
record 
observations 
(charts, tables, 
drawings, bar 
graphs) 
 
 

SC M 03.1.1.e  
Collect and 
organize data 
(tables, 
graphs, charts) 
 

SC M 04.1.1.e  
Collect and 
organize data 
(tables, 
graphs, charts) 
 

SC S 05.1.1.e  
Collect and 
organize data 
 
SC M 05.1.1.e  
Collect and 
organize data 
(tables, 
graphs, charts) 
 
 

SC M 06.1.1.f 
Record and 
represent data 
appropriately 
and accurately  
 

SC M 07.1.1.f 
Record and 
represent data 
appropriately, 
and review for 
quality and 
accuracy 
 

SC S 08.1.1.f 
Record and 
represent data 
appropriately 
and review for 
quality, 
accuracy, and 
relevancy  
 

178



14 

 
Scientific 

Interpretations, 
Reflections, and 

Applications 

    
 

SC M 03.1.1.f  
Develop a 
reasonable 
explanation 
based on 
collected data  

SC M 04.1.1.f  
Develop a 
reasonable 
explanation 
based on 
collected data  

SC S 05.1.1.f  
Develop a 
reasonable 
explanation 
based on 
collected data  

SC M 06.1.1.g  
Evaluate 
predictions, 
draw logical 
inferences 
based on 
observations 
 

SC M 07.1.1.g  
Evaluate 
predictions, 
draw logical 
inferences 
based on 
observed 
patterns and 
relationships  
 

SC S 08.1.1.g  
Evaluate 
predictions, draw 
logical inferences 
based on 
observed 
patterns/ 
relationships, 
and account for 
non-relevant 
information  
 

 
Scientific 

Communication 
 

SC M P4.1.1.f  
Begin to use 
drawings and 
words to 
describe and 
share 
observations 
with others  
 

SC M 00.1.1.f  
Use drawings 
and words to 
describe and 
share 
observations 
with others 
(science 
notebooks) 
 

SC M 01.1.1.f  
Use drawings 
and words to 
describe and 
share 
observations 
with others 
(science 
notebooks) 
 

SC S 02.1.1.f  
Use drawings 
and words to 
describe and 
share 
observations 
with others  
 
SC M 02.1.1.f  
Use drawings 
and words to 
describe and 
share 
observations 
with others 
(science  
notebooks) 
 
 

SC M 03.1.1.g  
Share 
information, 
procedures, 
and results 
with peers 
and/or adults 
(science 
notebooks) 
 

SC M 04.1.1.g  
Share 
information, 
procedures, 
and results 
with peers 
and/or adults 
(science 
notebooks) 
 

SC S 05.1.1.g  
Share 
information, 
procedures, 
and results 
with peers 
and/or adults 
 
SC M 05.1.1.g  
Share 
information, 
procedures, 
and results 
with peers 
and/or adults 
(science 
notebooks) 
 
 

SC M 06.1.1.h 
Share 
information, 
procedures, 
results, and 
conclusions 
with 
appropriate 
audiences 
 

SC M 07.1.1.h 
Share 
information, 
procedures, 
results, and 
conclusions 
with 
appropriate 
audiences 
 

SC S 08.1.1.h 
Share 
information, 
procedures, 
results, and 
conclusions with 
appropriate 
audiences  
 

    SC M 03.1.1.h  
Provide 
feedback on 
scientific 
investigations  

SC M 04.1.1.h  
Provide 
feedback on 
scientific 
investigations  

SC S 05.1.1.h  
Provide 
feedback on 
scientific 
investigations  

SC M 06.1.1.i 
Analyze and 
provide 
appropriate 
critique of 
scientific 
investigations  
 

SC M 07.1.1.i 
Analyze and 
provide 
appropriate 
critique of 
scientific 
investigations  
 

SC S 08.1.1.i 
Analyze and 
provide 
appropriate 
critique of 
scientific 
investigations  
 

179



15 

 
 

Mathematics 
 

SC M P4.1.1.g  
Begin to use 
appropriate 
mathematics 
in all aspects 
of scientific 
inquiry  

SC M 00.1.1.g  
Use 
appropriate 
mathematics 
in all aspects 
of scientific 
inquiry  

SC M 01.1.1.g  
Use 
appropriate 
mathematics 
in all aspects 
of scientific 
inquiry  

SC S 02.1.1.g  
Use 
appropriate 
mathematics 
in all aspects 
of scientific 
inquiry  

SC M 03.1.1.i  
Use 
appropriate 
mathematics 
in all aspects 
of scientific 
inquiry  

SC M 04.1.1.i  
Use 
appropriate 
mathematics 
in all aspects 
of scientific 
inquiry  

SC S 05.1.1.i  
Use 
appropriate 
mathematics 
in all aspects 
of scientific 
inquiry  

SC M 06.1.1.j 
Use 
appropriate 
mathematics 
in all aspects 
of scientific 
inquiry  
 

SC M 07.1.1.j 
Use 
appropriate 
mathematics 
in all aspects 
of scientific 
inquiry  
 

SC S 08.1.1.j 
Use appropriate 
mathematics in 
all aspects of 
scientific inquiry  
 

 
Reading  

Comprehension: 
Informational 

Text 

SC M P4.1.1.h 
Explore 
informational 
text to gain 
meaning 

SC M 00.1.1.h 
Explore 
informational 
text to gain 
meaning 

LA S 01.1.6 
Extract and 
construct 
meaning using 
prior 
knowledge, 
applying text 
information, 
and monitoring 
comprehen-
sion while 
reading grade 
level text 

LA S 02.1.6 
Extract and 
construct 
meaning using 
prior 
knowledge, 
applying text 
information, 
and monitoring 
comprehen-
sion while 
reading grade 
level text 

LA S 03.1.6 
Extract and 
construct 
meaning using 
prior 
knowledge, 
applying text 
information, 
and monitoring 
comprehen-
sion while 
reading grade 
level text 

LA S 04.1.6 
Extract and 
construct 
meaning using 
prior 
knowledge, 
applying text 
information, 
and monitoring 
comprehen-
sion while 
reading grade 
level text 

LA S 05.1.6 
Extract and 
construct 
meaning using 
prior 
knowledge, 
applying text 
information, 
and monitoring 
comprehen-
sion while 
reading grade 
level text 
 

LA S 06.1.6.e 
Summarize, 
analyze, and 
synthesize 
informational 
text using 
main idea and 
supporting 
details 
 

LA S 07.1.6.e 
Summarize, 
analyze, and 
synthesize 
informational 
text using 
main idea and 
supporting 
details 
 

LA S 08.1.6.e 
Summarize, 
analyze, and 
synthesize 
informational text 
using main idea 
and supporting 
details 
 

  LA S 01.1.6.e 
Retell the main 
ideas from 
informational 
text 

LA S 02.1.6.e 
Retell and 
summarize the 
main ideas 
from 
informational 
text 

LA S 03.1.6.e 
Retell and 
summarize the 
main ideas 
from 
informational 
text using 
supporting 
details 

LA S 04.1.6.e 
Retell and 
summarize the 
main ideas 
from 
informational 
text using 
supporting 
details  

LA S 05.1.6.e 
Summarize 
and analyze 
the main ideas 
from 
informational 
text 

LA S 06.1.6.f 
Apply 
knowledge of 
organizational 
patterns found 
in 
informational 
text (e.g., 
sequence, 
description, 
cause and 
effect, 
compare / 
contrast, 
fact/opinion) 
 

LA S 07.1.6.f 
Apply 
knowledge of 
organizational 
patterns found 
in 
informational 
text (e.g., 
sequence, 
description, 
cause and 
effect, 
compare / 
contrast, 
fact/opinion) 

LA S 08.1.6.f 
Apply knowledge 
of organizational 
patterns found in 
informational text 
(e.g., sequence, 
description, 
cause and effect, 
compare / 
contrast, 
fact/opinion) 

 

180



16 

 
 

Reading  
Comprehension: 

Informational 
Text 

(continued) 

  LA S 01.1.6.f 
Identify the 
characteristics 
of 
organizational 
patterns found 
in 
informational 
text (e.g., 
sequence, 
compare / 
contrast) 

LA S 02.1.6.f 
Identify the 
characteristics 
of 
organizational 
patterns found 
in 
informational 
text (e.g., 
sequence, 
compare / 
contrast) 

LA S 03.1.6.f 
Identify the 
characteristics 
of 
organizational 
patterns found 
in 
informational 
text (e.g., 
sequence, 
compare / 
contrast) 

LA S 04.1.6.f 
Identify the 
characteristics 
of 
organizational 
patterns found 
in 
informational 
text (e.g., 
sequence, 
compare / 
contrast) 

LA S 05.1.6.f 
Identify the 
characteristics 
of 
organizational 
patterns found 
in 
informational 
text (e.g., 
sequence, 
compare / 
contrast) 

LA S 06.1.6.g 
Apply 
knowledge of 
text features to 
locate 
information 
and gain 
meaning from 
a text (e.g., 
index, maps, 
charts, tables, 
graphs, 
headings, 
subheadings) 

LA S 07.1.6.g 
Apply 
knowledge of 
text features to 
locate 
information 
and gain 
meaning from 
a text (e.g., 
index, maps, 
charts, tables, 
graphs, 
headings, 
subheadings) 

LA S 08.1.6.g 
Apply 
knowledge of 
text features to 
locate 
information 
and gain 
meaning from 
a text (e.g., 
index, maps, 
charts, tables, 
graphs, 
headings, 
subheadings) 

  LA M 01.1.6.g 
Identify text 
features in 
informational 
text (e.g., 
titles, bold 
print, italic, 
illustrations, 
captions, table 
of contents) 
 

LA S 02.1.6.g 
Use text 
features to 
locate 
information 
and gain 
meaning from 
a text (e.g., 
table of 
contents, 
maps, charts, 
illustrations, 
titles, bold 
print, captions) 

LA S 03.1.6.g 
Apply 
knowledge of 
text features to 
locate 
information 
and gain 
meaning from 
a test (e.g., 
table of 
contents, 
maps, charts, 
illustrations, 
headings, 
captions, 
font/format 
styles) 

LA S 04.1.6.g 
Apply 
knowledge of 
text features to 
locate 
information 
and gain 
meaning from 
a text (e.g., 
glossary, 
maps, charts, 
tables, graphs, 
illustrations, 
headings, 
subheadings, 
captions, 
font/format 
styles) 

LA S 05.1.6.g 
Apply 
knowledge of 
text features to 
locate 
information 
and gain 
meaning from 
a text (e.g., 
index, maps, 
charts, tables, 
graphs, 
headings, 
subheadings) 

   

Writing Genres LA M P4.2.2.a 
Write for a 
selected 
purpose (e.g., 
lists, alphabet 
book, story 
with picture, in 
pretend/ free 
play, label 
objects in 
classroom) 

LA M 00.2.2.a 
Write for a 
selected 
purpose (e.g., 
lists, alphabet 
book, story 
with picture, 
label objects in 
classroom) 

LA S 01.2.2.a 
Write for a 
selected 
purpose (e.g., 
story with 
pictures 
factual book, 
alphabet book, 
poem, letter) 

LA S 02.2.2.a 
Write for a 
selected 
purpose (e.g., 
story with 
pictures 
factual book, 
alphabet book, 
poem, letter) 

LA S 03.2.2.a 
Write in a 
selected genre 
considering 
purpose (e.g., 
inform, 
entertain, 
persuade, 
instruct) 

LA S 04.2.2.a 
Write in a 
selected genre 
considering 
purpose (e.g., 
inform, 
entertain, 
persuade, 
instruct) 

LA S 05.2.2.a 
Write in a 
selected genre 
considering 
purpose (e.g., 
inform, 
entertain, 
persuade, 
instruct) 

   

 

181



17 

 

K- 12 Comprehensive Standard:  Inquiry, the Nature of Science, and Technology 
Students will combine scientific processes and knowledge with scientific reasoning and 
critical thinking to ask questions about phenomena and propose explanations based on 

gathered evidence. 
Concept  Grade Level Standards 
 

Nature of 
Science 

Pre K Kindergarten Grade 1 Grade 2 Grade 3 Grade 4 Grade 5 Grade 6 Grade 7 Grade 8 
SC M P4.1.2 
Students will 
describe how 
scientists go 
about their 
work.  

SC M 00.1.2 
Students will 
describe how 
scientists go 
about their 
work.  

SC M 01.1.2 
Students will 
describe how 
scientists go 
about their 
work.  

SC M 02.1.2 
Students will 
describe how 
scientists go 
about their 
work.  

SC M 03.1.2 
Students will 
describe how 
scientists go 
about their 
work.  

SC M 04.1.2 
Students will 
describe how 
scientists go 
about their 
work.  

SC S 05.1.2 
Students will 
describe how 
scientists go 
about their 
work.  

SC M 06.1.2 
Students will 
apply the 
nature of 
science to 
their own 
investigations. 
 

SC M 07.1.2 
Students will 
apply the 
nature of 
science to 
their own 
investigations. 

SC S 08.1.2 
Students will 
apply the 
nature of 
science to 
their own 
investigations. 

 
Scientific 

Knowledge 
 

   SC M 02.1.2.a  
Recognize that 
scientific 
explanations 
are based on 
evidence and 
scientific 
knowledge  

SC M 03.1.2.a  
Recognize that 
scientific 
explanations 
are based on 
evidence and 
scientific 
knowledge  

SC M 04.1.2.a  
Recognize that 
scientific 
explanations 
are based on 
evidence and 
scientific 
knowledge  

SC S 05.1.2.a  
Recognize that 
scientific 
explanations 
are based on 
evidence and 
scientific 
knowledge  

SC M 06.1.2.a  
Recognize 
science is an 
ongoing 
process and 
the scientific 
community 
accepts and 
uses 
explanations 
until they 
encounter new 
experimental 
evidence not 
matching 
existing 
explanations  
 

SC M 07.1.2.a  
Recognize 
science is an 
ongoing 
process and 
the scientific 
community 
accepts and 
uses 
explanations 
until they 
encounter new 
experimental 
evidence not 
matching 
existing 
explanations  

SC S 08.1.2.a  
Recognize 
science is an 
ongoing 
process and 
the scientific 
community 
accepts and 
uses 
explanations 
until they 
encounter new 
experimental 
evidence not 
matching 
existing 
explanations  

 
Science  

and Society  

SC M P4.1.2.a 
Explore 
objects in 
nature and 
objects made 
by people 

SC M 00.1.2.a 
Recognize that 
some objects 
occur in nature 
and others 
have been 
designed or 
made by 
people 

SC M 01.1.2.a 
Differentiate 
between 
objects that 
occur in nature 
and others 
designed or 
made by 
people 

SC M 02.1.2.b 
Identify 
everyday 
objects 
designed or 
made by 
people  

SC M 03.1.2.b  
Recognize that 
new 
discoveries 
are always 
being made 
which impact 
scientific 
knowledge  
 

SC M 04.1.2.b  
Recognize that 
new 
discoveries 
are always 
being made 
which impact 
scientific 
knowledge  
 

SC S 05.1.2.b  
Recognize that 
new 
discoveries 
are always 
being made 
which impact 
scientific 
knowledge  
 

SC M 06.1.2.b  
Describe how 
scientific 
discoveries 
influence and 
change society  
 

SC M 07.1.2.b  
Describe how 
scientific 
discoveries 
influence and 
change society  
 

SC S 08.1.2.b  
Describe how 
scientific 
discoveries 
influence and 
change society  

182



18 

 
Science as a  

Human 
Endeavor 

 

 SC M 00.1.2.b 
Recognize 
people interact 
with the 
natural and 
man-made 
world  

SC M 01.1.2.b 
Recognize 
many different 
people study 
science  

SC M 02.1.2.c  
Recognize 
many different 
people study 
science  

SC M 03.1.2.c  
Recognize 
many different 
people study 
science  

SC M 04.1.2.c  
Recognize 
many different 
people study 
science  

SC S 05.1.2.c  
Recognize 
many different 
people study 
science  

SC M 06.1.2.c  
Recognize 
scientists from 
various 
cultures have 
made many 
contributions 
to explain the 
natural world  

SC M 07.1.2.c  
Recognize 
scientists from 
various 
cultures have 
made many 
contributions 
to explain the 
natural world  

SC S 08.1.2.c  
Recognize 
scientists from 
various 
cultures have 
made many 
contributions 
to explain the 
natural world  
 

 SC M 00.1.2.c 
Recognize that 
scientists work 
as individuals 
and in groups 
to investigate 
the natural 
world 

SC M 01.1.2.c 
Recognize that 
scientists work 
as individuals 
and in groups 
to investigate 
the natural 
world 

SC M 02.1.2.d 
Recognize that 
scientists work 
as individuals 
and in groups 
to investigate 
and 
communicate 
about the 
natural world 

      

 

183



19 

 
K- 12 Comprehensive Standard:  Inquiry, the Nature of Science, and Technology 

Students will combine scientific processes and knowledge with scientific reasoning and 
critical thinking to ask questions about phenomena and propose explanations based on 

gathered evidence. 
Concept  Grade Level Standards 
 

Technology 

Pre K Kindergarten Grade 1 Grade 2 Grade 3 Grade 4 Grade 5 Grade 6 Grade 7 Grade 8 
SC M P4.1.3 
Students will 
explore a 
simple design 
problem.  
 

SC M 00.1.3 
Students will 
explore a 
simple design 
problem.  
 

SC M 01.1.3 
Students will 
solve a 
simple design 
problem.  
 

SC M 02.1.3 
Students will 
solve a 
simple design 
problem.  
 

SC M 03.1.3 
Students will 
solve a 
simple design 
problem.  
 

SC M 04.1.3 
Students will 
solve a 
simple design 
problem.  
 

SC S 05.1.3 
Students will 
solve a 
simple design 
problem.  
 

SC M 06.1.3 
Students will 
solve a 
design 
problem 
which 
involves one 
or two 
science 
concepts.  
 

SC M 07.1.3 
Students will 
solve a 
design 
problem 
which 
involves one 
or two 
science 
concepts.  
 

SC S 08.1.3 
Students will 
solve a 
design 
problem 
which 
involves one 
or two 
science 
concepts.  
 

 
Abilities to do 

Technical 
Design 

SC M P4.1.3.a  
Identify a 
simple problem  

SC M 00.1.3.a  
Identify a 
simple problem  

SC M 01.1.3.a  
Identify a 
simple problem  

SC M 02.1.3.a  
Identify a 
simple problem  

SC M 03.1.3.a  
Identify a 
simple problem  

SC M 04.1.3.a  
Identify a 
simple problem  

SC S 05.1.3.a  
Identify a 
simple problem  

SC M 06.1.3.a  
Identify 
problems for 
technical 
design  

SC M 07.1.3.a  
Identify 
problems for 
technical 
design  

SC S 08.1.3.a  
Identify 
problems for 
technical 
design  

SC M P4.1.3.b  
Brainstorm 
solutions to a 
simple problem  

SC M 00.1.3.b  
Propose a 
solution to a 
simple problem  

SC M 01.1.3.b  
Propose a 
solution to a 
simple problem  

SC M 02.1.3.b  
Propose a 
solution to a 
simple problem  

SC M 03.1.3.b  
Propose a 
solution to a 
simple problem  

SC M 04.1.3.b  
Propose a 
solution to a 
simple problem  

SC S 05.1.3.b  
Propose a 
solution to a 
simple problem  
 

SC M 06.1.3.b  
Design a 
solution or 
product  

SC M 07.1.3.b  
Design a 
solution or 
product  

SC S 08.1.3.b  
Design a 
solution or 
product  
 

SC M P4.1.3.c  
Collaboratively 
implement 
proposed 
solution 

SC M 00.1.3.c  
Collaboratively 
implement 
proposed 
solution 

SC M 01.1.3.c  
Implement the 
proposed 
solution  

SC M 02.1.3.c  
Implement the 
proposed 
solution  

SC M 03.1.3.c  
Implement the 
proposed 
solution  

SC M 04.1.3.c  
Implement the 
proposed 
solution  

SC S 05.1.3.c  
Implement the 
proposed 
solution  

SC M 06.1.3.c  
Implement the 
proposed 
design  

SC M 07.1.3.c  
Implement the 
proposed 
design  

SC S 08.1.3.c  
Implement the 
proposed 
design  

SC M P4.1.3.d  
With adult 
guidance, 
reflect on the 
implementation 
of a solution  

SC M 00.1.3.d  
With adult 
guidance, 
reflect on the 
implementation 
of a solution  

SC M 01.1.3.d  
With adult 
guidance, 
evaluate the 
implementation 
of a solution  

SC M 02.1.3.d  
Evaluate the 
implementation 
of a solution 

SC M 03.1.3.d  
Evaluate the 
implementation  

SC M 04.1.3.d  
Evaluate the 
implementation 

SC S 05.1.3.d  
Evaluate the 
implementation  
 

SC M 06.1.3.d  
Evaluate 
completed 
technological 
designs or 
products  

SC M 07.1.3.d  
Evaluate 
completed 
technological 
designs or 
products  

SC S 08.1.3.d  
Evaluate 
completed 
technological 
designs or 
products 
 

SC M P4.1.3.e  
Communicate 
the problem, 
design, and 
solution  

SC M 00.1.3.e  
Communicate 
the problem, 
design, and 
solution  

SC M 01.1.3.e  
Communicate 
the problem, 
design, and 
solution  

SC M 02.1.3.e  
Communicate 
the problem, 
design, and 
solution  

SC M 03.1.3.e  
Communicate 
the problem, 
design, and 
solution  

SC M 04.1.3.e  
Communicate 
the problem, 
design, and 
solution  

SC S 05.1.3.e  
Communicate 
the problem, 
design, and 
solution  

SC M 06.1.3.e  
Communicate 
the process of 
technical 
design  

SC M 07.1.3.e  
Communicate 
the process of 
technical 
design  

SC S 08.1.3.e  
Communicate 
the process of 
technical 
design  

184



20 

 
Understanding 
of Technical 

Design  

SC M P4.1.3.f  
Begin to apply 
engineering 
design and 
creative 
thinking to 
solve practical 
problems with 
adult guidance 

SC M 00.1.3.f 
Begin to apply 
engineering 
design and 
creative 
thinking to 
solve practical 
problems with 
adult guidance 

SC M 01.1.3.f 
Begin to apply 
engineering 
design and 
creative 
thinking to 
solve practical 
problems with 
adult guidance 

SC M 02.1.3.f  
Begin to apply 
engineering 
design and 
creative 
thinking to 
solve practical 
problems with 
adult guidance 

SC M 03.1.3.f  
Apply 
engineering 
design and 
creative 
thinking to 
solve practical 
problems 

SC M 04.1.3.f  
Apply 
engineering 
design and 
creative 
thinking to 
solve practical 
problems 

SC M 05.1.3.f  
Apply 
engineering 
design and 
creative 
thinking to 
solve practical 
problems 

SC M 06.1.3.f 
Distinguish 
between 
scientific 
inquiry (asking 
questions 
about the 
natural world) 
and 
technological 
design (using 
science to 
solve practical 
problems)  

SC M 07.1.3.f 
Distinguish 
between 
scientific 
inquiry (asking 
questions 
about the 
natural world) 
and 
technological 
design (using 
science to 
solve practical 
problems)  

SC S 08.1.3.f 
Distinguish 
between 
scientific 
inquiry (asking 
questions 
about the 
natural world) 
and 
technological 
design (using 
science to 
solve practical 
problems)  
 

       SC M 06.1.3.g 
Describe how 
science and 
technology are 
reciprocal  

SC M 07.1.3.g 
Describe how 
science and 
technology are 
reciprocal  

SC S 08.1.3.g 
Describe how 
science and 
technology are 
reciprocal  

       SC M 06.1.3.h 
Recognize that 
solutions have 
intended and 
unintended 
consequences  
 

SC M 07.1.3.h 
Recognize that 
solutions have 
intended and 
unintended 
consequences  
 

SC S 08.1.3.h 
Recognize that 
solutions have 
intended and 
unintended 
consequences  
 

       SC M 06.1.3.i 
Compare and 
contrast the 
reporting of 
scientific 
knowledge and 
the reporting of 
technological 
knowledge  

SC M 07.1.3.i 
Compare and 
contrast the 
reporting of 
scientific 
knowledge and 
the reporting of 
technological 
knowledge  

SC S 08.1.3.i 
Compare and 
contrast the 
reporting of 
scientific 
knowledge and 
the reporting of 
technological 
knowledge  

 

185



21 

 
K- 12 Comprehensive Standard:  Physical Science 

Students will integrate and communicate the information, concepts, principles, processes, 
theories, and models of the Physical Sciences to make connections with the natural and 

engineered world.  

Concepts Grade Level Standards 
 

 Pre K Kindergarten Grade 1 Grade 2 Grade 3 Grade 4 Grade 5 Grade 6 Grade 7 Grade 8 

Matter 

SC M P4.2.1 
Students will 
explore 
properties of 
objects. 

SC M 00.2.1 
Students will 
explore 
properties of 
objects. 

SC M 01.2.1 
Students will 
observe and 
describe 
properties of 
objects and 
their 
behavior.  
 

SC S 02.2.1 
Students will 
observe and 
describe 
properties of 
objects and 
their 
behavior.  
 

 SC M 04.2.1 
Students will 
explore and 
describe the 
physical 
properties of 
matter and its 
changes.  
 

SC S 05.2.1  
Students will 
explore and 
describe the 
physical 
properties of 
matter and its 
changes. 

  SC S 08.2.1 
Students will 
identify and 
describe the 
particulate 
nature of 
matter 
including 
physical and 
chemical 
interactions.  
 

Force and 
Motion 

SC M P4.2.2 
Students will 
explore force 
and motion of 
objects. 

SC M 00.2.2 
Students will 
explore force 
and motion of 
objects. 

SC M 01.2.2 
Students will 
compare 
relative 
position and 
motion of 
objects.  

SC S 02.2.2 
Students will 
compare 
relative 
position and 
motion of 
objects.  
 

SC M 03.2.2  
Students will 
identify the 
influence of 
forces on 
motion.   

SC M 04.2.2  
Students will 
identify the 
influence of 
forces on 
motion.   

SC S 05.2.2  
Students will 
identify the 
influence of 
forces on 
motion.   

 SC M 07.2.2 
Students will 
investigate 
and describe 
forces and 
motion. 

SC S 08.2.2 
Students will 
investigate 
and describe 
forces and 
motion. 

Energy 

SC M P4.2.3 
Students will 
explore signs 
of energy 
transfer.  

SC M 00.2.3 
Students will 
explore signs 
of energy 
transfer.  

SC M 01.2.3 
Students will 
explore signs 
of energy 
transfer.  

SC M 02.2.3 
Students will 
observe and 
identify signs 
of energy 
transfer. 

SC M 03.2.3 
Students will 
observe and 
identify signs 
of energy 
transfer.  

SC M 04.2.3 
Students will 
observe and 
identify signs 
of energy 
transfer.  

SC S 05.2.3  
Students will 
observe and 
identify signs 
of energy 
transfer.  

SC M 06.2.3 
Students will 
identify and 
describe how 
energy 
systems and 
matter 
interact. 

SC M 07.2.3 
Students will 
identify and 
describe how 
energy 
systems and 
matter 
interact. 

SC S 08.2.3 
Students will 
identify and 
describe how 
energy 
systems and 
matter 
interact.  

 
 
 

186



22 

 
K- 12 Comprehensive Standard:  Physical Science 

Students will integrate and communicate the information, concepts, principles, processes, 
theories, and models of the Physical Sciences to make connections with the natural and 

engineered world.  
Concept  Grade Level Standards 
 

Matter 

Pre K Kindergarten Grade 1 Grade 2 Grade 3 Grade 4 Grade 5 Grade 6 Grade 7 Grade 8 

SC M P4.2.1 
Students will 
explore 
properties of 
objects. 

SC M 00.2.1 
Students will 
explore 
properties of 
objects. 

SC M 01.2.1 
Students will 
observe and 
describe 
properties of 
objects and 
their 
behavior.  
 

SC S 02.2.1 
Students will 
observe and 
describe 
properties of 
objects and 
their 
behavior.   
 
 

SC M 03.2.1 
Students will 
observe and 
describe 
properties of 
objects and 
their 
behavior.   
 

SC M 04.2.1 
Students will 
observe and 
describe 
properties of 
objects and 
their 
behavior.   
 

SC S 05.2.1  
Students will 
explore and 
describe the 
physical 
properties of 
matter and its 
changes.  
 

  SC S 08.2.1 
Students will 
identify and 
describe the 
particulate 
nature of 
matter 
including 
physical and 
chemical 
interactions.  
 

 
Properties and 

Structure of 
Matter 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  SC M 01.2.1.a  
Observe 
physical 
properties of 
objects 
(freezing and 
melting, 
sinking and 
floating, color, 
size, texture, 
shape, weight)  
 

SC S 02.2.1.a  
Observe 
physical 
properties of 
objects 
(freezing and 
melting, 
sinking and 
floating, color, 
size, texture, 
shape, weight)  
(Grade 1) 
 

  SC S 05.2.1.a  
Identify 
mixtures and 
pure 
substances   
 

  SC S 08.2.1.a  
Compare and 
contrast 
elements, 
compounds, 
and mixtures  
 

  SC M 01.2.1.b   
Separate and 
sort objects by 
physical 
attributes 
(freezing, 
sinking, 
floating, color, 
size, texture, 
shape, weight) 
 

SC S 02.2.1.b   
Separate and 
sort objects by 
physical 
attributes  
(Grade 1) 

  SC S 05.2.1.b  
Identify 
physical 
properties of 
matter (color, 
odor, elasticity, 
weight, 
volume)  

  SC S 08.2.1.b  
Describe 
physical and 
chemical 
properties of 
matter  

187



23 

 
Properties and 

Structure of 
Matter 

(continued) 
 

SC M P4.2.1.a  
Observe and 
describe 
objects using 
comparative 
terms (heavier, 
lighter, longer, 
shorter) 

SC M 00.2.1.a  
Begin to 
measure 
objects using 
standard and 
non-standard 
units  

SC M 01.2.1.c  
Begin to 
measure 
objects using 
standard units  
(inch, foot, 
gallon, pint, 
etc.) 

SC S 02.2.1.c   
Measure 
objects using 
standard and 
non-standard 
units  
(Grades P4, K, 
1, 2) 

SC M 03.2.1.a  
Use 
appropriate 
metric 
measurements 
to describe 
physical 
properties  

SC M 04.2.1.a 
Use 
appropriate 
metric 
measurements 
to describe 
physical 
properties  

SC S 05.2.1.c  
Use 
appropriate 
metric 
measurements 
to describe 
physical 
properties  

   

 
States of 
Matter 

 
 

SC M P4.2.1.b 
Explore solids 
and liquids  
 

SC M 00.2.1.b 
Explore solids 
and liquids  
 

SC M 01.2.1.d  
Identify solids 
and liquids and 
recognize that 
liquids take the 
shape of their 
container  

SC S 02.2.1.d  
Identify solids 
and liquids and 
recognize that 
liquids take the 
shape of their 
container 
(Grades P4, K, 
1) 
 

  SC S 05.2.1.d  
Identify state 
changes 
caused by 
heating and 
cooling solids, 
liquids, and 
gasses  

  SC S 08.2.1.c 
Recognize 
most 
substances 
can exist as a 
solid, liquid, or 
gas depending 
on temperature  
 
SC M 08.2.1.c 
Explain how 
most 
substances 
can exist as a 
solid, liquid, or 
gas depending 
on temperature 
 

      SC M 05.2.1.e 
Describe the 
characteristics 
of physical 
change             
(materials can 
be changed to 
their original 
state) 

  SC S 08.2.1.d 
Compare and 
contrast solids, 
liquids, and 
gasses based 
on properties 
of these states 
of matter  
 

 
Physical and 

Chemical 
Changes 

 
 

        SC S 08.2.1.e 
Distinguish 
between 
physical and 
chemical 
changes 
(phase 
changes, 
dissolving, 
burning, 
rusting)  
 

188



24 

 
Physical and 

Chemical 
Changes 

(continued) 

         SC S 08.2.1.f 
Recognize 
conservation of 
matter in 
physical and 
chemical 
changes  
 

 
Classification 

of Matter 
 

         SC S 08.2.1.g 
Classify 
substances 
into similar 
groups based 
on physical 
properties  
 

 

189



25 

 
K- 12 Comprehensive Standard:  Physical Science 

Students will integrate and communicate the information, concepts, principles, processes, 
theories, and models of the Physical Sciences to make connections with the natural and 

engineered world.  
Concept  Grade Level Standards 
 

Force and 
Motion 

Pre K Kindergarten Grade 1 Grade 2 Grade 3 Grade 4 Grade 5 Grade 6 Grade 7 Grade 8 
SC M P4.2.2 
Students will 
explore 
position and 
motion of 
objects. 

SC M 00.2.2 
Students will 
explore 
position and 
motion of 
objects. 

SC M 01.2.2 
Students will 
compare 
relative 
position and 
motion of 
objects. 
 

SC S 02.2.2  
Students will 
compare 
relative 
position and 
motion of 
objects. 
 

SC M 03.2.2 
Students will 
identify the 
influence of 
forces on 
motion.  
 

SC M 04.2.2  
Students will 
identify the 
influence of 
forces on 
motion.   

SC S 05.2.2  
Students will 
identify the 
influence of 
forces on 
motion.   
 

 SC M 07.2.2 
Students will 
investigate 
and describe 
forces and 
motion. 
 

SC S 08.2.2 
Students will 
investigate 
and describe 
forces and 
motion. 
 

 
Motion 

 
 
 

SC M P4 .2.2.a 
Identify 
location and 
motion of 
objects 

SC M 00.2.2.a 
Identify 
location of 
objects (above, 
below, beside, 
in front) 

 SC S 02.2.2.a  
State location 
and/or motion 
relative to 
another object 
or its 
surroundings 
(in front of, 
behind, 
between, over, 
under, faster, 
slower, forward 
and backward, 
up and down) 
(Grades P4, K, 
2) 

 SC M 04.2.2.a  
Describe 
motion by 
tracing and 
measuring an 
object’s 
position over a 
period of time 
(speed) 

SC S 05.2.2.a  
Describe 
motion by 
tracing and 
measuring an 
object’s 
position over a 
period of time 
(speed)  
(Grade 4) 

 SC M 07.2.2.a  
Describe 
motion of an 
object by its 
position and 
velocity  
 

SC S 08.2.2.a  
Describe 
motion of an 
object by its 
position and 
velocity  
(Grade 7) 

SC M P4.2.2.b 
Explore force 
and motion of 
objects 

SC M 00.2.2.b 
Explore force 
and motion of 
objects 

 SC S 02.2.2.b  
Describe how 
objects move 
in many 
different ways 
(straight, 
zigzag, round 
and round, 
back and forth, 
and fast and 
slow)  
(Grades P4, K, 
2) 
 

      

190



26 

 
Inertia /  

Newton’s 1st 
Law 

    
 

    SC M 07.2.2.b  
Recognize an 
object that is 
not being 
subjected to a 
force will 
continue to 
move at a 
constant speed 
in a straight 
line or stay at 
rest (Newton’s 
1st law)  
 
SC M 07.2.2.b 
Describe 
experiments 
with inertia 

SC S 08.2.2.b  
Recognize an 
object that is 
not being 
subjected to a 
force will 
continue to 
move at a 
constant speed 
in a straight 
line or stay at 
rest (Newton’s 
1st law)  
(Grade 7) 
 

 
Forces /  

Newton’s 2nd 
Law 

     SC M 04.2.1.b   
Describe 
changes in 
motion due to 
outside forces 
(push, pull, 
gravity)  
 
 

SC S 05.2.1.b   
Describe 
changes in 
motion due to 
outside forces 
(push, pull, 
gravity)  
(Grade 4) 
 
 

 SC M 07.2.2.c 
Compare the 
motion of 
objects related 
to the effects 
of balanced 
and 
unbalanced 
forces  
 
SC M 07.2.2.c 
Identify and 
apply the 
relationship 
among force, 
mass and 
acceleration 
 

SC S 08.2.2.c 
Compare the 
motion of 
objects related 
to the effects 
of balanced 
and 
unbalanced 
forces  
 

     SC M 04.2.1.c 
Describe the 
relationship 
between 
amount of 
mass and 
kinetic energy 
(Grade 4) 

    

 
Newton’s 3rd 

Law 
 

    
 

   
 

 SC M 07.2.2.d 
Explore 
Newton’s 3rd 
law (forces act 
in pairs) 

 

191



27 

 
Universal 
Forces 

 

  SC M 01.2.2.a 
Explore 
properties of 
magnetic 
behavior 

SC M 02.2.2.c 
Explore 
properties of 
magnetic 
behavior 
(Grade 1) 

SC M 03.2.2.a 
Describe                  
magnetic 
behavior in 
terms of 
attraction, 
repulsion and 
magnetic fields  

 SC S 05.2.2.c  
Describe 
magnetic 
behavior in 
terms of 
attraction and 
repulsion  
(Grade 3) 
 
SC M 05.2.2.c 
Describe 
magnetic 
behavior in 
terms of 
attraction, 
repulsion and 
magnetic fields 
(Grade 3) 
 

  SC S 08.2.2.d 
Recognize that 
everything on 
or around the 
Earth is pulled 
toward the 
Earth’s center 
by gravitational 
force 

 

192



28 

 
K- 12 Comprehensive Standard:  Physical Science 

Students will integrate and communicate the information, concepts, principles, processes, 
theories, and models of the Physical Sciences to make connections with the natural and 

engineered world.  
Concept  Grade Level Standards 
 

Energy 

Pre K Kindergarten Grade 1 Grade 2 Grade 3 Grade 4 Grade 5 Grade 6 Grade 7 Grade 8 
SC M P4.2.3 
Students will 
explore signs 
of energy 
transfer.  
 

SC M 00.2.3 
Students will 
explore signs 
of energy 
transfer.  
 

SC M 01.2.3 
Students will 
explore signs 
of energy 
transfer.  
 

SC M 02.2.3 
Students will 
observe signs 
of energy 
transfer. 
 

SC M 03.2.3 
Students will 
observe and 
identify signs 
of energy 
transfer.  
 

SC M 04.2.3 
Students will 
observe and 
identify signs 
of energy 
transfer.  
 

SC S 05.2.3  
Students will 
observe and 
identify signs 
of energy 
transfer.  
 

SC M 06.2.3 
Students will 
identify and 
describe how 
energy 
systems and 
matter. 

SC M 07.2.3 
Students will 
identify and 
describe how 
energy 
systems and 
matter. 

SC S 08.2.3 
Students will 
identify and 
describe how 
energy 
systems and 
matter 
interact.  
 

 
Sound / 

Mechanical 
Waves 

 
 
 
 

SC M P4.2.3.a 
Explore sound 
energy  
 

 SC M 01.2.3.a 
Observe and 
explore 
characteristics 
of sound 

SC M 02.2.3.a  
Observe and 
explore 
characteristics 
of sound 
(Grades P4, 1) 

SC M 03.2.3.a  
Recognize that 
sound is 
produced from 
vibrating 
objects; the 
sound can be 
changed by 
changing the 
vibration  

 SC S 05.2.3.a   
Recognize that 
sound is 
produced from 
vibrating 
objects; the 
sound can be 
changed by 
changing the 
vibration  
(Grade 3) 

SC M 06.2.3.a  
Recognize that 
vibrations set 
up wave-like 
disturbances 
that spread 
away from the 
source (sound, 
seismic, water 
waves)  
 

 SC S 08.2.3.a  
Recognize that 
vibrations set 
up wave-like 
disturbances 
that spread 
away from the 
source (sound, 
seismic, water 
waves)  
(Grade 6) 
 

SC M P4.2.3.b 
Explore light 
energy  
 

SC M 00.2.3.a 
Observe and 
explore 
characteristics 
of light energy  

 SC M 02.2.3b 
Observe and 
explore 
characteristics 
of light energy 
(Grades P4, K, 
2) 
 

  SC S 05.2.3.b   
Recognize that 
light travels in 
a straight line 
and can be 
reflected by an 
object (mirror) 

SC M 06.2.3.b  
Identify that 
waves move at 
different 
speeds in 
different 
materials  
 

 SC S 08.2.3.b  
Identify that 
waves move at 
different 
speeds in 
different 
materials  
(Grade 6) 
 

 
Light 

      SC S 05.2.3.c  
Recognize that 
light can travel 
through certain 
materials and 
not others 
(transparent, 
translucent, 
opaque)  

SC M 06.2.3.c 
Recognize that 
light interacts 
with matter by 
transmission 
(including 
refraction), 
absorption, or 
scattering 
(including 
reflection)  
 

 SC S 08.2.3.c 
Recognize that 
light interacts 
with matter by 
transmission 
(including 
refraction), 
absorption, or 
scattering 
(including 
reflection)  
(Grade 6) 

193



29 

Light 
(continued) 

 

       SC M 06.2.3.d 
Recognize that 
to see an 
object, light 
from the 
surface of the 
object must 
enter the eye; 
the color seen 
depends on 
the properties 
of the surface 
and the color 
of the available 
light sources  
 

 SC S 08.2.3.d 
Recognize that 
to see an 
object, light 
from the 
surface of the 
object must 
enter the eye; 
the color seen 
depends on 
the properties 
of the surface 
and the color 
of the available 
light sources  
(Grade 6) 
 

Heat      SC M 04.2.3.a 
Identify ways 
to generate 
heat (friction, 
burning, 
incandescent 
light bulb)  

SC S 05.2.3.d  
Identify ways 
to generate 
heat (friction, 
burning, 
incandescent 
light bulb) 
(Grade 4) 

 SC M 07.2.3.e 
Recognize that 
heat moves 
from warmer 
objects to 
cooler objects 
until both 
reach the 
same 
temperature 
 
SC M 07.2.3.e 
Identify the 
three ways 
heat moves 
from warmer 
objects to 
cooler objects 
(convection, 
conduction, 
radiation) 
 

SC S 08.2.3.e 
Recognize that 
heat moves 
from warmer 
objects to 
cooler objects 
until both 
reach the 
same 
temperature 
(Grade 7) 
 

     SC M 04.2.3.b 
Identify 
materials that 
act as thermal 
conductors or 
insulators  

SC S 05.2.3.e  
Identify 
materials that 
act as thermal 
conductors or 
insulators 
(Grade 4) 

   

194



30 

 

 

 
Electricity / 
Magnetism 

 

    SC M 03.2.3.b 
Recognize that 
the transfer of 
electricity in an 
electrical 
circuit requires 
a closed loop  

 SC S 05.2.3.f  
Recognize that 
the transfer of 
electricity in an 
electrical 
circuit requires 
a closed loop 
(Grade 3) 

   

 
Conservation 

 

       SC M 06.2.3.e 
Describe 
transfer of 
energy from 
electrical and 
magnetic 
sources to 
different 
energy forms 
(heat, light, 
sound) 

SC M 07.2.3.f 
Describe 
transfer of 
energy from 
electrical and 
magnetic 
sources to 
different 
energy forms 
(heat) 

SC S 08.2.3.f 
Describe 
transfer of 
energy from 
electrical and 
magnetic 
sources to 
different 
energy forms 
(heat, light, 
sound) 
 
SC M 08.2.3.f 
Describe 
transfer of 
energy from 
electrical and 
magnetic 
sources to 
different 
energy forms 
(heat, light, 
sound, 
chemical) 
 

       SC M 06.2.3.f 
Recognize all 
energy is 
neither created 
nor destroyed 

SC M 07.2.3.g 
Recognize all 
energy is 
neither created 
nor destroyed 

SC S 08.2.3.g 
Recognize all 
energy is 
neither created 
nor destroyed 

195



31 

 
K- 12 Comprehensive Standard:  Life Science 

Students will integrate and communicate the information, concepts, principles, processes, 
theories, and models of the Life Sciences to make connections with the natural and 

engineered world.  

Concepts Grade Level Standards 
 

 Pre K Kindergarten Grade 1 Grade 2 Grade 3 Grade 4 Grade 5 Grade 6 Grade 7 Grade 8 

Structure and 
Function of 

Living 
Systems 

SC M P4.3.1 
Students will 
observe the 
characteris-
tics of living 
things.  
 

SC M 00.3.1 
Students will 
investigate 
the 
characteris-
tics of living 
things.  
 

SC M 01.3.1 
Students will 
investigate 
the 
characteris-
tics of living 
things.  
 

SC S 02.3.1 
Students will 
investigate 
the 
characteris-
tics of living 
things.  
 

SC M 03.3.1 
Students will 
investigate 
and compare 
the 
characteris-
tics of living 
things.  
 

SC M 04.3.1 
Students will 
investigate 
and compare 
the 
characteris-
tics of living 
things.  
 

SC S 05.3.1 
Students will 
investigate 
and compare 
the 
characteris-
tics of living 
things.  
 

 SC M 07.3.1 
Students will 
investigate 
and describe 
the structure 
and function 
of living 
organisms.  
 

SC S 08.3.1 
Students will 
investigate 
and describe 
the structure 
and function 
of living 
organisms.  
 

Heredity 

SC M P4.3.2 
Students will 
observe 
changes in 
living things. 

SC M 00.3.2 
Students will 
observe 
changes in 
living things. 
 

SC M 01.3.2 
Students will 
observe 
changes in 
living things.  
 

SC S 02.3.2 
Students will 
recognize 
changes in 
living things.  
 

SC M 03.3.2 
Students will 
identify 
variations of 
inherited 
characteris-
tics and life 
cycles.  
 

SC M 04.3.2 
Students will 
identify 
variations of 
inherited 
characteris-
tics and life 
cycles.  
 

SC S 05.3.2 
Students will 
identify 
variations of 
inherited 
characteris-
tics and life 
cycles.  
 

 SC M 07.3.2 
Students will 
investigate 
and describe 
the 
relationship 
between 
reproduction 
and heredity.  
 

SC S 08.3.2 
Students will 
investigate 
and describe 
the 
relationship 
between 
reproduction 
and heredity.  
 

Flow of 
Matter and 
Energy in 

Ecosystems 

 
 

  
 

 
 
 

  SC S 05.3.3 
Students will 
describe 
relationships 
within an 
ecosystem.  
 

SC M 06.3.3 
Students will 
describe 
populations 
and 
ecosystems. 
 

 SC S 08.3.3 
Students will 
describe 
populations 
and 
ecosystems. 
 

Biodiversity 

SC M P4.3.4 
Students will 
observe 
changes in 
organisms.  
 

SC M 00.3.4 
Students will 
observe 
changes in 
organisms.  
 

SC M 01.3.4 
Students will 
observe 
changes in 
organisms.  
 

SC S 02.3.4 
Students will 
recognize 
changes in 
organisms.  
 

  SC S 05.3.4 
Students will 
describe 
changes in 
organisms 
over time.  
 

  SC S 08.3.4 
Students will 
identify 
characteris-
tics of 
organisms 
that help 
them survive.  
 

 

196



32 

 
K- 12 Comprehensive Standard:  Life Science 

Students will integrate and communicate the information, concepts, principles, processes, 
theories, and models of the Life Sciences to make connections with the natural and 

engineered world.  
Concept  Grade Level Standards 
 

Structure and 
Function of 

Living 
Systems 

Pre K Kindergarten Grade 1 Grade 2 Grade 3 Grade 4 Grade 5 Grade 6 Grade 7 Grade 8 
SC M P4.3.1 
Students will 
explore 
characteris-
tics of living 
things. 

SC M 00.3.1 
Students will 
investigate 
characteris-
tics of living 
things. 

SC M 01.3.1 
Students will 
investigate 
characteris-
tics of living 
things. 

SC S 02.3.1 
Students will 
investigate 
characteris-
tics of living 
things. 
 
 

SC M 03.3.1 
Students will 
investigate 
and compare 
the 
characteris-
tics of living 
things.  

SC M 04.3.1 
Students will 
investigate 
and compare 
the 
characteris-
tics of living 
things.  

SC S 05.3.1 
Students will 
investigate 
and compare 
the 
characteris-
tics of living 
things.  

 SC M 07.3.1 
Students will 
investigate 
and describe 
the structure 
and function 
of living 
organisms.  

SC S 08.3.1 
Students will 
investigate 
and describe 
the structure 
and function 
of living 
organisms.  

 
Characteristics 

of Life 
 
 
 

SC M P4.3.1.a 
Observe living 
and nonliving 
things 

SC M 00.3.1.a  
Differentiate 
between living 
and nonliving 
things  
 

 SC S 02.3.1.a  
Differentiate 
between living 
and nonliving 
things  
(Grades P4, K) 

SC M 03.3.1.a 
Compare and 
contrast 
characteristics 
of living and 
nonliving 
things 
(animals) 

SC M 04.3.1.a 
Compare and 
contrast 
characteristics 
of living and 
nonliving 
things 
(plants)  

SC S 05.3.1.a  
Compare and 
contrast 
characteristics 
of living and 
nonliving 
things  
(Grades 3, 4) 

 SC M 07.3.1.a  
Recognize the 
levels of 
organization in 
living 
organisms 
(cells, tissues, 
organs, organ 
systems, 
organisms)  
 

SC S 08.3.1.a  
Recognize the 
levels of 
organization in 
living 
organisms 
(cells, tissues, 
organs, organ 
systems, 
organisms)  
(Grade 7) 

 
Cellular 

Composition 
of Organisms 

 

        SC M 07.3.1.b  
Recognize that 
all organisms 
are composed 
of one or many 
cells; that 
these cells 
must grow, 
divide, and use 
energy; and 
that all cells 
function 
similarly  

SC S 08.3.1.b  
Recognize that 
all organisms 
are composed 
of one or many 
cells; that 
these cells 
must grow, 
divide, and use 
energy; and 
that all cells 
function 
similarly (Gr. 7) 

         SC M 07.3.1.c  
Recognize 
specialized 
cells perform 
specialized 
functions in 
multicellular 
organisms  

SC S 08.3.1.c  
Recognize 
specialized 
cells perform 
specialized 
functions in 
multicellular 
organisms  
(Grade 7) 

197



33 

 
Cellular 

Composition 
of Organisms 
(continued) 

 

        SC M 07.3.1.d 
Identify the 
organs and 
functions of the 
major systems 
of the human 
body and 
describe ways 
that these 
systems 
interact with 
each other  

SC S 08.3.1.d 
Identify the 
organs and 
functions of the 
major systems 
of the human 
body and 
describe ways 
that these 
systems 
interact with 
each other 
(Grade 7)  

 
Characteristics 

of Living 
Organisms 

 
 

SC M P4.3.1.b  
Explore the 
basic needs of 
plants and 
animals 

SC M 00.3.1.b  
Explore the 
basic needs of 
plants and 
animals 

SC M 01.3.1.a  
Identify the 
basic needs of 
animals (food, 
water, air, 
space, shelter) 

SC S 02.3.1.b 
Identify the 
basic needs of 
living things 
(food, water, 
air, space, 
shelter)  
(Grades P4, K, 
1, 2) 
 

SC M 02.3.1.b 
Identify the 
basic needs of 
plants (food, 
water, air, 
space, shelter)  
 

      

  SC M 01.3.1.b  
Identify and 
explain the 
function of 
external parts 
of animals 
 

SC S 02.3.1.c 
Identify 
external parts 
of plants and 
animals 
(Grades 1, 2) 
 
SC M 02.3.1.c 
Identify and 
explain the 
function of 
external parts 
of animals and 
plants 

SC M 03.3.1.b  
Identify how 
parts of 
animals 
function to 
meet basic 
needs (e.g., 
leg of an insect 
helps an insect 
move, root of a 
plant helps the 
plant obtain 
water)  

SC M 04.3.1.b  
Identify how 
parts of plants 
function to 
meet basic 
needs (e.g., 
leg of an insect 
helps an insect 
move, root of a 
plant helps the 
plant obtain 
water)  
 

SC S 05.3.1.b 
Identify how 
parts of plants 
and animals 
function to 
meet basic 
needs (e.g., 
leg of an insect 
helps an insect 
move, root of a 
plant helps the 
plant obtain 
water)  
(Grades 3, 4) 
 

   

   SC S 02.3.1.d  
Observe and 
match plants 
and animals to 
their distinct 
habitats  

      

198



34 

 
Behavior 

 

         SC S 08.3.1.e 
Describe how 
plants and 
animals 
respond to 
environmental 
stimuli  

 

199



35 

 
K- 12 Comprehensive Standard:  Life Science 

Students will integrate and communicate the information, concepts, principles, processes, 
theories, and models of the Life Sciences to make connections with the natural and 

engineered world.  
Concept  Grade Level Standards 
 

Heredity 

Pre K Kindergarten Grade 1 Grade 2 Grade 3 Grade 4 Grade 5 Grade 6 Grade 7 Grade 8 
SC M P4.3.2 
Students will 
observe 
changes in 
living things. 

SC M 00.3.2 
Students will 
observe 
changes in 
living things. 

SC M 01.3.2 
Students will 
recognize 
changes in 
living things.  
 

SC S 02.3.2  
Students will 
recognize 
changes in 
living things.  
 

SC M 03.3.2 
Students will 
identify 
variations of 
inherited 
characteris-
tics and life 
cycles.  
 

SC M 04.3.2 
Students will 
identify 
variations of 
inherited 
characteris-
tics and life 
cycles.  
 

SC S 05.3.2  
Students will 
identify 
variations of 
inherited 
characteris-
tics and life 
cycles.   
 

 SC M 07.3.2 
Students will 
investigate 
and describe 
the 
relationship 
between 
reproduction 
and heredity.  
 

SC S 08.3.2 
Students will 
investigate 
and describe 
the 
relationship 
between 
reproduction 
and heredity.  
 

 
Inherited 

Traits 
 
 
 

 SC M 00.3.2.a  
Observe how 
offspring 
resemble their 
parents   
 

SC M 01.3.2.a  
Describe how 
animal 
offspring 
resemble their 
parents  
 

SC S 02.3.2.a  
Describe how 
offspring 
resemble their 
parents  
(Grades K, 1, 
2) 
 
SC M 02.3.2.a  
Describe how 
plant offspring 
resemble their 
parents  
 

SC M 03.3.2.a 
Identify 
inherited 
characteristics 
of animals 

SC M 04.3.2.a  
Identify 
inherited 
characteristics 
of plants  
 

SC S 05.3.2.a  
Identify 
inherited 
characteristics 
of plants and 
animals  
(Grades 3, 4) 
 
 

 SC M 07.3.2.a  
Recognize that 
hereditary 
information is 
contained in 
genes within 
the 
chromosomes 
of each cell  
 

SC S 08.3.2.a  
Recognize that 
hereditary 
information is 
contained in 
genes within 
the 
chromosomes 
of each cell  
 

 
Reproduction 

 

SC M P4.3.2.a 
Observe how 
living things 
change as they 
grow 

SC M 00.3.2.b  
Observe how 
living things 
change as they 
grow  

SC M 01.3.2.b  
Describe how 
animals 
change as they 
grow  
 

SC S 02.3.2.b  
Describe how 
living things 
change as they 
grow  (Grades 
P4, K, 1, 2) 
 
SC M 02.3.2.b  
Describe how 
plants change 
as they grow    
 

SC M 03.3.2.b  
Identify the life 
cycle of 
animals 
with 
backbones 
 

SC M 04.3.2.b  
Identify the life 
cycle of plants 
that produce 
seeds  
 

SC S 05.3.2.b  
Identify the life 
cycle of an 
organism 
(Grades 3, 4) 
 

 SC M 07.3.2.b  
Compare and 
contrast sexual 
and asexual 
reproduction  

SC S 08.3.2.b  
Compare and 
contrast sexual 
and asexual 
reproduction  
(Grade 7) 

 

200



36 

 
K- 12 Comprehensive Standard:  Life Science 

Students will integrate and communicate the information, concepts, principles, processes, 
theories, and models of the Life Sciences to make connections with the natural and 

engineered world.  
Concept  Grade Level Standards 
 

Flow of 
Matter and 
Energy in 

Ecosystems 

Pre K Kindergarten Grade 1 Grade 2 Grade 3 Grade 4 Grade 5 Grade 6 Grade 7 Grade 8 
    

 
  SC S 05.3.3  

Students will 
describe 
relationships 
within an 
ecosystem.  

SC M 06.3.3 
Students will 
describe 
populations 
and 
ecosystems. 

 SC S 08.3.3 
Students will 
describe 
populations 
and 
ecosystems. 

 
Flow of 
Energy 

 
 
 

      SC S 05.3.3.a  
Diagram and 
explain a 
simple food 
chain 
beginning with 
the Sun  
 
SC M 05.3.3.a 
Diagram and 
explain a 
simple food 
chain and food 
web beginning 
with the Sun 
 

SC M 06.3.3.a 
Diagram and 
explain the 
flow of energy 
through a 
simple food 
web  

 SC S 08.3.3.a 
Diagram and 
explain the 
flow of energy 
through a 
simple food 
web  
(Grade 6) 

      SC S 05.3.3.b  
Identify the 
role of 
producers, 
consumers, 
and 
decomposers 
in an 
ecosystem  

SC M 06.3.3.b 
Compare the 
roles of 
producers, 
consumers, 
and 
decomposers 
in an 
ecosystem  

 SC S 08.3.3.b 
Compare the 
roles of 
producers, 
consumers, 
and 
decomposers 
in an 
ecosystem  
(Grade 6) 

 
Ecosystems 

 

      SC S 05.3.3.c  
Recognize the 
living and 
nonliving 
factors that 
impact the 
survival of 
organisms in 
an ecosystem  

  SC S 08.3.3.c 
Recognize that 
producers 
transform 
sunlight into 
chemical 
energy through 
photosynthesis  
(Grade 6) 

201



37 

 
Ecosystems 
(continued) 

 

         SC S 08.3.3.d 
Determine the 
biotic and 
abiotic factors 
that impact the 
number of 
organisms an 
ecosystem can 
support  

       SC M 06.3.3.e 
Recognize a 
population is 
all the 
individuals of a 
species at a 
given place 
and time  

 SC S 08.3.3.e 
Recognize a 
population is 
all the 
individuals of a 
species at a 
given place 
and time  
(Grade 6) 

       SC M 06.3.3.f 
Identify 
symbiotic 
relationships 
among 
organisms  

 SC S 08.3.3.f 
Identify 
symbiotic 
relationships 
among 
organisms  
(Grade 6) 

Impact on 
Ecosystem 

      SC S 05.3.3.d  
Recognize all 
organisms 
cause 
changes, some 
beneficial and 
some 
detrimental, in 
the 
environment 
where they live 
 
SC M 05.3.3.d  
Describe 
beneficial and 
detrimental 
changes 
organisms 
cause in their 
environment  

  SC S 08.3.3.g 
Identify 
positive and 
negative 
effects of 
natural and 
human activity 
on an 
ecosystem  
 

202



38 

 
K- 12 Comprehensive Standard:  Life Science 

Students will integrate and communicate the information, concepts, principles, processes, 
theories, and models of the Life Sciences to make connections with the natural and 

engineered world.  
Concept  Grade Level Standards 
 

Biodiversity 

Pre K Kindergarten Grade 1 Grade 2 Grade 3 Grade 4 Grade 5 Grade 6 Grade 7 Grade 8 

SC M P4.3.4 
Students will 
explore 
changes in 
organisms.  
 

SC M 00.3.4 
Students will 
observe 
changes in 
organisms.  
 

SC M 01.3.4 
Students will 
recognize 
changes in 
organisms.  
 

SC S 02.3.4  
Students will 
recognize 
changes in 
organisms. 
 

 SC M 04.3.4  
Students will 
describe 
changes in 
organisms 
over time.  

SC S 05.3.4  
Students will 
describe 
changes in 
organisms 
over time.  

  SC S 08.3.4 
Students will 
identify 
characteristics 
of organisms 
that help them 
survive.  
 

 
Biological 

Adaptations 
 
 
 

SC M P4.3.4.a  
Explore 
seasonal 
changes in 
animals and 
plants  
 

SC M 00.3.4.a  
Observe 
seasonal 
changes in 
plants and 
animals 
 

SC M 01.3.4.a  
Identify 
Seasonal 
changes  in 
animals  
 

SC S 02.3.4.a  
Recognize 
seasonal 
changes in 
plants and 
animals  
(plants) 
(Grades P4, K, 
1, 2) 

 SC M 04.3.4.a 
Describe 
adaptations 
made by 
plants to 
survive 
environmental 
changes in 
Nebraska  

SC S 05.3.4.a  
Describe 
adaptations 
made by 
plants or 
animals to 
survive 
environmental 
changes 
(Grades 4, 5) 
 
SC M 05.3.4.a 
Describe 
adaptations 
made by 
animals to 
survive 
environmental 
changes 
 

  SC S 08.3.4.a  
Describe how 
an inherited 
characteristic 
enables an 
organism to 
improve its 
survival rate  
 

 
Biological 
Evolution 

 

         SC S 08.3.4.b 
Recognize the 
extinction of a 
species is 
caused by the 
inability to 
adapt to an 
environmental 
change  
 
 

203



39 

Biological 
Evolution 

(continued) 

         SC S 08.3.4.c 
Use anatomical 
features of an 
organism to 
infer similarities 
among other 
organisms  

 

204



40 

 
K- 12 Comprehensive Standard:  Earth and Space Sciences 

Students will integrate and communicate the information, concepts, principles, processes, 
theories, and models of Earth and Space Sciences to make connections with the natural 

and engineered world. 

Concepts Grade Level Standards 
 

 Pre K Kindergarten Grade 1 Grade 2 Grade 3 Grade 4 Grade 5 Grade 6 Grade 7 Grade 8 

Earth in 
Space 

SC M P4.4.1 
Students will 
observe and 
begin to 
identify 
objects of the 
sky.  
 

SC M 00.4.1 
Students will 
observe and 
identify 
objects of the 
sky.  
 

 SC S 02.4.1 
Students will 
observe and 
identify 
objects of the 
sky.  
 

  SC S 05.4.1 
Students will 
observe and 
describe 
characteris-
tics, patterns, 
and changes 
in the sky.  
 

  SC S 08.4.1 
Students will 
investigate 
and describe 
Earth and the 
solar system.  
 

Earth 
Structures 

and 
Processes 

SC M P4.4.2 
Students will 
explore Earth 
materials 

SC M 00.4.2 
Students will 
observe, 
identify, and 
describe 
characteris-
tics of Earth’s 
materials.  
 

 SC S 02.4.2 
Students will 
observe, 
identify, and 
describe 
characteris-
tics of Earth’s 
materials.  
 

 SC M 04.4.2 
Students will 
observe and 
describe 
Earth’s 
materials, 
structure, and 
processes. 
 

SC S 05.4.2 
Students will 
observe and 
describe 
Earth’s 
materials, 
structure, and 
processes. 
 

SC M 06.4.2 
Students will 
investigate 
and describe 
Earth’s 
structure, 
systems, and 
processes. 
 

SC M 07.4.2 
Students will 
investigate 
and describe 
Earth’s 
structure, 
systems, and 
processes. 
 

SC S 08.4.2 
Students will 
investigate 
and describe 
Earth’s 
structure, 
systems, and 
processes. 
 

Energy in 
Earth’s 

Systems 

SC M P4.4.3  
Students will 
observe 
simple 
patterns of 
change on 
Earth.  
 

SC M 00.4.3 
Students will 
observe 
simple 
patterns of 
change on 
Earth.  
 

SC M 01.4.3 
Students will 
observe 
simple 
patterns of 
change on 
Earth.  
 

SC S 02.4.3 
Students will 
observe 
simple 
patterns of 
change on 
Earth.  
 

SC M 03.4.3 
Students will 
observe and 
describe the 
effects of 
energy 
changes on 
Earth.  
 

 SC S 05.4.3 
Students will 
observe and 
describe the 
effects of 
energy 
changes on 
Earth.  
 

 SC M 07.4.3 
Students will 
investigate 
and describe 
energy in 
Earth’s 
systems. 
 

SC S 08.4.3 
Students will 
investigate 
and describe 
energy in 
Earth’s 
systems. 
 

Earth’s 
History 

      SC S 05.4.4 
Students will 
describe 
changes in 
Earth. 
 

SC M 06.4.4 
Students will 
use evidence 
to draw 
conclusions 
about 
changes in 
Earth.  
 

 SC S 08.4.4 
Students will 
use evidence 
to draw 
conclusions 
about 
changes in 
Earth.  
 

 

205



41 

 
K- 12 Comprehensive Standard:  Earth and Space Sciences 

Students will integrate and communicate the information, concepts, principles, processes, 
theories, and models of Earth and Space Sciences to make connections with the natural 

and engineered world.  
Concept  Grade Level Standards 
 

Earth in 
Space 

Pre K Kindergarten Grade 1 Grade 2 Grade 3 Grade 4 Grade 5 Grade 6 Grade 7 Grade 8 

SC M P4.4.1 
Students will 
become 
aware of and 
observe 
objects of the 
sky.  
 

SC M 00.4.1 
Students will 
observe and 
identify 
objects of the 
sky.  
 

 SC S 02.4.1  
Students will 
observe and 
identify 
objects of the 
sky.  
 

  SC S 05.4.1  
Students will 
observe and 
describe 
characteristics, 
patterns, and 
changes in the 
sky.  

  SC S 08.4.1 
Students will 
investigate and 
describe Earth 
and the solar 
system.  
 

 
Objects in the 

Sky and 
Universe 

 
 
 

SC M P4.4.1.a 
Become aware 
of and observe 
objects in the 
sky (Sun, 
Moon, stars) 

SC M 00.4.1.a 
Identify and 
observe 
objects in the 
sky (Sun, 
Moon, stars) 

 SC S 02.4.1.a   
Identify objects 
in the sky (the 
Sun, the 
Moon, the 
stars) and 
when they are 
observable 
(Gr. P4, K, 2) 
 
SC M 02.4.1.a 
Compare and 
describe 
features of the 
day and night 
sky 

  SC S 05.4.1.a   
Recognize that 
the observed 
shape of the 
Moon changes 
from day to day 
during a one 
month period  
 
SC M 05.4.1.a 
Identify 
relationships 
between the Earth 
and Moon over 
time 

  SC S 08.4.1.a  
Describe the 
components of 
the solar system 
(the Sun, 
planets, moons, 
asteroids, 
comets)  
 

 
Motion of 

Objects in the 
Solar System 

 

   SC S 02.4.1.b  
Identify objects 
that appear to 
move in the 
sky (the Sun, 
the Moon, 
stars)  
 
 

  SC S 05.4.1.b   
Recognize the 
motion of objects 
in the sky (the 
Sun, the Moon, 
stars) change 
over time in 
recognizable 
patterns  
 

SC M 05.4.1b 
Identify basic 
relationships 
between the Sun, 
Earth and Moon 
(day, night, 
month, year) 

  SC S 08.4.1.b  
Describe the 
relationship 
between motion 
of objects in the 
solar system and 
the phenomena 
of day, year, 
eclipses, phases 
of the Moon and 
seasons  

206



42 

 
Gravitational 

Effects 
 

         SC S 08.4.1.c 
Describe the 
effects of gravity 
on Earth (tides) 
and the effect of 
gravity on 
objects in the 
solar system  

 

207



43 

 
K- 12 Comprehensive Standard:  Earth Science 

Students will integrate and communicate the information, concepts, principles, processes, 
theories, and models of the Life Sciences to make connections with the natural and 

engineered world.  
Concept  Grade Level Standards 
 

Earth 
Structures 

and 
Processes 

Pre K Kindergarten Grade 1 Grade 2 Grade 3 Grade 4 Grade 5 Grade 6 Grade 7 Grade 8 

SC M P4.4.2 
Students will 
explore 
characteris-
tics of Earth’s 
materials.  

SC M 00.4.2 
Students will 
observe, 
identify, and 
describe 
characteris-
tics of Earth’s 
materials.  

 SC S 02.4.2  
Students will 
observe, 
identify, and 
describe 
characteris-
tics of Earth’s 
materials.  

 SC M 04.4.2 
Students will 
observe and 
describe 
Earth’s 
materials, 
structure, and 
processes.  

SC S 05.4.2  
Students will 
observe and 
describe 
Earth’s 
materials, 
structure, and 
processes.  

SC M 06.4.2 
Students will 
investigate 
and describe 
Earth’s 
structure, 
systems, and 
processes.  

SC M 07.4.2 
Students will 
investigate 
and describe 
Earth’s 
structure, 
systems, and 
processes.  

SC S 08.4.2 
Students will 
investigate 
and describe 
Earth’s 
structure, 
systems, and 
processes.  

 
Properties of 

Earth 
Materials 

 
 

 

SC M P4.4.2.a 
Explore 
characteristics 
of Earth’s 
materials 

SC M 00.4.2.a  
Observe, 
identify, and 
describe 
characteristics 
of Earth’s 
surface 
materials (soil, 
rocks, water) 

 SC S 02.4.2.a  
Describe Earth 
materials 
(sand, soil, 
rocks, water)  
(Grades P4, K) 

 SC M 04.4.2.a  
Describe the 
characteristics 
of rocks, 
minerals, soil, 
water, and the 
atmosphere  

SC S 05.4.2.a  
Describe the 
characteristics 
of rocks, 
minerals, soil, 
water, and the 
atmosphere 
(Grade 4) 

SC M 06.4.2.a  
Describe the 
layers of Earth 
(core, mantle, 
crust, 
atmosphere)  
 

 SC S 08.4.2.a  
Describe the 
layers of Earth 
(core, mantle, 
crust, 
atmosphere)  
(Grade 6) 

       SC M 06.4.2.b 
Describe the 
physical 
composition of 
soil  
 

 SC S 08.4.2.b 
Describe the 
physical 
composition of 
soil  
(Grade 6) 
 

       SC M 06.4.2.c 
Recognize the 
different levels 
of the 
atmosphere  

SC M 07.4.2.a 
Describe the 
mixture of 
gasses in 
Earth’s 
atmosphere 
and how the 
atmosphere’s 
properties 
change at 
different 
elevations  
 

SC S 08.4.2.c 
Describe the 
mixture of 
gasses in 
Earth’s 
atmosphere 
and how the 
atmosphere’s 
properties 
change at 
different 
elevations  
(Grades 6, 7) 

208



44 

Properties of 
Earth 

Materials 
(continued) 

       SC M 06.4.2.d 
Describe 
evidence of 
Earth’s 
magnetic field  

 SC S 08.4.2.d 
Describe 
evidence of 
Earth’s 
magnetic field  
(Grade 6) 

 
Earth’s 

Processes 
 

     SC M 04.4.2.b  
Identify 
weathering, 
erosion, and 
deposition as 
processes that 
build up or 
break down 
Earth’s surface  

SC S 05.4.2.b  
Identify 
weathering, 
erosion, and 
deposition as 
processes that 
build up or 
break down 
Earth’s surface 
(Grade 4)  

SC M 06.4.2.e 
Compare and 
contrast 
constructive 
and 
destructive 
forces 
(deposition, 
erosion, 
weathering, 
plate motion 
causing uplift, 
volcanoes, 
earthquakes) 
that impact 
Earth’s surface 

 SC S 08.4.2.e 
Compare and 
contrast 
constructive 
and 
destructive 
forces 
(deposition, 
erosion, 
weathering, 
plate motion 
causing uplift, 
volcanoes, 
earthquakes) 
that impact 
Earth’s surface 
(Grade 6) 

       SC M 06.4.2.f 
Describe the 
rock cycle 

 SC S 08.4.2.f 
Describe the 
rock cycle 
(Grade 6) 

        SC S 07.4.2.b 
Describe the 
water cycle 
(evaporation, 
condensation, 
precipitation) 

SC S 08.4.2.g 
Describe the 
water cycle 
(evaporation, 
condensation, 
precipitation) 
(Grade 7) 

 
Use of Earth 

Materials 
 

   SC S 02.4.2.b  
Recognize 
ways in which 
individuals and 
families can 
conserve 
Earth’s 
resources by 
reducing, 
reusing, and 
recycling  

 SC M 04.4.2.c 
Identify how 
Earth materials 
are used 
(fuels, building 
materials, 
sustaining 
plant life)  
 

SC S 05.4.2.c  
Identify how 
Earth materials 
are used 
(fuels, building 
materials, 
sustaining 
plant life)  
(Grade 4) 
 

  SC S 08.4.2.h 
Classify Earth 
materials as 
renewable or 
nonrenewable  
 

209



45 

 
K- 12 Comprehensive Standard:  Earth Science 

Students will integrate and communicate the information, concepts, principles, processes, 
theories, and models of the Life Sciences to make connections with the natural and 

engineered world.  
Concept  Grade Level Standards 
 

Energy in 
Earth’s 

Systems 

Pre K Kindergarten Grade 1 Grade 2 Grade 3 Grade 4 Grade 5 Grade 6 Grade 7 Grade 8 

SC M P4.4.3 
Students will 
observe 
simple 
patterns of 
change on 
Earth.  
 

SC M 00.4.3 
Students will 
observe 
simple 
patterns of 
change on 
Earth.  
 

SC M 01.4.3 
Students will 
observe 
simple 
patterns of 
change on 
Earth.  
 

SC S 02.4.3  
Students will 
observe 
simple 
patterns of 
change on 
Earth.   

SC M 03.4.3 
Students will 
observe and 
describe the 
effects of 
energy 
changes on 
Earth.  

 SC S 05.4.3  
Students will 
observe and 
describe the 
effects of 
energy 
changes on 
Earth.  

 SC M 07.4.3 
Students will 
investigate 
and describe 
energy in 
Earth’s 
systems. 
 

SC S 08.4.3 
Students will 
investigate 
and describe 
energy in 
Earth’s 
systems. 
 

 
Energy 
Sources 

 
 
 

SC M P4.4.3.a  
Explore the 
characteristics 
of the Sun’s 
energy 
 

SC M 00.4.3.a  
Explore the 
Sun’s ability to 
provide light 
and heat 
 

SC M 01.4.3.a  
Recognize that 
the Sun 
provides heat 
and light  
 

SC S 02.4.3.a  
Observe that 
the Sun 
provides heat 
and light  
(Grades P4, K,  
1) 
 

SC M 03.4.3.a  
Describe the 
Sun’s warming 
effect on the 
land and water  
 

 SC S 05.4.3.a  
Describe the 
Sun’s warming 
effect on the 
land and water  
(Grade 3) 
 

 SC M 07.4.3.a  
Describe how 
energy from 
the Sun 
influences the 
atmosphere 
and provides 
energy for 
plant growth  
 

SC S 08.4.3.a  
Describe how 
energy from 
the Sun 
influences the 
atmosphere 
and provides 
energy for 
plant growth  
(Grade 7) 
 

 
Weather and 

Climate 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SC M P4.4.3.b  
Observe and 
identify simple 
daily changes 
in weather  
 

SC M 00.4.3.b  
Identify and 
describe 
simple daily 
changes in 
weather  
 

SC M 01.4.3.b  
Identify and 
describe 
simple daily 
changes in 
weather  
 
 
 

SC S 02.4.3.b  
Observe and 
describe 
simple daily 
changes in 
weather  
(Grades P4, K, 
1) 
 
SC M 02.4.3.b 
Observe, 
describe and 
measure 
simple daily 
changes in 
weather 
(temperature) 
and seasonal 
changes 
 
 

SC M 03.4.3.b  
Observe, 
measure, and 
record 
changes in 
weather 
(temperature, 
wind direction 
and speed, 
precipitation)  
 
 

 SC S 05.4.3.b  
Observe, 
measure, and 
record 
changes in 
weather 
(temperature, 
wind direction 
and speed, 
precipitation)  
(Grade 3) 
 

 SC M 07.4.3.b  
Identify factors 
that influence 
daily and 
seasonal 
changes on 
Earth (tilt of the 
Earth, 
humidity, air 
pressure, air 
masses)  
 

SC S 08.4.3.b  
Identify factors 
that influence 
daily and 
seasonal 
changes on 
Earth (tilt of the 
Earth, 
humidity, air 
pressure, air 
masses)  
(Grade 7) 

210



46 

 
 

Weather and 
Climate 

(continued) 
 

    SC M 03.4.3.c 
Describe the 
influence of 
atmospheric 
pressure on 
weather 

     

SC M P4.4.3.c  
Explore simple 
seasonal 
weather 
indicators  

SC M 00.4.3.c  
Observe 
simple 
seasonal 
weather 
indicators  

SC M 01.4.3.c  
Describe 
simple 
seasonal 
weather 
indicators and 
how they 
impact student 
choices 
(activities, 
clothing)  

SC S 02.4.3.c  
Describe 
simple 
seasonal 
weather 
indicators and 
how they 
impact student 
choices 
(activities, 
clothing) 
(Grades P4, K, 
1) 

SC M 03.4.3.d  
Recognize the 
difference 
between 
weather, 
climate, and 
seasons  
 

 SC S 05.4.3.c  
Recognize the 
difference 
between 
weather, 
climate, and 
seasons  
(Grade 3) 

 SC M 07.4.3.c  
Describe 
atmospheric 
movements 
that influence 
weather and 
climate (air 
masses, jet 
stream)  
 

SC S 08.4.3.c  
Describe 
atmospheric 
movements 
that influence 
weather and 
climate (air 
masses, jet 
stream)  
(Grade 7) 
 

 

211



47 

 
K- 12 Comprehensive Standard: Earth Science 

Students will integrate and communicate the information, concepts, principles, processes, 
theories, and models of the Life Sciences to make connections with the natural and 

engineered world.  
Concept  Grade Level Standards 
 

Earth’s 
History 

Pre K Kindergarten Grade 1 Grade 2 Grade 3 Grade 4 Grade 5 Grade 6 Grade 7 Grade 8 
    

 
 SC M 04.4.4 

Students will 
describe 
environments 
based on 
fossil 
evidence.  
 

SC S 05.4.4   
Students will 
describe 
environments 
based on 
fossil 
evidence.  
 
 

SC M 06.4.4 
Students will 
use evidence 
to draw 
conclusions 
about 
changes in 
Earth.  
 

 SC S 08.4.4 
Students will 
use evidence 
to draw 
conclusions 
about 
changes in 
Earth.  
 

 
Past / 

Present 
Earth 

 
 
 

     SC M 04.4.4.a  
Describe how 
slow processes 
(erosion, 
weathering, 
deposition) 
and rapid 
processes 
(landslides, 
volcanic 
eruptions, 
earthquakes) 
change Earth’s 
surface  
 

SC S 05.4.4.a  
Describe how 
slow processes 
(erosion, 
weathering, 
deposition) 
and rapid 
processes 
(landslides, 
volcanic 
eruptions, 
earthquakes) 
change Earth’s 
surface  
(Grade 4) 
 

SC M 06.4.4.a 
Recognize that 
the earth 
processes we 
see today are 
similar to those 
that occurred 
in the past 
(uniformity of 
processes)  
 

 SC S 08.4.4.a 
Recognize that 
the earth 
processes we 
see today are 
similar to those 
that occurred 
in the past 
(uniformity of 
processes)  
(Grade 6) 

       SC M 06.4.4.b 
Describe how 
environmental 
conditions 
have changed 
through use of 
the fossil 
record  
 

 SC S 08.4.4.b 
Describe how 
environmental 
conditions 
have changed 
through use of 
the fossil 
record  
(Grade 6) 

 

212



48 

 

213



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET

AGENDA ITEM: Approval of PreK-5 Science Field Study

MEETING DATE: May 16, 2011

DEPARTMENT: Educational Services

TITLE AND

BRIEF DESCRIPTION: PreK-5 Science Field Study

ACTION DESIRED: Approval X

BACKGROUND: PreK-12 Science Curriculum Planning Committee completed Phase I of
the MEP Curriculum Cycle. The Committee identified five research areas:
inquiry, integration, balancing standards with creativity, technology tools,
and scope and sequence. Subcommittee research identified program
selection criteria. The elementary vendor fair was held on February 17.
Two programs were selected for an elementary Field Study in the 2011-12
school year. A group of 52 elementary teachers PreK-5 will participate in
the Field Study during first semester of 2011-12. The Field Study will
provide information to help select the best program for our district.
Maximum cost to the District from either vendor is $2,520.00

RECOMMENDATIONS: Approve PreK-5 Science Field Study

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE: Strategy 4

IMPLICATIONS OF

ADOPTION OR REJECTION: Curriculum Planning Committee returns to Phase I of the Curriculum
Cycle.

TIMELINE: Teachers will use the field study science program during 2011-2012.

RESPONSIBLE PERSON(S): Mark Feldhausen, Carol Newton, Nancy Thornblad

SUPERINTENDENT’S APPROVAL: __________________________________________________

BOARD ACTION: ___________________________________________________________________

214



PreK-5 Science Textbook Field Study

2011-2012

According to Rule 6510.1, Assessed Curriculum, Innovation/Program Change: Assessed Curriculum:
Innovation/Pilot Programs and Field Studies, this PreK-12 Science Field Study Proposal is presented to be
conducted during the 2011-2012 school year. A Field Study is a structured study of materials developed by
sources outside the district that allows for a trial period to help identify which best meet the Standards and
Indicators identified in the Framework.

Rationale to conduct a field study:

PreK-12 Curriculum Planning Committee has completed Phase I of the MEP Curriculum Cycle. The Committee
identified five research areas: inquiry; integration; balancing standards with creativity; technology tools; and scope
and sequence. These subcommittees identified critical elements from the research to judge program components
during vendor presentations. All committee members participated in a vendor fair on February 17, 2011 to
evaluate each program according to their identified criteria and select programs to participate in our field study.
After working with the representatives from the selected programs, we are now ready to conduct the field study.

Based on the core committee and subcommittee members’ evaluations the following programs were selected for
the field study:

Elementary:

 Interactive Science by Pearson 2012
 Full Option Science System (FOSS) by Delta Education and Engineering is Elementary by Boston

Museum of Science, Scott Foresman Science 2006

The field study of these materials/textbooks would help to ensure that the text and support materials recommended
for implementation do effectively meet the needs defined by the research criteria, the PreK-12 Science Framework,
and student and staff needs to reach state and district standards and indicators.

Compatibility with District Strategic Plan:

The field study will support Strategy 4: “We will develop and implement plans to utilize instructional best
practices, formative and summative assessments, and student data designed to ensure high achievement for all
students and all demographic subgroups.” The field study will ensure that the instructional materials support
identified standards, indicators and assessments.

Compatibility with the District Curriculum Cycle:

The Curriculum Planning Committee has completed all components of Phase I during 2010-11 and is ready to
begin work on the components within Phase II. Curriculum Development, Phase II of the MEP Curriculum Cycle
includes the field study of textbooks/instructional materials.

215



Existing research /data:

The Science Subcommittees reviewed data and research at the district level. They then reviewed local, state, and
national research and information to identify critical programs and textbooks needed to incorporate that would
challenge our students and staff to meet increased achievement levels in science. By networking with our NFUSSD
Organization School Districts, researching multiple State Departments of Education and U.S. Department of
Education and the revised Nebraska Department of Education Science Standards, current internet sources, the
subcommittees were able to conduct a meta-analysis of the information to identify the critical elements needed for
Millard Public Schools.

Clientele to be involved:

At the elementary level, approximately 52 classroom teachers and specialists will be involved in the field study of
Science textbooks/instructional materials. They will represent all areas of the district, all student populations, and
all elementary grade levels. They will meet approximately three times from August to January to evaluate the
programs and recommend a program to the PreK-12 Science Curriculum Planning Committee and then to the
Board of Education for approval during spring 2012.

Desired outcomes to be achieved:

 Identify program/textbook(s) that meet the Millard Public Schools selection criteria
 Articulate and align program selections PreK-12
 Review and modify course and district assessments
 Plan for adoption/implementation for 2012-2013
 Identify and design appropriate staff development programs

Strategies to be employed:

Support staff through the MEP process as they plan, integrate and assess the new materials.

August, 2011: The publisher’s consultants will provide training/orientation for the programs/ textbooks
for all staff participating in the field study.

August - December: Field study participants will participate in multiple review and comparison discussions of
the field study programs. Teachers will evaluate their program based on the critical
selection criteria. Student data will be collected and analyzed.

January - February: Program/Textbooks will be recommended to Board of Education for approval.

January - April: Course guides will be developed.

May-August 2012: Orientation, staff development for all PreK-5 science staff will begin.

216



Resources needed:

 Pearson Science materials provided at no cost to the district for the duration of the field study
 Delta FOSS materials provided for field study with approximately $2,520.00 return shipping costs for

materials not adopted.
 Consultant training for those involved in field study programs
 Approximately 52 district elementary classroom teachers will use the materials in their classrooms
 Substitutes for field study teachers to participate in program review sessions
 Review sessions with principals
 MEPs work with program consultants on material acquisition and training, conduct program review

sessions, observe in field study classrooms, maintain ANGEL resources, facilitate all components of Phase
II Curriculum Cycle

Evaluation Strategies:

 Test programs/materials for effective support of standards and indicators
 Test programs/ materials for teacher utilization and support
 Test programs/materials for differentiation strategies to support student needs
 Test programs/materials assessment components
 Test programs/materials technology components
 Test vendor response and timeliness to district needs
 Analyze student achievement data from field study programs/materials
 Analyze teacher information from specific criteria evaluations

217



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 

Meeting Date: May 16, 2011 

Department Human Resources 

Action Desired: Approval 

Background: Personnel item: (1) Hires; (2) Resignation; (3) Leave of Absence; 
 (4) Contract Amendment 
 
Options/Alternatives  
Considered: N/A 
 
Recommendations: Approval 

Strategic Plan 

Reference: N/A 

Implications of  
Adoption/Rejection: N/A 
 
Timeline: N/A 

Responsible 
Persons: Jim Sutfin, Ed.D. 
 

 

 

 

Superintendent’s Signature: __________________________________________ 

218



May 16, 2011 
 
 

AMENDMENT TO CONTINUING CONTRACTS 
 
 

Recommend:  Amendment to the following contracts: 
 

1. Shannon M. Fischer – School Psychologist for Millard Public Schools – Amend contract 
from 50% (.5) FTE to 100% (1.0) FTE (short-term, part-time amendment) for the 2011-
2012 school year. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

219



May 16, 2011 

LEAVE OF ABSENCE 

Recommend: The following Leave of Absence be accepted: 

1. Kristie R. Teel – Grade 7, Math teacher at Kiewit Middle School. She is 
requesting a Leave of Absence for the 2011-2012 school year for family reasons. 

 

220



May 16, 2011 
 

 
 

RESIGNATIONS 
 
 
Recommend:  The following resignation be accepted: 
 
1. Lisa K. Kaiser – Science Teacher at Russell Middle School.  Resigning at the end of the 

2010-2011 school year for personal reasons. 
2. Sarah M. Mendenhall – Special Education Teacher at Cody Elementary School. Relocating at 

the end of the 2010-2011 school year. 
3. Michelle K. Baldwin – Music teacher at Abbott Elementary School.  Relocating at the end of 

the 2010-2011 school year. 
4. Teresa R. Oberdorfer – Language Arts Teacher at Millard South High School.  Resigning at 

the end of the 2010-2011 school year to continue her education. 
5. Natalie J. Bieber – Language Arts Teacher at Millard South High School. Resigning at the 

end of the 2010-2011 school year for personal reasons. 

221



May 16, 2011 
 

 
TEACHERS RECOMMENDED FOR HIRE 

 
 
Recommend: the following teachers be hired for the 2011/2012 school year: 
 

1. Heather L. Bruntz – MA – College of St. Mary.  Math teacher at Kiewit Middle 
School for the 2011-2012 school year. 

2. Christopher M. Burke – MA – Peru State.  Industrial Tech teacher at Millard North 
Middle School for the 2011-2012 school year. Previous Experience: Omaha Public 
Schools (2002-current) 

3. Pia M. DeVries – MA – University of Nebraska, Lincoln. Part-Time (.5) Foreign 
Language teacher at Millard North Middle School for the 2011-2012 school year. 
Previous Experience: Omaha Public Schools (2003-2007), Alpine School District, 
Utah (1991-2003) 

4. Sandra R. Johnson – MA – University of Nebraska, Omaha.  Part-Time Speech 
Pathologist (.6 FTE) at Ackerman Elementary (.3) and Reagan Elementary (.3) for 
the 2011-2012 school year.  Previous Experience: Omaha Public Schools (1998-
current), Lewis Central Schools, IA (1970-1973) 

5. Kelsee A. Katsampes – BA – Wayne State.  Science teacher at Russell Middle 
School for the 2011-2012 school year. 

6. Lindsey A. Lovette – BA – Arizona State.  Special Education teacher at Hitchcock 
Elementary School for the 2011-2012 school year. 

7. Leigha M. McDonald – BA – University of Nebraska, Omaha.  Math teacher at 
Millard West High School for the 2011-2012 school year. 

8. Kaleena M. Mora – MA – University of Nebraska, Omaha. Grade 1 teacher (Short-
Term Contract) at Reeder Elementary School for the 2011-2012 school year.  
Previous Experience: CADRE Teacher, Millard Public Schools (2010-2011) 

9. Julie A. Newlin – BA – N.W. Missouri State.  Grade 1 teacher at Rockwell 
Elementary School for the 2011-2012 school year.  

10. Marci J. Petta – MA – University of Phoenix.  Grade 2 teacher at Willowdale 
Elementary School for the 2011-2012 school year.  Previous Experience: Millard 
Public Schools (2006-2009) 

11. Steven M. Powell – MA – University of Georgia.  Language Arts teacher at Millard 
West High School for the 2011-2012 school year.  Previous Experience: Fairfield, 
CA (2010-current) and (2003-2007), Somerset, Texas (2002-2003) 

12. Laura K. Robbins – MA – University of New England.  Kindergarten teacher at Ezra 
Elementary School for the 2011-2012 school year.  Previous Experience: Laramie, 
Wyoming (2010-current), Church, Virginia (2007-2010) 

13. Phillip J. Smith – BA – University of Nebraska, Omaha.  Math teacher (Short-Term 
Contract) at Kiewit Middle School for the 2011-2012 school year. 

14. Joseph P. Vanderhaar – BA – University of Iowa.  Grade 5 teacher at Disney 
Elementary School for the 2011-2012 school year. 

222



The citizens of the Millard School district have entrusted in you the education of the children in 
this community. 
 
It is your "moral and ethical responsibility to function courageously and impartially to assure the 
greatest good to the greatest number at all times."  You "shall represent open-mindedly the entire 
school district...recognizing that the schools belong to the people." 
 
You must devote time, thought, and study to school activity in order to make creditable 
decisions. 
 
You must work with fellow board members in a spirit of harmony and cooperation, in spite of 
differences of opinion. 
 
You will know that at all times, as an individual, you have no legal authority outside the 
meetings of the board. 
 
You must resist pressure to use your position as a school board member to benefit yourself, or 
any other individual or agency, apart from the total interest of the school district. 
 
You must know that under all circumstances the primary function of the Board is to establish 
policies by which the schools are to be administered. 
 
I,___________________________ , do solemnly swear that I will support the Constitution of the 
United States and the constitution of the State of Nebraska, against all enemies, foreign and 
domestic; that I will bear true faith and allegiance to the same; that I take this obligation freely 
and without mental reservation or for purpose of evasion:  and that I will faithfully and 
impartially perform the duties of a member of the Millard School Board; according to law, and to 
the best of my ability.  And I do further swear that I do not advocate, nor am I a member of any 
political party or organization that advocates the overthrow of the government of the United 
States or of this state by force or violence; and that during such time as I am in this position I 
will not advocate nor become a member of any political party or organization that advocates the 
overthrow of the government of the United States or of this state by force or violence.  So help 
me God. 
 

____________________________, do you accept the responsibility of the position on the 
Millard School Board?  I declare you, ___________________________, an official board 
member of Millard School District #17. 

 
As Vice President of the Millard School Board, "I congratulate you and welcome you to one of 
the most important volunteer positions you will ever hold."  
 
 
 

223



I,___________________________; do solemnly swear that I will support the Constitution of the 
United States and the constitution of the State of Nebraska, against all enemies, foreign and 
domestic; that I will bear true faith and allegiance to the same; that I take this obligation freely 
and without mental reservation or for purpose of evasion:  and that I will faithfully and 
impartially perform the duties of a member of the Millard School Board; according to law, and to 
the best of my ability.  And I do further swear that I do not advocate, nor am I a member of any 
political party or organization that advocates the overthrow of the government of the United 
States or of this state by force or violence; and that during such time as I am in this position I 
will not advocate nor become a member of any political party or organization that advocates the 
overthrow of the government of the United States or of this state by force or violence.  So help 
me God. 
 
 
     ________________________________________________ 
          DATE 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

224



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET

AGENDA ITEM: May Senior Status

Meeting Date: May 16, 2011

Department: Educational Services: Assessment, Research and
Evaluation

Title and Brief
Description: May Senior Status

Action Desired: Approval ___ Discussion x Information Only ____

Background: This report reflects the number of seniors who have, or
are on track to earn the required credits for graduation,
but have not passed the required district assessments in
order to receive a diploma.

Options/Alternatives
Considered: N.A.

Recommendations: None

Strategic Plan
Reference: To meet the mission of the district.

Implications of
Adoption/Rejection: N.A.

Timeline: N.A.

Responsible
Persons: Dr. Mark Feldhausem, Dr. Tami Williams, and

Sharon Freeman

Superintendent’s Signature: ______________________________

225



Number of seniors who are on track to earn the required credit for graduation
who have not met the ELO Requirement as of

May 10, 2011

# students
with one or
more
outstanding
ELOs

Reading
Comprehension

Analytical
Writing

Math Science Social
Studies

North
High

0

South
High

5 4 2

West
High

0

Horizon
High

1 1

Millard South High School
Student One needs Math ELO is currently applying for Math

Demonstration of Proficiency in accordance
with 6315.1

Student Two needs Math ELO is currently failing multiple courses and may
have insufficient credits to graduate

Student Three needs Math ELO
needs Soc St ELO

is currently failing multiple courses and may
have insufficient credits to graduate

Student Four needs Soc St ELO is currently truant; MPS is following
truancy procedures

Student Five needs Math ELO is currently applying for Math
Demonstration of Proficiency in accordance
with 6315.1

Millard Horizon High School
Student Six needs Soc St ELO is currently applying for Social Studies

Demonstration of Proficiency in accordance
with 6315.1

226



 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
 

AGENDA ITEM: Legislative Update 
 
MEETING DATE: May 16, 2011 
 
DEPARTMENT: Office of the Superintendent    
 
TITLE AND BRIEF DESCRIPTION: Legislative Update for the 102nd Legislature 1st session. 
 
ACTION DESIRED: APPROVAL          DISCUSSION          INFORMATION ONLY   XX      
 
The legislative summary is attached.   
 
 

   
 
 
 
   
RECOMMENDATION:   
 
STRATEGIC PLAN:  Implemented Strategies and Superintendent’s Goals 
 
RESPONSIBLE PERSON:  Angelo Passarelli 
 
SUPERINTENDENT’S APPROVAL:                                                                  
        (Signature) 
 
 

227

sphelps
Kieths Stamp



BILL 
NO.

INTRODUCER(S)
DESCRIPTION AND
SUMMARY OF BILL

COMM. & 
HRG. DATE

GF SF FR Status POSITION

LB18 Adams Provide for distribution of allocations from the federal Education Jobs Fund Education
01/18/11
1:30 p.m. 
Room 1525

01/19/11 01/21/11 01/31/11 Passed 
02-04-11
Signed by the 
Governor 
02/10/11

Support

LB19 McCoy Prohibit the use of certain drug substances as prescribed

Adds to Schedule 1 of the controlled substances act Any material, compound, mixture, or preparation 
containing any detectable quantity of synthetically produced cannabinoids. Makes such substances 
unlawful to posses.  Punishment for such offense shall be equal to those of possession of marijuana. 

Judiciary
01/19/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1113

01/21/11 02/15/11 02/10/11 Passed w/E
02/16/11
Signed by the 
Governor 
02/23/11

Support

LB33 Louden Change valuation of agricultural and horticultural land

Beginning January 1, 2012 Ag and horticultural land shall be valued at 70 rather than 75% of its actual 
value.  Changes acceptable range for valuation from 69-75% to 64-70% of actual value.  Changes state aid 
value of ag and horticultural land to 67 rather than 72%.  

Revenue
01/21/11 
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1524

Oppose

LB50 Krist Adopt the Elementary and Secondary Educational Opportunity Act and provide for income tax credits

Provides income tax credits for contributions to entities that provide scholarships to children attending 
privately operated elementary or secondary schools.  Scholarships can only be granted to kids of certain 
incomes. For grades K-8, the household income eligibility is three times the standard for free or reduced 
price lunch; for grades 9-12 the eligibility is increased to four times.

Revenue
02/16/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1524

Oppose

Telephone:  402.434.3399 | Fax:  402.434.3390

MILLARD PUBLIC SCHOOLS
LEGISLATIVE SUMMARY

102nd Legislature - First Session - 2011

530 South 13th Street | Suite 110 | Lincoln, Nebraska 68508

228



BILL 
NO.

INTRODUCER(S)
DESCRIPTION AND
SUMMARY OF BILL

COMM. & 
HRG. DATE

GF SF FR Status POSITION

LB53 Krist Change free transportation provisions relating to learning community students

Provides that Learning Community school districts must provide free transportation to students residing in 
the learning community and attending school in the school district if the student is transferring pursuant to 
the open enrollment provisions of section 79-2110 and either (i) is a
student who contributes to the socioeconomic diversity of enrollment at the school building to which he or 
she attends, transfers and lives more than one mile from the school to which he or she transfers, or (ii) is a 
student attending a focus school or program and lives more than one mile from the school building housing 
the focus school or program.

Deletes eligibility for free and reduced lunch kids who don't affect diversity of building.

Education
02/28/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1525

Support

LB58 Adams Provide for a study of dual-enrollment courses and career academies

Provides that the Coordinating Commission for Postsecondary Education should study dual enrollment 
courses and report to the Legislature before December 15, 2011.  

Education
03/15/11
at 1:30 p.m.
room 1525

LB58 
amended into 
LB637

Support

LB84 Fischer

FISCHER 
PRIORITY BILL 
(2011)

SPEAKER MAJOR 
PROPOSAL (2011)

Adopt the Build Nebraska Act and authorize bonds for the highway system

• The bill establishes the Build Nebraska Act and Creates the State Highway Capitol Improvement Fund for 
surface transportation projects, providing for security, investment, and repayment of bonds.  
• Funding:  ½ cent of existing sales tax for 20 years,  raising $125 million annually         
• Effective:  2013
• Funds shall be used as follows:

$60 million will be used to pay for surface transportation projects of the
                 highest priority of NDOR                
$20 million for cities and counties
$15 million for completion of expressway system
$25 million for used for payment of bonds and interest, bonding limit not to
            exceed $500 million   (Bonds must be issued between 2013 and 2018.) 

Revenue
02/10/11
at 1:30 p.m.
room 1524

02/17/11 03/25/11 04/20/11 Oppose

LB123 Heidemann Provide for disciplinary actions and policies relating to cyber-bullying

Provides that cyber-bullying shall constitute, in some cases, grounds for long-term suspension, expulsion, 
or mandatory reassignment.  Cyber-bullying means any ongoing use of electronic mail, text messaging, 
social networking web sites, or any other form of electronic communication, on or off of school grounds, 
with the intention of causing harm or serious emotional distress to students or school personnel. Requires 
school districts to develop policies concerning cyber-bullying prevention and education.

Education
01/18/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1525

Oppose

229



BILL 
NO.

INTRODUCER(S)
DESCRIPTION AND
SUMMARY OF BILL

COMM. & 
HRG. DATE

GF SF FR Status POSITION

LB125 Avery Create the Children's Health Advisory Committee

To create and provide duties for the Children's Health Advisory Committee, to provide duties for the chief 
executive officer of the Department of Health and Human Services and the Commissioner of Education to 
provide for and require schools to implement nutrition and physical activity standards.

Health and 
Human Services
02/10/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1510

Oppose

LB130 Heidemann Provide for adjustment of formula need in calculation of state aid to schools

Provides that for school fiscal years 2011-12 and 2012-13, if the total amount of TEEOSA Aid as 
determined by the department to be distributed to school districts is different than the total amount of funds 
appropriated for distribution, the department shall proportionally adjust each district's formula need as 
calculated pursuant to section 12 79-1007.11 so that the total amount of aid determined is equal to the 
amount of funds appropriated.

Education
01/25/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1525

Killed 
02/17/11

Oppose

LB143 Haar Require public education institutions to file certain contracts of employment with the Nebraska 
Accountability and Disclosure Commission

Provides that public schools shall file with the Accountability and Disclosure Commission a copy of each 
contract of employment for officials of the institution with the title or function of president, vice president, 
chancellor, superintendent, assistant superintendent, chief executive officer, or chief financial officer or any 
other senior administrative personnel under contract with the institution performing similar functions. The 
contract of employment shall include the salary and benefit package provided to the official and shall 
identify each benefit provided and its source and value.

Government, 
Military and 
Veterans Affairs
02/17/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1507

Killed 
03/09/11

Oppose

LB145 Haar Provide for school transportation safety committees

Provides for creation of school transportation safety committees and submission of child access routing 
plans for each school within a school district.  Further provides for committee procedures when a new 
school is proposed.  

Education
02/28/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1525

Oppose

LB148 Avery Exclude lobbying expenses from the definition of general fund operating expenditures for state aid to 
education purposes

The one-liner says it all.

Education
01/31/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1525

LB148 
amended into 
LB 235

Oppose

LB149 Avery Adopt the Blind Persons Literacy Rights and Education Act

Provides that a teacher employed by or under contract with a school district, educational service unit, other 
education agency, or the State Department of Education who teaches blind or visually impaired children 
shall demonstrate competence in reading and writing Braille. Provides how such demonstration may be 
made.

Education
02/08/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1525

Oppose

230



BILL 
NO.

INTRODUCER(S)
DESCRIPTION AND
SUMMARY OF BILL

COMM. & 
HRG. DATE

GF SF FR Status POSITION

LB173 Avery Prohibit natural resources district board members from running for or holding more than one office

No person serving in a natural resource district shall simultaneously hold another high elective office.
  

Government, 
Military and 
Veterans Affairs
02/02/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1507

Monitor ?

LB189 Council Adopt the Criminal Offender Employment Act

On an initial application for public employment, there shall be no question or checkbox for the applicant 
regarding the applicant's criminal record. Any criminal record of the applicant shall not operate as an 
automatic bar to otherwise qualified applicants in obtaining public employment and shall only be taken into 
consideration after the applicant has been selected as a finalist for employment. Certain criminal records 
shall not be used in connection with application for public employment.

Business and 
Labor
01/24/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 2102

Oppose

LB192 Council Require school districts to offer instruction in sexual health education

Provides that beginning with school year 2012-13, each school district must offer instruction in sexual 
health education with a curriculum pursuant to listed criteria in the bill and State Board of Education 
regulations.

Education
02/08/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1525

Oppose

LB204 Council

COUNCIL 
PRIORITY BILL 
(2011)

Require blood-lead testing prior to enrollment in school

Provides that school districts shall require students to have undergone lead testing after the age of 18 
months and before the age of 4 years.  Provides for testing and notification procedures.

Education
02/08/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1525

03/08/11 03/28/11 04/12/11 Passed 
04/20/11
Returned by 
Governor 
without 
approval 
04/26/11
Failed to pass 
notwithstandin
g the 
objections of 
the Governor 
05/03/11

Oppose

231



BILL 
NO.

INTRODUCER(S)
DESCRIPTION AND
SUMMARY OF BILL

COMM. & 
HRG. DATE

GF SF FR Status POSITION

LB235 Adams

ADAMS PRIORITY 
BILL (2011)

Change provisions relating to state aid to schools

     Reduces the base limitation rate for school district to 0.5% for 2011-12 and 2012-13. Elements of the 
budget lids would be permanently modified. Modifications that would reduce the total amount of state aid: 
The cost growth factor would be permanently reduced by eliminating the factor that is added on to the two 
years of basic allowable growth rates in the calculation. The upper and lower ends of the range for need 
stabilization would be reduced by 5% for 2011-12. The threshold for the averaging adjustment would also 
be reduced by 5% for 2011-12 and the additional 0.5% that is used in the calculation of the threshold would 
be permanently eliminated to reflect the change in the cost growth factor. The local effort rate would be 
increased from $1.00 to $1.025 for 2011-12 and 2012-13. The allocated income tax reduction would be 
extended for 2011-12 and 2012-13 and would be increased to $21 million. NCSA Summary.
     It is istimated that LB235 would decrease the amount of state aid distributed in FY2011-12 by $140.9 
million and the amount distributed in FY2012-13 by $172.8 million of general funds.
     Education Committee amendment:  $822 million for 2011-12. $880 million for 2012-13.

(LB148:  Exclude lobbying expenses from the definition of general fund operating expenditures for state 
aid to education purposes)
(LB273:  Change the Tax Equity and Educational Opportunities Support Act to provide for converted 
contracts and converted contract option students)
(LB287: Change provisions relating to summer school and early childhood summer sessions)
LB235 will:  allow school districts with unused budget authority to spend 2 percent of their prior year 
expenditures; eliminate the allowable growth rate for FY 2011-12 and increase the rate to 0.5% in FY 2012-

Education
01/25/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1525

03/28/11 04/06/11 04/13/11 Passed 
04/20/11

Signed by 
Governor 
04/26/11

LB148, 
LB273, and 
LB287 
amended into 
LB 235

Support

(LB148:  
MPS Oppose)
(LB273:
MPS Support)
(LB287:
MPS Support)

LB236 Adams Change provisions relating to state aid to schools

Reduces the base limitation rate for school district to 0% for 2011-12 and 2012-13, which would affect 
budget lids and several elements of the aid formula.  Elements of the budget lids would be permanently 
modified.  Modifications reducing total amount of state aid:  The cost growth factor would be permanently 
reduced by eliminating the factor that is added on to the two years of basic allowable growth rates in the 
calculation.  Need stabilization and the averaging adjustment would be eliminated beginning with the 2011-
12 calculation of aid.  The local effort rate would be increased from $1.00 to $1.025 for 2011-12 and 2012-
13.  The allocated income tax reduction would be extended for 2011-12 and 2012-13 and would be 
increased to $21 million. NCSA Summary.

It is estimated that LB236 would decrease the amount of state aid distributed in FY2011-12 by $184.8 
million and the amount distributed in FY2012-13 by $231.9 million of general funds.

Education
01/25/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1525

Oppose

LB247 Pahls Adopt the Classrooms First Act

Requires 65% or more of each district’s total operating expenditures on direct classroom instruction 
beginning in 2012-13.  Defines what constitutes “direct classroom instruction”. Requires Commissioner of 
Education to send an “intervention team” to any district failing to comply, in order to help the school board 
and administration meet the requirements of the legislation.  Beginning in 2013-14, failure to comply for 
three consecutive years would mean loss of accreditation. NCSA Summary.

Education
01/25/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1525

Oppose

232



BILL 
NO.

INTRODUCER(S)
DESCRIPTION AND
SUMMARY OF BILL

COMM. & 
HRG. DATE

GF SF FR Status POSITION

LB260 Lathrop Adopt the Concussion Awareness Act

Provides that after a concussion or brain injury is sustained or suspected to have been sustained, schools are 
to prohibit athletes from playing or practicing again until they have been cleared by a health care 
professional.  Requires schools to make available training to recognize the symptoms of a concussion or 
brain injury and send out information regarding concussion and brain injury information on annual basis to 
student athletes.  Cities, villages, businesses, and non-profits who organize youth athletic activities must 
also provide information on concussions and brain injuries to participants, make available training, and 
prohibit an athlete from resuming playing or practicing after a  concussion or brain injury is sustained or 
suspected to have been sustained until cleared by a health care professional.

Health and 
Human Services
01/27/11 
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1510

02/15/11 03/09/11 03/23/11 Passed 
04/08/11
Signed by the 
Governor 
04/14/11

Support

LB266 Sullivan Change the Open Meetings Act relating to closed sessions

Provides that a public body may go into closed session for the evaluation of the job performance of a 
nonelected official or employee if such person has not requested a public meeting.  Current statute provides 
the body may go into closed session for evaluation of the job performance of a person when necessary to 
prevent needless injury to the reputation of a person and if such person has not requested a public meeting.

Government, 
Military and 
Veterans Affairs
01/26/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1507

Support

LB273 Dubas Change the Tax Equity and Educational Opportunities Support Act to provide for converted contracts and 
converted contract option students

Education
01/31/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1525

LB273 
amended into 
LB 235

Support

LB283 Haar

HAAR PRIORITY 
BILL (2011)

Provide school boards with tax levy and bond authority relating to energy efficiency projects

Permits tax levy authority and bond authority for energy efficiency projects under the existing 
environmental hazard/accessibility barrier abatement provisions of law.  NCSA Summary.  

(LB522:  Adopt the High Performance Green Schools Transparency Act)

Education
03/01/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1525

03/09/11 03/23/11 4/14/201
1

04/20/11

Passed 
04/28/11
Returned by 
Governor 
without 
approval 
05/04/11

LB522 
amended into 
LB 283

Support

LB287 Adams Change provisions relating to summer school and early childhood summer sessions

Expands the existing TEEOSA summer school allowance for students enrolled in a summer session of an 
early childhood education program.  Changes the calculation of the allowance.  Further provides that each 
school district will receive an additional six-tenths of a summer school student unit for each early childhood 
education student unit attributed to a free lunch and free milk. NCSA Summary.

Education
01/31/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1525

LB287 
amended into 
LB235

Support

233



BILL 
NO.

INTRODUCER(S)
DESCRIPTION AND
SUMMARY OF BILL

COMM. & 
HRG. DATE

GF SF FR Status POSITION

LB364 Fischer Change provisions relating to calculation of state aid to schools

Revises state aid formula to eliminate the instructional time allowance, the teacher education allowance, 
and the student growth adjustment for computation of state aid in school fiscal year 2011-12 and beyond.  
Although the effect on individual school districts is not yet known, Senator Fischer has indicated her intent 
was to reduce the total liability for state aid to schools.  NCSA Summary.

Education
01/31/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1525

Oppose

LB381 Speaker Flood Change provisions relating to educational service units, withdraw from the Compact for Education, and 
eliminate a student achievement coordinator

Education
02/14/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1525

Monitor? 

LB382 Nordquist

NE RETIREMENT 
SYSTEMS 
PRIORITY BILL 
(2011)

Change deposit and contribution rates for certain retirement systems

Requires School Retirement Fund retirement contributions from employees of 9.28% of compensation from 
9/2011 through 8/2013 and contributions of 8.28% from 9/2013 through 8/2014.  The most recent required 
contribution was 8.28%.  From 7/2011 until 7/2013, requires retirement contributions paid by Nebraska 
State Patrol officers or paid on the officer’s behalf of 19%of monthly compensation. From 2013 onward, 
requires 16% contribution.  Provides for assessments against the appropriation of the Nebraska State Patrol 
in those amounts for those periods.  

NCSA:  Proposes to change the employee contribution rate for the School Employees Plan from 8.28% to 
9.28% effective September 1, 2011.  The employer rate (equal to 101% of the employee rate) would 
increase from 8.36% to 9.37%.  It is important to note that the bill was introduced on behalf of the 
Governor and that, while the proposal calls for a full percentage increase, the Retirement Committee is not 
bound to that idea.  It is likely that LB 382 will be advanced from committee this session, but it may not 
have to include a full percent increase.  Talks are under way to examine, for instance, a half percent 
increase or some figure less than a full percent.  The underlying objective is to address the immediate 
actuarial shortfall and to be cognizant of the increased burden placed on employees as well as employers.

Increase the employee contribution rate from 8.28% to 8.88% beginning September 1, 2011 (8.97% for 
               

Nebraska 
Retirement 
Systems
02/01/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1525

04/07/11 04/18/11 04/26/11 Passed w/E 
04/28/11
Signed by the 
Governor 
05/04/11

Monitor ?

LB397 Lathrop

BUSINESS AND 
LABOR PRIORITY 
BILL (2011)

SPEAKER MAJOR 
PROPOSAL (2011)

Redefine a term in the Industrial Relations Act

Clarifies that the reference to employer in the definition of employee refers to the definition of employer 
provided by the Industrial Relations Act.  Shell bill for CIR.

See LB 619, LB 664, LR29CA

Business and 
Labor
02/07/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1524
04/13/11
at 12:00 p.m.
Room 2102

04/07/11 05/04/11 Monitor ?

234



BILL 
NO.

INTRODUCER(S)
DESCRIPTION AND
SUMMARY OF BILL

COMM. & 
HRG. DATE

GF SF FR Status POSITION

LB430 Cornett Change property tax levy limitations

Provides that property tax levies for “bonds as defined in section 10-134” rather than “bonded 
indebtedness” are not subject to the local government levy limits established under section 77-3442.  
Resolves a dispute between State Auditor’s office and certain SIDs.    

ENDC legislation

Revenue
02/02/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1524

03/04/11 Support

LB439 Heidemann Change valuation of agricultural and horticultural land for school tax purposes

Provides that for school district taxation purposes, agricultural and horticultural land shall be valued at 65% 
of its actual value, and greenland 65% of its special value.  Provides that the acceptable range of TERC 
variation for such land for school district taxation purposes is 59% to 65% of actual value.  For purposes of 
TEEOSA, provides that agricultural and horticultural land has a state aid value of 62% of actual value and 
greenland has a state aid value of 62% of the special valuation. NCSA summary.  

Revenue
03/03/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1524

Oppose

LB440 Heidemann Change adjusted-valuation provisions within the Tax Equity and Educational Opportunities Support Act

Provides for a gradual reduction (1% per year) in agricultural and horticultural land state aid value and 
greenland state aid value from the current 72% to 62% of actual value over the course of the next 10 years.  
The state aid value is used to calculate TEEOSA aid. NCSA Summary.

Education
02/01/11 at 
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1525

Killed 
2/17/2011

Oppose

LB446 Adams Change duties and funding provisions relating to educational service units

Provides that an ESU may consist of a single school district if that district is a Class IV or Class V district.  
Provides that only an ESU with four or members or that is composed of a single Class IV or V school 
district may levy a tax.  Provides for the calculation of the adjusted students number for a single member 
ESU.  Provides that it is the intent of the legislature that each multidistrict ESU use 5% of its funding for 
core services and technology infrastructure for cooperative projects between member school districts and 
5% for core services and technology infrastructure statewide projects.  

Education
02/14/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1525

Oppose

235



BILL 
NO.

INTRODUCER(S)
DESCRIPTION AND
SUMMARY OF BILL

COMM. & 
HRG. DATE

GF SF FR Status POSITION

LB463 Ashford

JUDICIARY 
PRIORITY BILL 
(2011)

Change juvenile penalty, records, service plan, probation sanctions, and truancy provisions

Expands access to sealed records to law enforcement agency if a person whose record has been sealed 
applies for employment with the law enforcement agency. All school districts shall have a policy that 
outlines how the school district and the county attorney will handle cases in which excessive absences are 
due to documented serious illness. If a child is absent more than ten days per year or the hourly equivalent 
or is suspended from school for any reason, the school district shall inform and request from juvenile 
probation officers as defined in section 29-2246, the Department of Health and Human Services and any 
private entity providing services to children and families pursuant to a contract with the department, and 
the Nebraska Commission on Law Enforcement and Criminal Justice any information relating to such child 
available to the officers, department, entities, and commission. The officers, department, entities, and 
commission shall provide any such information in their records to the school district. Includes reducing 
truancy in the list of duties of the learning community.  Redefines truancy as students who are absent for 
more than ten days each year.  

(LB79:  Provide grants for court appointed special advocate programs)

Judiciary
02/24/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1113

03/14/11 04/11/11 04/27/11 Passed 
05/05/11

LB79 
amended into 
LB 463

Oppose

LB482 Utter

UTTER PRIORITY 
BILL (2011)

Change provisions governing industrial disputes involving municipal corporations under the Industrial 
Relations Act

Business and 
Labor
02/07/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1524

Killed 
05/04/11

Support

LB486 Louden Change provisions relating to compensation and contributions under the School Employees Retirement Act

Sunsets the 7% rule effective June 30, 2012.  Thereafter, any amount of annual salary increase exceeding 
9% would be excluded for purposes of computation of retirement benefits and there would be no 
exemptions to this rule.  Currently, a plan member of the School Employees Retirement System applying 
for retirement benefits is subject to have his/her salary examined by NPERS (the Retirement Agency) for 
the 60 months leading up to the anticipated date of retirement.  Under the current rule, any amount of 
annual salary increase exceeding 7% would be excluded for purposes of computation of retirement benefits 
unless at least one of three exemptions applies.

NCSA:  Proposes to eliminate the 7% Rule under the School Employees Plan along with the three 
exemptions under the rule and, in exchange, to raise the cap for purposes of calculating benefits to 9% with 
no exemptions. Under the existing rule, a plan member applying for retirement benefits is subject to have 
his/her salary examined by NPERS (the Retirement Agency) for the 60 months leading up to the declared 
date of retirement.  Any amount of annual salary exceeding 7% would be excluded for purposes of 
computation of retirement benefits unless at least one of three exemptions applies.  The three exemptions 
are:  A.  Substantial change of employment position or duties, B.  Result of collective bargaining 
agreement, or C.  District-wide permanent benefit-plan change.

Under LB 486, the existing 7% Rule would sunset on June 30, 2012, and, beginning July 1, 2012, a new 
l  ld l  f  id i  f l  i  h  i  f b fi   U d  h  d l   

Nebraska 
Retirement 
Systems
02/08/11
at 12:10 p.m.
room 1525

LB486 
amended into 
LB 509

Oppose

236



BILL 
NO.

INTRODUCER(S)
DESCRIPTION AND
SUMMARY OF BILL

COMM. & 
HRG. DATE

GF SF FR Status POSITION

LB509 Nebraska Retirement 
Systems Committee

NE RETIREMENT 
SYSTEMS 
PRIORITY BILL 
(2011)

Change provisions relating to retirement

NCSA:  Represents the technical cleanup bill for the NPERS.  One of the more significant changes 
proposed in LB 509 is a re-codification effort to place all cost-of-living (COLA) related provisions of each 
retirement plan into one section of law and to eliminate obsolete language.  The bill does not change or alter 
any existing COLA laws.  The bill neither increases nor diminishes any benefit for current or future retires.

(LB246:  Provide Nebraska State Patrol retirement benefits to a spouse who remarries)

(LB486:  Change provisions relating to compensation and contributions under the School Employees 
Retirement Act)

(LB532:  Provide for potential transfer of certain Department of Labor employees to the state retirement 
system)

Nebraska 
Retirement 
Systems
02/08/11
at 12:10 p.m.
Room 1525

03/04/11 03/22/11 03/29/11 Passed w/E 
04/08/11
04/14/11

LB246, 
LB486, and 
LB 532 
amended into 
LB 509

Support

(LB486 Oppose)

LB512 Christensen

SPEAKER FLOOD 
PRIORITY BILL 
(2011)

Change provisions relating to mental health determinations regarding the possession and purchase of 
handguns

(LB138:  Change residency requirements under the Concealed Handgun Permit Act)

(LB618: Authorize possession of firearms as prescribed for school or school event security)

Judiciary
02/23/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1113

03/08/11 03/29/11 04/12/11 Passed 
04/20/11
Signed by 
Governor 
04/26/11

LB138 and LB 
618 amended 
into LB 512

Support

LB531 Fulton Change permissible budget reserves for schools

Lowers MPS allowable reserve percentage from 20% to 15%.  Provides that any reduction in a school 
district’s budget made to comply with the budget limitation under the state aid formula must affect 
classroom expenses at a last resort.  The obvious intent behind the bill is to force school districts to utilize 
its reserves toward instructional staff and to place instructional staff as the priority for budget expenditures.  
NCSA Summary.

Education
02/01/11 at 
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1525

Oppose

LB537 Karpisek Change provisions relating to budget limitations and property tax levy limitations Revenue
02/04/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1524

Support

LB544 Pahls

PAHLS PRIORITY 
BILL (2011)

Change provisions relating to civics education for students

Currently, state law provides that for grades below grade 6, one hour a week of school time should be 
devoted to “the duties of citizenship.”  This bill expands upon that by adding “including active 
participation in the improvement of a citizen's community, state, country, and world and the value and 
practice of civil discourse between opposing interests.”

Education
03/15/11
at 1:30 p.m.
room 1525
CANCELLED
02/14/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1525

03/03/11 03/15/11 03/29/11 Passed 
04/20/11
Signed by the 
Governor 
04/26/11

Oppose

237



BILL 
NO.

INTRODUCER(S)
DESCRIPTION AND
SUMMARY OF BILL

COMM. & 
HRG. DATE

GF SF FR Status POSITION

LB548 McCoy Change, transfer, and eliminate provisions relating to learning communities

Replaces the 18 generally elected voting members of learning community coordinating council with 9 
school board members from the districts in the learning community.  Selection of members: (a) one school 
board member would be appointed by the other school district members from each of the six learning 
community geographic districts (the elected member must live in the district) and (2) three at large school 
board members as appointed by all school board members within the learning community. Changes duties 
of the superintendent advisory committee.  Eliminates the achievement subcouncil and gives some of those 
previous duties to the superintendent advisory committee.  
Provides that the learning community coordinating council must approve a focus program, focus school, or 
pathway program before it is established by a learning community school districts.  Provides that learning 
community school districts may independently participate in one or more joint entities formed pursuant to 
the Interlocal Cooperation Act for the purpose of creating, implementing, and operating focus programs, 
focus schools, magnet schools, or pathway programs which shall not require the approval of the learning 
community coordinating council. Removes language designating a school district as the primary school 
district when the school districts collaborate on a focus program, focus school, or magnet school.  Provides 
that student selection and attendance for such focus programs, focus schools, magnet schools, and pathway 
programs, whether approved by the learning community coordinating council or created and operated 

Education
02/22/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1525

Killed 
03/03/11

Support

LB558 Nordquist

NORDQUIST 
PRIORITY BILL 
(2011)

Change provisions relating to focus schools, focus programs, and magnet schools

Removes the “pursuant to the diversity plan developed
by the learning community coordinating council” language after the section that allows any members 
school district of a learning community to establish one or more focus programs, focus schools, or magnet 
schools.  Provides that if a focus school or focus program is part of a diversity plan of the learning 
community, it is eligible for an allowance.  Removes the designation of a primary school district when the 
school districts collaborate on a focus program, focus school, or magnet school.

Education
02/22/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1525

03/10/11 03/29/11 04/12/11 Passed 
04/20/11

Signed by the 
Governor 
04/26/11

Monitor

LB564 Fulton

FULTON 
PRIORITY BILL 
(2011)

Change and eliminate provisions of the Industrial Relations Act and the State Employees Collective 
Bargaining Act

Business and 
Labor
02/07/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1524

Killed 
05/04/11

Supprot

LB572 Price Limit transfers of students between learning community member school districts

Provides that if a learning community coordinating council creates an elementary learning center within a 
member school district, a student residing in such member school district is not eligible to transfer to 
another school district within the learning community.

Education
02/28/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1525

Oppose

238



BILL 
NO.

INTRODUCER(S)
DESCRIPTION AND
SUMMARY OF BILL

COMM. & 
HRG. DATE

GF SF FR Status POSITION

LB582 Haar Adopt the Student Expression Act

Provides that the right of students to free expression in all public schools in Nebraska shall not be abridged 
except as provided in the Student Expression Act.  Prohibits certain types of student expression including 
(1) obscene expressions, defamatory expressions, and expression that creates clear and present danger of 
unlawful acts or causes material and substantial disruption of the school or invasion of privacy.  Provides 
that the Legislature encourages school districts to adopt and publish policies on student expression 
following the guidelines of the Student Expression Act.

Education
03/08/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1525

Oppose

LB591 Gloor Provide for a syndromic surveillance program and change immunization information exchange provisions

The Department of Health and Human Services shall develop a syndromic surveillance program that 
respects patient privacy and benefits from advances in both electronic health records and electronic health 
information exchange. The syndromic surveillance program shall include the monitoring, detection, and 
investigation of public health threats. The department shall adopt standards for syndromic surveillance 
reporting by hospitals. The department may require syndromic surveillance reporting by other health care 
facilities or any person issued a credential by the department.  The department shall a schedule for the 
implementation of full electronic reporting of all syndromic surveillance data elements. Confidentiality and 
immunity provisions apply to syndromic surveillance data reports.  It is the intent of immunization 
information between professionals, facilities, and  departments health care professionals, health care 
facilities, health  care services, schools, postsecondary educational institutions, licensed child care facilities, 
electronic health-record systems,  public health departments, health departments of other states, Indian  
health services, and tribes for the purpose of protecting the public  health by facilitating age-appropriate 
immunizations which will  minimize the risk of outbreak of childhood vaccine-preventable diseases.  The 
Department of Health and Human Services shall establish an immunization information system for the 
purpose of providing a central data base.

Health and 
Human Services
02/24/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1510

03/10/11 04/28/11 05/05/11 Oppose

LB615 Krist Change provisions relating to access to student records and learning community reporting and diversity 
plans

See LB 636

Education
02/22/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1525

Oppose

239



BILL 
NO.

INTRODUCER(S)
DESCRIPTION AND
SUMMARY OF BILL

COMM. & 
HRG. DATE

GF SF FR Status POSITION

LB618 Harr Authorize possession of firearms as prescribed for school or school event security

Provides that peace officers or other duly authorized law enforcement officers, when contracted to or 
otherwise requested to by a school district, may possess a firearm on school property.

      Christensen introduced an amendment on select file containing provisions from LB618, a bill originally 
introduced by Omaha Sen. burke Harr.  The amendment would allow peace officers or other duly 
authorized law enforcement officers to possess firearms when contracted by a school to provide school 
security or school event control services.
     The amendment would provide a great option for schools to allow private security on their property for 
school functions, Christensen said.  The amendment was adopted 29-0 and the bill was given second-round 
approval on a voice vote.

Judiciary
02/16/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1113

03/08/11

LB618 
amended into 
LB 512

Support

LB619 Larson Remove school districts, learning communities, and educational service units from the Industrial Relations 
Act

See LB 397, LB 664, LR29CA

Business and 
Labor
02/07/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1524

Killed 
05/04/11

Oppose

LB633 Adams Change provisions relating to certain tax levies and certain bonds of school districts and authorize 
refunding bonds

Education
03/01/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1525

03/17/11 Support

LB634 Adams Change provisions relating to the tax levy authority of school districts relating to certain bonds

Allows a school district to exceed the maximum levy of 5.2¢ (to cover environmental hazard abetment and 
other projects) in any year in which: (1) the taxable valuation of the district is lower than the taxable 
valuation in the year in which the district last issued bonds pursuant to this section and (2) the maximum 
levy of 5.2¢ is insufficient to meet the combined annual principal and interest obligations for all bonds 
issued under section 79-10,110.  The amount generated from a district's levy in excess of the maximum 
levy of 5.2¢ upon the taxable valuation of the district may not exceed the combined annual principal and 
interest obligations for such bonds minus the amount generated by levying the maximum levy of 5.2¢ upon 
the taxable valuation of the district and minus any federal payments or subsidies associated with such 
bonds.

Education
03/01/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1525

Support

LB635 Adams Change the Quality Education Accountability Act

Requires the State Board of Education to establish an index to be used to measure the performance of 
individual public schools beginning with school year 2012-13.  Schools who do not meet the minimum 
level of performance established by the board would be designated as a “priority school” and an 
intervention team would be established for each priority school.  The intervention team would develop 
annual progress plans.  Provides for possible loss of accreditation after 5 years of being a priority school.  

Education
03/15/11
at 1:30 p.m.
room 1525

LB635 
amended into 
LB 637

Support

240



BILL 
NO.

INTRODUCER(S)
DESCRIPTION AND
SUMMARY OF BILL

COMM. & 
HRG. DATE

GF SF FR Status POSITION

LB636 Adams Change provisions relating to access to student records and learning community reporting and diversity 
plans

Permits the disclosure of certain student records to learning community employees, but without identifiable 
personal information.  Requires the learning community coordinating council to annually report data and 
information provided by member school districts under certain sections to the Education Committee.  
Changes requirements for the learning community school districts to provide copies of applications 
submitted to attend a focus school, focus program, magnet school, or school building not in the student’s 
attendance area and to mark whether that application was accepted or rejected. 

See LB 615

Education
02/22/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1525

Oppose

LB637 Adams

EDUCATION 
PRIORITY BILL 
(2011)

Adopt the Postsecondary Institution Act and change provisions relating to the Coordinating Commission 
for Postsecondary Education

(LB58:  Provide for a study of dual-enrollment courses and career academies)

(LB372:  Change provisions relating to postsecondary course and program offerings)

(LB637:  Change the Quality Education Accountability Act)

Education
02/07/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1525

03/17/11 04/07/11 04/20/11 Passed w/E 
04/28/11
Signed by the 
Governor 
05/04/11

LB58, 372, 
and LB 635 
amended into 
LB 637

(LB58:
MPS Support)

(LB635:
MPS Support)

LB664 Nelson

NELSON 
PRIORITY BILL 
(2011)

Repeal the Industrial Relations Act and the State Employees Collective Bargaining Act and prohibit public 
collective bargaining and work stoppage

Business and 
Labor
02/07/11
at 1:30 p.m.
Room 1524

Killed 
05/04/11

Support

241



BILL 
NO.

INTRODUCER(S)
DESCRIPTION AND
SUMMARY OF BILL

COMM. & 
HRG. DATE

GF SF FR Status POSITION

LB680 Heidemann Adopt the School Employees Cash Balance Retirement Act

Creates a cash balance retirement system for new hire school employees, similar to the current plan offered 
to state employees, often referred to as a hybrid of both defined benefit and defined contribution plans.  
Does not impact the retirement system for existing school employees.   Under the State Employees 
Retirement Plan, employees contribute about 4.8% of salary and the employer (the state) contributes about 
7.5% of salary to an employee account.  The employee cannot control investment of the account, but is 
guaranteed an annual return of at least 5% a year.  The account can receive a higher return, depending on 
investment earnings.  At retirement, the employee may buy an annuity, or withdraw the balance in a lump 
sum or in installments.  The bill will likely be referred to an interim study after the session adjourns.  

NCSA:  Would create a cash balance retirement system for new hire school employees.  It is important to 
note this legislation would not change the retirement system for existing school employees.  The bill 
proposes a retirement system similar to the current plan offered to state employees, often referred to as a 
hybrid system (both a defined benefit and defined contribution plan).  Senator Heidemann offered the bill 
knowing that it would require significant study.  The bill will likely be referred to an interim study after the 
session adjourns.

Nebraska 
Retirement 
Systems
03/01/11
at 12:10 p.m.
Room 1525

Oppose

242



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM:  Report on Bond Issue Survey 
 
MEETING DATE: May 16, 2011 
 
DEPARTMENT: Office of the Superintendent    
 
TITLE AND BRIEF DESCRIPTION: This is a report on the Bond Issue Survey 

 
ACTION DESIRED: APPROVAL          DISCUSSION          INFORMATION ONLY  XX        
 
BACKGROUND:  Amy Friedman, Tami Williams and I met with Julie Smith of Wiese Research Associates to 
develop a survey of our patrons in order to find out the level of support for a future bond issue.  Julie has 
worked with Millard the previous two times we conducted a similar bond issue survey We decided to ask 
questions on three levels of funding  (90, 135 and 180 million).  These numbers were generated from 
discussions with the executive team and Ed Rockwell and represent prioritized projects including, building 
additions and renovations, technology, security, and energy efficiency projects.  
 
It was decided to sample using the largest sample size recommended to ensure more accurate results.  The 
sample size was 800 households.  The sample included 37% parents and 63% non parents who live in our 
community but do not have children who attend the schools.  This number matched the demographic sample.   
 
The results are explained in detail with an executive summary.  In general the results are favorable at all three 
levels and with both parents and non-parents.     
 
Julie Smith will be at the meeting if you have specific questions about how the survey was conducted and the 
results.   
 
We will be analyzing this study over the next few weeks to determine where we go from here.     
 
OPTIONS AND ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED: 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE: 
 
 
IMPLICATIONS OF ADOPTION OR REJECTION: 

 
TIMELINE: 
 
 
RESPONSIBLE PERSON:  Angelo Passarelli 
 
 
SUPERINTENDENT’S APPROVAL:                                                                  
        (Signature) 
 

243

sphelps
Kieths Stamp



9375 Burt Street, Suite 100
Omaha, NE  68114

(402) 391-7734

MILLARD PUBLIC SCHOOLS
BOND ISSUE INSIGHT STUDY

- SUMMARY REPORT -

April 2011

244



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
1

INTRODUCTION TO THE SUMMARY REPORT 2

STUDY METHODOLOGY 4

KEY FINDINGS 9

How Parents And Non-Parents Differ… 10
A Higher Voter Turnout Might Be Expected Among Non-Parent Households… 11
At This Point, Awareness For A Proposed School Bond Issue Is Fairly Low… 12
Top-Of-Mind Voting Intentions With Regard To A Proposed $180 Million
School Bond Issue… 13
Among The Five Components Of The Proposed $180 Million Bond
Issue, Security And Technology Were Rated As Most Important… 15
Among The Supporting Arguments Tested, Increased Class Sizes
Would Have The Greatest Impact On Favoring The Millard School Bond… 16
Support For The $180 Million Proposed Bond Tended To Get
Stronger With More Information… 17
Support For Lower Proposed Bond Amounts Tended To Increase
As One Might Expect… 18
Final Thoughts Among District Residents… 19
Overall Summary 20

SUMMARY TABLES AND GRAPHS 21

APPENDIX A – Survey Instrument 52

TABLE OF CONTENTS 245



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
2

INTRODUCTION TO THE 
SUMMARY REPORT

246



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
3

In preparing a summary of research findings, an attempt was made to present the information deemed most important and to discuss
the data in such a way that will be meaningful and understandable to the reader. Since summaries by their very nature are not
comprehensive, it cannot be expected that all findings of potential value will be thoroughly discussed or presented in this report. Therefore,
the reader should consider not only this document, but also the comprehensive Tabular Results, provided under separate cover, for a more
thorough review of these findings.

For this report, Wiese Research Associates, Inc. (WRA) has relied upon its professional research experience in selecting data for
presentation and, where deemed appropriate, has forwarded some possible interpretations with regard to how these results might influence
planning or decision making. However, these interpretations are certainly not meant to be the only possible conclusions that can be drawn
from the information obtained in this study. Further, no final recommendations or suggested courses of action have been included in this
report. Rather, Millard Public Schools must consider these results, along with information and knowledge possessed outside the scope of
this study, when making final determinations and decisions based on the research.

The format of this report consists of a narrative discussion of key findings, followed by numerous charts that graphically depict the
results. This discussion of findings is preceded by a brief description of the study methodology employed for this research.

247



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
4

STUDY METHODOLOGY

248



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
5

PURPOSE OF THE RESEARCH

 Millard Public Schools is interested in exploring whether this is an appropriate time to issue a bond for a variety of projects such as
school renovations and additions, upgrading technology, improving security, and implementing energy efficiency projects. The overall
purpose of this research study was to measure support for a proposed school bond issue among Millard School District residents, which
may be voted upon this coming Fall. The information collected through the research will assist the school district in determining whether
or not to put forth a bond issue, the specific amount of a potential bond, and the allocation of the bond to various district needs.
Additionally, the research data obtained should aid Millard Public Schools in formulating and implementing their information campaign to
gain support from residents regarding the proposed bond.

SAMPLING DESIGN

 With any research project, it is critically important to accurately define and understand the population to be studied. The population is
the group from which all sampling takes place and to which the results must be projected. For this study, the “population of interest”
was defined as registered voters residing within the Millard School District. In order to ensure proper representation of the Millard
School District, WRA established quotas based on parent (i.e., those with a child currently attending a Millard school) and non-parent
(i.e., those who do not currently have a child attending a Millard school) households. Further, geographic quotas were set by region
within the district, based on household proximity to one of the three Millard high schools. A complete list of households within the
Millard School District was provided to WRA by Millard Public Schools for sampling purposes. The total sample achieved for this project
was 800 completed interviews. As mentioned, quotas by parent versus non-parent households as well as by geographic region were
set in order to ensure accurate representation of the sample based on the list of total households provided to WRA. The list counts and
number of interviews completed based on parent status and geographic region are shown in Chart A, on the following page.

249



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
6

CHART A

REGION/PARENT STATUS

HOUSEHOLD 
COUNTS

(FROM MPS 
LIST)

% OF 
HOUSEHOLDS

% OF 
COMPLETED 
INTERVIEWS

% OF TOTAL 
SAMPLE

MILLARD NORTH 8,629 27% 216 27%
Parents 2,655 8% 64 8%
Non-Parents 5,974 19% 152 19%
MILLARD SOUTH 9,887 32% 256 32%
Parents 3,102 10% 80 10%
Non-Parents 6,785 22% 176 22%
MILLARD WEST 12,873 41% 328 41%
Parents 5,850 19% 152 19%
Non-Parents 7,023 22% 176 22%
TOTAL 31,389 100% 800 100%

 Households for contact were selected on a random basis from the list. Millard School District residency was confirmed at the beginning
of the survey and registered voters were screened for and interviewed. In projecting the results obtained to the population of interest, it
is assumed that the list provided by Millard Public Schools is complete and reflects the actual proportion of parent versus non-parent
households within the district, by high school region.

250



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
7

ACCURACY OF RESULTS

 The accuracy of research results when random sampling is utilized is a function of both the sample size as well as the obtained results
for any given question. The chart below depicts the error ranges achieved for the total sample of n=800 and more importantly, for
selected subsample sizes, given various obtained result percentages.

EXPECTED STANDARD ERROR RANGES
FOR SELECTED SAMPLE SIZES*

Sample Size
For obtained results of…

10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90%
n=800 ±2.1 ±2.8 ±3.2 ±3.4 ±3.5 ±3.4 ±3.2 ±2.8 ±2.1
n=500 ±2.6 ±3.5 ±4.0 ±4.3 ±4.4 ±4.3 ±4.0 ±3.5 ±2.6
n=400 ±2.9 ±3.9 ±4.5 ±4.8 ±4.9 ±4.8 ±4.5 ±3.9 ±2.9
n=300 ±3.4 ±4.5 ±5.2 ±5.5 ±5.7 ±5.5 ±5.2 ±4.5 ±3.4
n=200 ±4.2 ±5.5 ±6.4 ±6.8 ±6.9 ±6.8 ±6.4 ±5.5 ±4.2
n=100 ±5.9 ±7.8 ±9.0 ±9.6 ±9.8 ±9.6 ±9.0 ±7.8 ±5.9
n=50 ±8.3 ±11.1 ±12.7 ±13.6 ±13.9 ±13.6 ±12.7 ±11.1 ±8.3

*Ranges expressed as percentage points at the 95% confidence level.

METHOD OF SAMPLE CONTACT

 Telephone was the method of sample contact for this project. All calling took place from one of WRA’s central interviewing facilities in
Nebraska. WRA utilized its own staff of trained and experienced interviewers for this project. Each interviewer was fully briefed on the
proper administration of the questionnaire prior to sample contact, with surveys monitored while in progress by WRA supervisors.

251



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
8

INTERVIEWING DATES

 Data collection for this study took place from April 7 to April 17, 2011. The average interview length was between 10 and 11 minutes on
the phone and a copy of the survey administered to respondents can be found in Appendix A. When referring to research results from
this study, it is important to keep in mind the time period in which data was collected. The results should be viewed as a “point in time”
study and although a proposed bond issue may not be voted upon until the Fall of 2011, the time between data collection and the actual
potential vote allows the district to formulate and implement an information campaign for residents.

252



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
9

KEY FINDINGS

253



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
10

HOW PARENTS AND NON-PARENTS DIFFER…
[Reference: Table 1, Figure 1, Figure 1A, And Figure 1B]

 Prior to reviewing the research results obtained through this study, it is of value to understand the characteristics of the sample. While
quotas dictated how the total sample was apportioned across households based parent status and geographic region, the remaining
characteristics were allowed to “fall out” at random. Table 1 presents the profile of parent households versus non-parent households
within the school district. As shown in Chart A previously, it is important to note that non-parents comprise 63% of the households
within the Millard School District while parents account for the remaining 37% of households. As one might expect, those who do not
currently have a child attending a Millard Public School tend to be older than those who do (median age of 55 years versus 42 years,
respectively) and further, in a corollary trend, non-parents tend to have resided within the Millard Public School District for a longer
period of time than parents (66% of non-parents have resided for over 15 years versus 29% of parents).

 When considering only the parent subsample, Figure 1 shows that 45% have just one child attending a Millard Public School, while a
majority (55%) have at least two children doing so. Some slight variations by region with regard to the number of children attending a
Millard Public School were seen although these were not statistically significant. Figure 1A illustrates the individual Millard School
attended by the children of parents interviewed for this study and on an overall basis, it can be said that 57% of the parent sample have
a child attending an elementary school within the district, while 34% have a middle school child, and 43% have at least one child
attending a Millard high school.

 When considering non-parents, it is important to note the degree to which these households may have a child attending a Millard Public
School within the next five years. As shown in Figure 1B, 12% of non-parents expect to have a child attending a Millard Public School
within this time frame. The result to this question varied by region with a relatively higher expected rate seen within the Millard West
region (16%), while the lowest potential incidence of this occurring was within the Millard North region (7%). Again, it is important to
keep in mind the characteristics of parent households versus non-parent households when reviewing subsequent research findings
presented in this report since these characteristics can help to explain some differences in results.

254



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
11

A HIGHER VOTER TURNOUT MIGHT BE EXPECTED
AMONG NON-PARENT HOUSEHOLDS…
[Reference: Figure 2 And Figure 3]

 In order to better understand the voting intentions among registered Millard Public School District residents, all respondents in this study
were initially asked whether or not they had voted in the November 2010 general election. Although the results shown in Figure 2 may
be slightly inflated due to some respondents perhaps wanting to give a socially-desirable response, results do indicate that non-parents
(86%) were significantly more likely than parents (70%) to have voted in the most recent past general election. Given the characteristics
of these two samples, it is therefore not surprising to find that a greater incidence of having voted exists among older residents and
those who have lived within the district for a longer period of time. This may also help to explain the results by region where a
significantly greater proportion of Millard North area residents indicated having voted when compared to Millard South or in particular,
Millard West residents.

 These same voting trends are apparent in Figure 3 when respondents were asked about their likelihood to vote this coming Fall on a
proposed Millard school bond issue. That is, non-parents (44%) were significantly more likely to indicate that they were absolutely
certain to vote this coming Fall on a school bond issue when compared to parents (31%). As would follow, being absolutely certain to
vote was found to be significantly higher among older residents and among residents who have lived in the school district for at least
seven years when compared to younger residents and those residing here under seven years, respectively. Again, because of the
socially-desirable response of saying that one would be likely to vote in an upcoming election (71% of the total sample indicated they
were at least very likely), the results subsequently presented will show separately, the findings for those who are absolutely certain to
vote on the bond issue. This respondent group is perhaps a more reliable key segment of the analysis.

255



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
12

AT THIS POINT, AWARENESS FOR A PROPOSED
SCHOOL BOND ISSUE IS FAIRLY LOW…
[Reference: Figure 4 And Table 2]

 In understanding the perspective from which respondents may view a potential bond issue, everyone was initially asked whether they
had read, seen, or heard anything about this proposed bond, prior to delving into specific questions regarding the bond. As shown in
Figure 4, only 13% of the district residents would be projected to have read, seen, or heard anything about this potential bond and
further, there were no differences in results between parents and non-parents. Findings do, however, indicate that those who are more
likely to vote on this bond issue are more likely to have read, seen, or heard something about this bond. Among those who indicated
that they are absolutely certain to vote in an upcoming Fall election regarding a bond issue, 19% stated they have read, seen, or heard
something about this, while 14% of those who are very likely to vote replied similarly. This compares to only 6% of those who are not
sure or might possibly vote on a bond issue this coming Fall and 2% of those who are not likely to vote on such an issue. Results to this
question were not significantly different by age group or by region. Overall, awareness of this potential bond issue is fairly low at this
time even among likely voters.

 In any information campaign, it is important to know the information sources utilized by various groups of interest. Therefore, a question
in the survey determined how respondents usually get information about Millard Public Schools. As shown in Table 2, when
considering the total sample, newspaper (49%) was the top source volunteered followed by district newsletter/publications (30%),
television (30%), and school newsletter (25%). Naturally, targeting parents versus non-parents may differ given that their sources of
information about the district vary slightly. More specifically, the top sources of information among parents include school newsletter
(42%), newspaper (32%), district newsletter/publications (29%), and email (25%). Non-parents on the other hand, most heavily rely on
newspaper (59%), followed by television (37%) and district newsletter/publications (31%).

 When considering the sources utilized among those who indicated they were absolutely certain to vote on a proposed bond issue in the
Fall, newspaper (58%) was the leading source followed by district newsletter/publications (34%), television (33%), and school
newsletter (20%). These same four sources of information were the leading ones volunteered among those who indicated they were
very likely to vote on a proposed bond issue in the Fall. Obviously, the key to reaching and effectively communicating to residents in the

256



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
13

district regarding the bond issue would be through local media such as newspaper and television as well as through district
newsletter/publications and school newsletters. For parents specifically, email is an additional noteworthy source utilized to gain
information about the district.

TOP-OF-MIND VOTING INTENTIONS WITH REGARD
TO A PROPOSED $180 MILLION SCHOOL BOND ISSUE…
[Reference: Figure 5, Table 3A, Table 3B, Table 3C]

 Before educating respondents about the proposed $180 million bond issue in terms of specifically what the bond may potentially be
used for, it is of value to obtain their “top-of-mind” voting intentions. This will allow the district to understand where they will be “starting
from” and where they can potentially “move to” based on an information campaign that may be implemented. The “top-of-mind”
intentions were obtained after describing the potential school bond as possibly being on the ballot as follows:

 Given this description, the “top-of-mind” voting intentions are presented in Figure 5 and show that a majority (61%) of the total sample
would be in favor (i.e., strongly in favor, moderately in favor, or leaning towards) of this proposed bond. In terms of opposition when
considering the total sample, 30% expressed that they would be strongly against, moderately against, or leaning against this proposed
bond. As one might expect, statistically significant differences in these top-of-mind voting intentions were found by parent status with a
greater proportion of parents (70%) being in favor of this proposed bond versus non-parents (56%). When considering likely voters,
61% of those who indicated they were absolutely certain to vote on this proposed bond issue in the Fall were in favor of it, while 64% of
those who were very likely to vote on the proposed bond issue in the Fall were in favor of it.

“The Millard Public School District is asking approval for $180 million in bonds for school building renovations, additions
to existing schools, security improvements, updated technology, and energy-efficiency projects. If passed, this would
require about a 9 cent tax increase which amounts to be about $93 per year on a $100,000 home or $186 per year on a
$200,000 home.”

257



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
14

 Those residing within the Millard West region (65%) were significantly more likely to be in favor of this proposed bond versus those
within the Millard North region (56%). Given that parents were significantly more likely to be in favor of this bond issue versus
non-parents, it is perhaps not surprising to see that respondents under the age of 60 as well as those who have lived within the district
for less than 15 years were more likely to be in favor of this proposed bond than their older and longer-term counterparts. Overall,
regardless of the segment shown in Figure 5, it is encouraging to see that a majority of respondents would be in favor of this proposed
bond at this time, on a “top-of-mind” basis.

 Among those who would be in favor of the bond (i.e., at least leaning towards), the reason for feeling this way most often revolves
around perceptions that this is a good thing/education is important/it’s an investment in the future (43%). As shown in Table 3A, this
was the top reason volunteered by both parents and non-parents who would be in favor of this bond. This same reason was also
volunteered most often by likely voters (i.e., those who are absolutely certain or very likely to vote on the bond issue) questioned. For
about one-fourth (23%) of those who are at least leaning towards this potential bond, the need for more information is desired. It should
be noted that 14% of these respondents did not more strongly favor the bond because they feel that taxes are already too high. Other
volunteered reasons for at least leaning towards this proposed bond worth noting include need building renovations/additions (11%) and
need security improvements (6%). No other specific reason was volunteered by more than 4% of the total base sample.

 As one might expect, those who would be against this proposed bond most often feel this way because they do not want a tax increase
(46%). Still, 16% of those who would be at least leaning against this bond feel that they need more information. Other notable reasons
for being against the bond include district wastes money/needs to spend wisely (14%), no child attending/attends private school (12%),
and bond amount is too high (12%).

 The primary factor upon which one’s decision regarding this bond depends, as volunteered by those who are undecided, is where the
money is allocated (30%). Other concerns among those who are undecided worth noting include need more information (27%) and the
tax increase amount (22%).

 Regardless of whether residents are in favor, oppose, or are undecided about this bond, it is obvious that a significant portion would
want more information about what the money would be used for as well as more specifics regarding the impact on taxes. In reviewing
Tables 3A through 3C, it is important to keep in mind the base sample of the results presented on each table and while 46% of those
who oppose the bond do not want a tax increase, this translates to about 14% of the total sample (or total population).

258



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
15

AMONG THE FIVE COMPONENTS OF THE PROPOSED
$180 MILLION BOND ISSUE, SECURITY AND TECHNOLOGY
WERE RATED AS MOST IMPORTANT…
[Reference: Figure 6, Table 4A-Table 4E]

 In an attempt to educate respondents further on the potential uses of the $180 million bond, an in-depth description regarding the five
components of this proposed bond (i.e., building renovations, additions, technology, security, and energy-efficiency projects) were
provided to respondents who were then asked to rate the importance of each using a 1-to-10 scale with “1” being Not At All Important
and “10” being Extremely Important. Based on the total sample results, it can be seen in Figure 6 that the approximate $6 million that
would be allocated for security was rated highest in importance (mean of 7.23) followed closely by the approximate $25 million for
technology (mean of 7.19). It is worth pointing out that for both of these elements, parents rated the importance of each significantly
higher than non-parents. Still, these were the two highest rated elements among non-parents as well, when considering the five
components tested. The importance ratings among the total sample also show that the $5 million towards energy-efficiency projects
component was rated third highest in importance (mean of 6.79) followed by the $128 million for building renovations (mean of 6.36)
and $16 million for additions to schools (mean of 6.27) components.

 As one might expect, parents rated the importance of each of the five components higher than non-parents. Among those who are
absolutely certain to vote on a proposed bond issue in the Fall, the $25 million in technology component was rated highest in
importance (mean of 7.19) followed closely by the $6 million security component (mean of 7.04).

 Respondents who rated components a “6” or lower on the importance scale were subsequently asked why their rating was not higher
for that component. As shown in Tables 4A through 4E, the primary reason given for each component, among those who rated each
below a “7,” most often was due to a perceived lack of need. For each of the components, some also felt they needed more information
which was why they did not give a higher importance rating.

 Some additional specific reasons for low importance ratings are worth noting. With regard to the building renovations component of the
proposed $180 million bond, 11% of those who rated this element as a “6” or lower felt that the district doesn’t spend money wisely,
while 8% felt that there was no need for artificial turf. For the $16 million additions component of the proposed bond, 8% of those who

259



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
16

rated this item as a “6” or lower on the importance scale felt that the district does not use space wisely (8%) while 6% said that support
services has a new building/has enough space and 5% indicated that they did not know what “support services” means. Explaining the
support services aspect further in communication efforts may be worthwhile. Although the technology aspect was highly rated in terms
of importance, 11% of those who rated this a “6” or lower did so because they felt the district should focus on basic education. With
regard to the security component of the bond, 9% of those who rated this element as a “6” or lower stated that they did so because this
aspect is an overreaction to the Millard South incident while 8% felt that things will happen anyway/can’t prevent. Finally, with regard to
the $5 million energy-efficiency component of the proposed bond, 10% of those who rated this element as a “6” or lower in terms of
importance felt that the money would be better spent elsewhere with more need/this is a lower priority while 9% felt that this element
had a high cost/was too expensive. Overall, the results in Tables 4A through 4E should help the district to some degree with bond
allocation and what to focus on in terms of communications regarding each of the five elements of the proposed bond issue.

AMONG THE SUPPORTING ARGUMENTS TESTED, INCREASED
CLASS SIZES WOULD HAVE THE GREATEST IMPACT
ON FAVORING THE MILLARD SCHOOL BOND…
[Reference: Figure 7]

 When respondents were presented with four possible arguments for supporting the $180 million Millard School bond, the potential for
increased class sizes had the greatest impact on respondents. More specifically, 36% of the total sample felt that this argument would
have a major impact on their supporting the bond issue while in total, 68% stated this argument would have at least a moderate impact.
It is not surprising to see that parents significantly more often felt this argument had an impact on their support of the bond versus
non-parents (78% at least a moderate impact versus 62%, respectively). Among the four arguments tested, increased class sizes also
had the greatest impact on those who indicated they were absolutely certain to vote in the bond election this Fall (65% at least a
moderate impact) and 70% of those who indicated they were very likely to vote.

 The arguments regarding an increased use of portable classrooms and neighborhoods being reassigned to other schools had more
moderate levels of impact on favoring this bond issue with just over one-half of the total sample indicating that these arguments would
have at least a moderate impact on their support of the bond. Once again for both of these arguments, a greater impact was found

260



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
17

among parents than non-parents. Increased use of portable classrooms had slightly more of an impact on those who indicated they
were absolutely certain to vote on a Fall bond issue when compared to the argument of neighborhoods being reassigned to other
schools. Relatively speaking, the argument of the tax levy having to increase by 1 to 2 cents if the bond is not passed had less of a
major impact on all sample segments shown in Figure 7. The results in Figure 7 should provide some direction as to the specific
arguments to focus on in communicating to district residents, in order to potentially garner more support for a bond.

SUPPORT FOR THE $180 MILLION PROPOSED BOND
TENDED TO GET STRONGER WITH MORE INFORMATION…
[Reference: Figure 8, Table 5A, And Table 5B]

 After having gone into detail during the survey regarding the allocation of funds from a proposed $180 million bond as well as the
potential consequences of not passing the bond, respondents’ intentions tended to shift in a more positive direction. Figure 8 shows
that based on the total sample, support for the $180 million bond after being educated was 64%. As one would expect, parents were
significantly more often in favor of this bond after being educated versus non-parents (72% versus 60%, respectively). Overall, 62% of
those who stated they were absolutely certain to vote on a bond issue in the Fall indicated they were in favor of the bond issue now,
while 66% of those who were very likely to vote in the Fall favored the bond issue after being educated. If we consider only the
percentage of those strongly in favor, Figure 8 shows significant shifts in support versus Figure 5 for every respondent group shown.

 Although not shown in Figure 8, results indicate that 22% of the total sample shifted their voting intentions in a more positive direction
after being educated about the bond while 9% shifted their intentions in more negative direction. These people who had changed their
opinion to either a more favorable or a less favorable voting intention were subsequently asked why they were now either more positive
about the proposed $180 million school bond or why they were more negative about this proposed bond.

 When considering those who became more positive about the proposed $180 million school bond after being educated during the
survey, 23% who increased their support volunteered they now know more details. Other volunteered reasons for increasing support of
this bond after being educated include know how it is to be allocated (17%), don’t want larger class sizes (12%), the need for security
(9%), the need for improving technology (9%), don’t want reassignment to other schools (7%), and it’s needed/necessary (7%).

261



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
18

 Both parents (20%) and non-parents (24%) most often volunteered their reason for increasing support of the school bond as to simply,
knowing more details. Non-parents also shifted their intentions to a more positive direction given that they now know how it is to be
allocated (19%). As one might expect, parents were more impacted by arguments such as increasing class sizes and possible
reassignment to other schools when compared to non-parents. Among those absolutely certain to vote, 20% stated that they felt they
were more in support of this bond issue now because they know how the money is to be allocated while 18% were more in favor
because they now know more details. These two reasons also top the list in terms of increased support among those who were very
likely to vote on a proposed bond issue in the Fall.

 When considering the 9% of respondents who shifted their voting intentions in a more negative direction after being educated about the
bond, 16% felt this way because they disagree with the allocation. For 14% of these respondents who became more negative about the
proposed bond, the need for more information was the reason for this shift. Other reasons volunteered perhaps worth noting for shifting
one’s voting intention to a more negative direction with regard to the $180 million bond include no need/priority (11%), don’t want
increased taxes (10%), knowing more of the specifics (10%), and too high overall (10%). It is important to keep in mind that the
percentages presented in Table 5B are based only on those who shifted their perceptions to a more negative direction after being
educated and when projected to the total sample of respondents, these reasons are relatively minor (i.e., 16% of the 70 people who
shifted to a more negative direction disagree with allocations and when projected to the total sample, this equals approximately 1%).

SUPPORT FOR LOWER PROPOSED BOND AMOUNTS
TENDED TO INCREASE AS ONE MIGHT EXPECT…
[Reference: Figure 9 And Figure 10]

 After exploring the “top-of-mind” and educated voting intentions for a proposed $180 million Millard School bond, respondents were
presented with lower bond option amounts and asked about their voting intentions with regard to these lower bond amounts. It is
important to note that once a respondent “strongly favored” a proposed bond amount, they were assumed to “strongly favor” a lower
bond amount and not asked about the lower level amount. As one would expect, support for the bond increased as amounts of the
bond decreased. First, all respondents were asked about their voting intentions with regard to a proposed scaled back $135 million

262



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
19

 When considering parents specifically, this reduced bond of $135 million was favored by 78% while 17% opposed this amount.
Naturally, non-parents were less in favor of even the scaled back version versus parents. Still, the majority (66%) of non-parents would
favor a scaled back $135 million school bond issue. Among those who were absolutely certain to vote, 66% would favor this reduced
$135 million school bond issue. It should be noted that with all respondent groups depicted in Figure 9, strongly favoring the scaled
back $135 million bond version increased about 10% “across the board” versus what was seen in Figure 8.

 More significant support is apparent for an even further scaled back $90 million Millard school bond issue. As shown in Figure 10, 78%
of the total sample indicated they would be in favor of a bond with this amount and even among non-parents, 73% would favor a $90
million bond. Of course, a significantly greater proportion of parents are in favor of this bond amount (84%) as was found with each of
the bond amounts tested. Among those absolutely certain to vote, Figure 10 shows that three-fourths (75%) would favor this bond
amount.

FINAL THOUGHTS AMONG DISTRICT RESIDENTS…
[Reference: Table 6A And Table 6B]

 At the end of the survey, respondents were afforded an opportunity to volunteer what would make them feel more positive toward the
school bond as well as what factors may make them feel more negative about a school bond. The responses obtained have been
categorized and are presented in Tables 6A and 6B and provide a sense of what residents might be looking for with regard to a
proposed school bond. Although no specific positive was volunteered by a significant segment of the total sample, it is apparent from
results presented in Table 6A that for some people having more information and knowing where the money goes may help to influence
them more positively towards a school bond. Of course, tax concerns would impact both positive and negative opinions of a school
bond for some residents, while others want to be sure that the district will have more efficient spending and use the funds for education
as a means of helping them feel more positive about a school bond. Higher taxes, too large of an increase in taxes, if costs went up

Millard School bond issue. As shown in Figure 9, 70% of the total sample would be in favor of this proposed bond amount while 24%
would be against this amount, leaving 6% undecided. This compares to 64% of the total sample favoring the $180 million bond as
shown previously in Figure 8 while 29% opposed this higher level.

263



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
20

OVERALL SUMMARY

 It is encouraging to find that a majority of Millard District voters would be at least leaning towards the $180 million school bond,
regardless of whether or not they currently have a child attending a Millard school, although greater support exists among parents which
is not surprising. Among those absolutely certain or very likely to vote on a bond issue in the Fall, six in every ten are at least leaning
towards this bond amount. As one would expect, support of this bond amount increased after more information regarding the allocation
of and supporting arguments for the bond were provided. As one would also expect, increased support of a school bond occurred as
the amount of the potential bond decreased. Results suggest the non-parent households (who happen to be older and have resided in
the district for a longer period of time) may be more likely to vote on a bond issue than parents, so examining results further in detail for
this group (which comprises 63% of district households) would be worthwhile to consider as the potential bond amount is decided.
While the impact on taxes is a concern for some, focusing on some of the more “attractive” components and supporting arguments for
the bond in communication efforts may help to increase residents’ support prior to a vote.

more than proposed, and the economy were some factors mentioned by small segments of respondents for being more negative about
a school bond, which one might expect. Overall, just over four in every ten respondents were unable to volunteer anything that would
make them feel either more positive or more negative toward a school bond.

264



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
21

SUMMARY TABLES & GRAPHS 

265



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
22

CATEGORY Characteristic
% OF TOTAL 

SAMPLE 
(n=800)

% Of 
Parents 
(n=296)

% Of 
Non-Parents

(n=504)
GENDER Male 31% 25% 35%

Female 69% 75% 65%
AGE GROUP Under 30 7% 5% 8%

30 To 39 20% 31% 13%
40 To 49 23% 48% 9%
50 To 59 27% 15% 34%
60 & Older 23% 1% 36%
Median Age 50 Years 42 Years 55 Years

LEVEL OF 
EDUCATION

Less Than High School 1% -- 1%
High School Graduate 9% 6% 11%
Some College/Technical School 23% 25% 22%
College Graduate/Beyond 66% 68% 66%
Refused 1% 1% --

LENGTH OF 
RESIDENCE IN 
MILLARD

Less Than 1 Year 2% 1% 3%
1 To 3 Years 10% 12% 8%
4 To 6 Years 11% 19% 6%
7 To 10 Years 14% 23% 8%
11 To 15 Years 12% 16% 9%
Over 15 Years 51% 29% 66%

HOME 
OWNERSHIP 
STATUS

Own 94% 90% 96%
Rent 5% 10% 2%
Other 1% -- 1%
Refused -- -- 1%

REGION Millard North 27% 22% 30%
Millard South 32% 27% 35%
Millard West 41% 51% 35%

CHARACTERISTICS OF THE SAMPLE
• In Total & By Parent Vs. Non-Parent •

Table 1

Percentages total 
vertically to 100% for 
each category. 
(Reference:  Q17-21, Q23)

266



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
23

42

50

55

45

53

51

3

5

3

4

44

45

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

One

Two/Three

Four Or More

% Of Sample Segment

NUMBER OF CHILDREN ENROLLED IN 
MILLARD PUBLIC SCHOOLS

• In Total & By Region •

TOTAL PARENT SAMPLE (n=296)

Figure 1

Base:  Parent sample. 
(Reference:  Q1A)

Millard North (n=64)

Millard South (n=80)

Millard West (n=152)

REGION

NUMBER 
OF 

CHILDREN

267



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
24

2
2

4
2

1
4

2
4

3
4

3
2

1
2

1
0

2
2
2
2

3
3

2
4

2

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20
% Of Parent Sample (n=296)

MILLARD SCHOOLS ATTENDED BY CHILDREN
• Parent Sample •

Figure 1A

(Continued)

Rohwer

Abbott

Cather

Black Elk

Ackerman
Aldrich

Bryan

Ezra Millard

Cody

Disney
Cottonwood

Harvey Oaks

Rockwell

Montclair
Morton

Neihardt
Norris

Holling Heights

Reeder
Reagan

Hitchcock

Sandoz
Upchurch

Wheeler
Willowdale

ELEMENTARY

268



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
25

1

1

0

16

12

14

7

4

4

6

7

6

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20
% Of Parent Sample (n=296)

MILLARD SCHOOLS ATTENDED BY CHILDREN
• Parent Sample •

Figure 1A (Continued)

Millard Horizon

Millard North

Millard South

Millard West

Middle School Alternative

Millard Young Adult

HIGH SCHOOL

Note:  Up to 15 mentions accepted.  One 
person refused to provide the name of the 
school attended by their child.
(Reference:  Q1B)

OTHER SCHOOLS

Andersen

Beadle

Central 

Kiewit

North

Russell

MIDDLE SCHOOL

269



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
26

16

12

7

12

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20

% Of Sample Segment

Figure 1B 

Millard North (n=152)

Millard South (n=176)

Millard West (n=176)

Base:  Non-Parent sample.  
(Reference:  Q2)

REGION

DO YOU HAVE A CHILD THAT MAY BE ATTENDING
MILLARD PUBLIC SCHOOLS WITHIN 5 YEARS?

• In Total & By Region •

TOTAL NON-PARENT SAMPLE 
(n=504)

270



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
27

88

79

75

79

88

86

70

80

11

20

36

5

16

36

23

20

12

13

29

19

1

1

2

2

2

2

1

1

1

1

62

82

95

62

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

Yes

No

Not Sure

PARENT 
STATUS

% Of Sample Segment

Figure 2

(Reference:  Q3)

REGION

INCIDENCE OF HAVING VOTED IN THE 
NOVEMBER 2010 GENERAL ELECTION

• In Total & By Selected Sample Segments •

Millard North (n=216)
Millard South (n=256)
Millard West (n=328)

TOTAL SAMPLE (n=800)

Parent (n=296)
Non-Parent (n=504) DID YOU 

VOTE?

AGE GROUP
Under 40 (n=212)

40 To 59 (n=398)
60/Over (n=183)

Under 7 Years (n=181)
7 To 15 Years (n=201)

Over 15 Years (n=418)

LENGTH OF 
RESIDENCY

271



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
28

46

40

40

37

41

44

31

39

31

33

32

28

35

28

34

30

31

29

37

32

19

22

37

15

19

39

21

28

22

23

26

24

3

4

8

3

3

8

4

4

4

3

5

4

1

1

1

2

1

1

1

1

2

1

1

1

22

42

52

24

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

Absolutely
Certain
Very Likely

Not Sure/
Possibly
Not Likely

Definitely
Will Not

PARENT 
STATUS

% Of Sample Segment

LIKELIHOOD TO VOTE THIS COMING FALL 
ON A PROPOSED MILLARD SCHOOL BOND

• In Total & By Selected Sample Segments •

Figure 3

(Reference:  Q4)

AGE 
GROUP

LIKELIHOOD 
TO VOTE

REGION
Millard North (n=216)
Millard South (n=256)

Millard West (n=328)

TOTAL SAMPLE (n=800)

Parent (n=296)
Non-Parent (n=504)

Under 40 (n=212)
40 To 59 (n=398)
60/Over (n=183)

Under 7 Years (n=181)
7 To 15 Years (n=201)

Over 15 Years (n=418)

LENGTH OF 
RESIDENCY

272



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
29

15

13

2
6

14
19

13
13

13

84

86
88

83

87

88

95
92

85
81

86
85

86

1

1

1

2

3
2

1

1
2

1

12

16

11

12

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

Yes

No

Not Sure

PARENT 
STATUS

% Of Sample Segment

INCIDENCE OF AWARENESS FOR A PROPOSED 
MILLARD SCHOOL BOND ISSUE

• In Total & By Selected Sample Segments •

Figure 4

(Reference:  Q5)

AGE 
GROUP

READ, SEEN, 
OR HEARD 
ANYTHING?

REGION
Millard North (n=216)
Millard South (n=256)
Millard West (n=328)

TOTAL SAMPLE (n=800)

Parent (n=296)
Non-Parent (n=504)

Under 40 (n=212)
40 To 59 (n=398)
60/Over (n=183)

LIKELIHOOD 
TO VOTE Absolutely Certain (n=313)

Very Likely (n=254)
Not Sure/Possibly (n=191)

Not Likely (n=42)

273



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
30

HOW DO YOU USUALLY GET INFORMATION ABOUT 
MILLARD PUBLIC SCHOOLS?

• In Total, By Parent Status, & Likelihood To Vote •

Percentages total vertically and exceed 100% due to multiple sources accepted.  
(Reference:  Q6)

Table 2

Sources Utilized

% Of 
Total 

Sample 
(n=800)

-- Parent Status -- -- Likelihood To Vote --

Parent 
(n=296)

Non-
Parent 
(n=504)

Absolutely 
Certain
(n=313)

Very 
Likely

(n=254)

Not Sure/
Possibly 
(n=191)

Not 
Likely
(n=42)

Newspaper 49% 32% 59% 58% 52% 35% 21%
District Newsletter/Publications 30% 29% 31% 34% 28% 27% 29%
Television 30% 19% 37% 33% 28% 31% 19%
School Newsletter 25% 42% 15% 20% 30% 25% 26%
Friends And Family 14% 11% 16% 16% 14% 9% 21%
Email 10% 25% 2% 9% 9% 13% 17%
Internet 6% 7% 5% 5% 6% 7% 5%
Teachers/Principals 5% 4% 6% 6% 6% 1% 5%
Radio 5% 2% 7% 6% 6% 3% --
School Website 4% 11% 1% 4% 5% 5% 5%
Mail 4% 4% 5% 4% 4% 6% 2%
Work At Millard Schools 4% 4% 4% 7% 2% 1% --
Papers Sent Home With Child 2% 4% -- 2% 2% 1% --
Telephone Calls 2% 3% 1% 2% 1% 2% 5%
All Other Sources 4% 3% 4% 7% 3% 1% --
None/Don’t Know 3% -- 5% 1% 2% 7% 10%

274



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
31

23
21

24
21

16

12
14

18
29

18
26

21

29
37
45

29
35

41

35
34

36

43
40

38
28

33
39

35

6
4

5

8
5

5

6
6

4

7
3

8
4

5
5

5

10
8

9

12
8

9

6
13

10

12
14

10
5

10
8

9

3
3

2

6
2

2
2

4

2
2

2
4

3
1

3

11
13

10
12

15

12
12

13

10
16
11

12

13
12

13

18
14

7

18
16

8

15
12

17

14
11

13
18

18
9

14

22

17
22

17 15

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

Strongly In Favor

Moderately In
Favor

Leaning Towards

Completely
Undecided

Leaning Against

Moderately
Against

Strongly Against

PARENT 
STATUS

% Of Sample Segment

TOP-OF-MIND VOTING INTENTIONS WITH REGARD TO A PROPOSED
$180 MILLION MILLARD SCHOOL BOND ISSUE

• In Total & By Selected Sample Segments •

Figure 5

(Reference:  Q7)

AGE 
GROUP

TOP-OF-MIND 
VOTE WOULD 

BE…

REGION Millard North (n=216)
Millard South (n=256)
Millard West (n=328)

TOTAL SAMPLE (n=800)

Parent (n=296)
Non-Parent (n=504)

Under 40 (n=212)
40 To 59 (n=398)
60/Over (n=183)

LENGTH OF 
RESIDENCY

LIKELIHOOD 
TO VOTE Absolutely Certain (n=313)

Very Likely (n=254)
Not Sure/Possibly (n=191)

Not Likely (n=42)

Under 7 Years (n=181)
7 To 15 Years (n=201)
Over 15 Years (n=418)

275



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
32

VOLUNTEERED REASONS FOR BEING IN FAVOR OF/LEANING TOWARDS 
THE PROPOSED $180 MILLION MILLARD SCHOOL BOND ISSUE

• In Total, By Parent Status, & Likelihood To Vote •

*Caution:  Small sample size.
Base:  Those in favor of or leaning towards this bond.
1Each mentioned by 1% or less of the total base sample.
Percentages total vertically and may exceed 100% due to multiple (2) mentions accepted.  
(Reference:  Q8A)

Table 3A

Volunteered Reasons
% Of 

Total Base 
(n=490)

-- Parent Status -- -- Likelihood To Vote --

Parent 
(n=208)

Non-
Parent 
(n=282)

Absolutely 
Certain
(n=194)

Very 
Likely

(n=161)

Not Sure/
Possibly 
(n=109)

Not 
Likely
(n=26)*

Good Thing/Education Important/Invest In 
Future 43% 35% 50% 46% 45% 41% 27%

Need More Information 23% 25% 22% 22% 25% 20% 35%
Taxes Are Already Too High 14% 12% 15% 11% 16% 17% 15%
Need Building Renovations/Additions 11% 13% 9% 11% 9% 16% 4%
Need Security Improvements 6% 9% 5% 9% 4% 5% 8%
None Attending/Children Graduated/Attend 
Private School 4% 2% 5% 2% 3% 8% 8%

Work There/Family, Friends Work There 4% 2% 5% 7% 2% 1% 4%
Need Updated Technology 3% 4% 3% 4% 1% 6% 4%
State Of Nebraska Has Cut Funding 2% 2% 2% 4% 1% -- --
Good Planning/Trust The District 2% 3% 2% 2% 4% 1% --
Bond Amount Is A Lot Of Money 2% 3% 1% 1% 4% 1% 4%
All Other Reasons1 9% 13% 5% 12% 9% 14% --
No Reason/Don’t Know 3% 2% 2% 1% 3% 4% 12%

276



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
33

VOLUNTEERED REASONS FOR BEING AGAINST/LEANING AGAINST  
THE PROPOSED $180 MILLION MILLARD SCHOOL BOND ISSUE

• In Total, By Parent Status, & Likelihood To Vote •

*Caution:  Small sample size. 
Base:  Those against/leaning against this bond.
1Each mentioned by 1% or less of the total base sample. 
Percentages total vertically and may exceed 100% due to multiple (2) mentions accepted.  
(Reference:  Q8B)

Table 3B

Volunteered Reasons
% Of 

Total Base 
(n=236)

-- Parent Status -- -- Likelihood To Vote --

Parent 
(n=65)

Non-
Parent 
(n=171)

Absolutely 
Certain
(n=102)

Very 
Likely
(n=68)

Not Sure/
Possibly 
(n=55)

Not 
Likely
(n=11)*

Don’t Want Tax Increase 46% 60% 40% 38% 56% 49% 36%
Need More Information 16% 14% 16% 20% 15% 9% 18%
District Wastes Money/Need To Spend Wisely 14% 9% 16% 25% 7% 4% --
No Child Attending/Attend Private School 12% -- 17% 13% 7% 18% 9%
Bond Amount Is Too High 12% 9% 13% 13% 12% 9% 18%
Poor Timing/Poor Economy 6% 6% 5% 4% 9% 5% --
No Need/Not Necessary 5% 6% 4% 4% 4% 4% 18%
Need To Make Cuts 4% 6% 4% 4% 6% 4% --
No Need For Renovations 4% 8% 3% 4% 1% 5% 18%
Need To Find Other Sources Of Revenue 3% 3% 3% 4% -- 5% --
Superintendent Is Making Too Much Money 3% 3% 2% 5% -- 2% --
Need To Focus On Education 2% 3% 1% 2% 1% 2% --
Unhappy With School System/Poor Past 
Experience 2% 2% 2% 2% 1% 2% --

Need To Increase Teachers’ Salary 2% 2% 2% 2% 1% 2% --
All Other Reasons1 10% 8% 10% 9% 10% 9% 18%
No Reason/Don’t Know -- -- 2% 1% 1% -- --

277



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
34

VOLUNTEERED FACTORS UPON WHICH DECISION WOULD DEPEND 
REGARDING THE PROPOSED $180 MILLION 

MILLARD SCHOOL BOND ISSUE
• In Total, By Parent Status, & Likelihood To Vote •

*Caution:  Small sample size.
Base:  Those undecided about this bond.
Percentages total vertically and may exceed 100% due to multiple (2) mentions accepted.  
(Reference:  Q8C)

Table 3C

Volunteered Factors
% Of 

Total Base 
(n=74)

-- Parent Status -- -- Likelihood To Vote --

Parent 
(n=23)*

Non-
Parent 
(n=51)

Absolutely 
Certain
(n=17)*

Very 
Likely
(n=25)*

Not Sure/
Possibly 
(n=27)*

Not 
Likely
(n=5)*

Where Money Is Allocated 30% 43% 24% 47% 24% 26% 20%
Need More Information 27% 9% 35% 18% 24% 33% 40%
Tax Increase Amount 22% 22% 22% 24% 20% 26% --
Cost Vs. Benefit Ratio 7% 9% 6% 6% 12% 4% --
Actual Need 4% -- 6% -- 8% 4% --
Depends On Final Amount Of Bond 4% -- 6% 12% -- 4% --
Actual Benefits To Children 3% -- 4% -- 4% -- 20%
Should Focus On Education 3% -- 4% 6% 4% -- --
Is Enrollment Growing? 3% -- 4% -- 8% -- --
All Other Factors 9% 22% 4% 6% 12% 7% 20%
Don’t Know 8% 13% 6% 6% 4% 15% --

278



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
35

29

32

31

42

38

39

34

48

39

36

42

38

27

34

36

34

31

32

25

24

26

26

26

33

26

33

33

36

22

31

36

26

37

36

39

25

34

40

28

41

29

34

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

Not Likely Vote (7.07)

Not Sure/Possibly (7.40)

Very Likely Vote (7.05)

Absolutely Certain Vote (7.19)

Non-Parents (6.90)

Parents (7.68)

Total Sample (7.19)

Not Likely Vote (6.95)

Not Sure/Possibly (7.68)

Very Likely Vote (7.16)

Absolutely Certain Vote (7.04)

Non-Parents (6.94)

Parents (7.72)

Total Sample (7.23)

9-10

7-8

6 / Below

% Of Sample Segment  

PERCEIVED IMPORTANCE OF 5 COMPONENTS INCLUDED IN 
THE PROPOSED $180 MILLION MILLARD SCHOOL BOND

• In Total, By Parent Status, & Likelihood To Vote •

Mean

RATING OF…

(Continued)

RATING SCALE:
1 = Not At All 
Important To 

10 = Extremely 
Important

Figure 6

Means based on those able to rate.
Distance from end of bars to 100% = “No Idea” replies.  

$6 MILLION 
SECURITY

$25 MILLION 
TECHNOLOGY

279



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
36

12

11

14

24

22

31

25

27

25

31

40

34

32

34

36

35

36

35

40

30

33

37

35

55

48

50

42

48

44

46

45

41

38

39

42

35

40

25

15

19

17

18

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

Not Likely Vote (5.88)

Not Sure/Possibly (6.33)

Very Likely Vote (6.24)

Absolutely Certain Vote (6.55)

Non-Parents (6.26)

Parents (6.54)

Total Sample (6.36)

Not Likely Vote (6.45)

Not Sure/Possibly (6.83)

Very Likely Vote (6.77)

Absolutely Certain Vote (6.83)

Non-Parents (6.70)

Parents (6.95)

Total Sample (6.79)

9-10

7-8

6 / Below

% Of Sample Segment 

PERCEIVED IMPORTANCE OF 5 COMPONENTS INCLUDED IN 
THE PROPOSED $180 MILLION MILLARD SCHOOL BOND

• In Total, By Parent Status, & Likelihood To Vote •

Mean 

RATING OF…

(Continued)

RATING SCALE:
1 = Not At All 
Important To 

10 = Extremely 
Important

Figure 6 (Continued)

$128 MILLION 
BUILDING 
RENOVATIONS

$5 MILLION 
ENERGY 
EFFICIENCY

Means based on those able to rate.
Distance from end of bars to 100% = “No Idea” replies.  

280



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
37

17

16

24

33

34

27

27

36

30

57

48

46

45

52

38

4721

18

25

17

28

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

9-10

7-8

6 / Below

% Of Sample Segment

PERCEIVED IMPORTANCE OF 5 COMPONENTS INCLUDED IN 
THE PROPOSED $180 MILLION MILLARD SCHOOL BOND

• In Total, By Parent Status, & Likelihood To Vote •

Mean

RATING OF…

RATING SCALE:
1 = Not At All 
Important To 

10 = Extremely 
Important

Figure 6 (Continued)

(Reference:  Q9A-E)

Total Sample (6.27)

Parents (6.79)

Non-Parents (5.97)

Absolutely Certain Vote (6.37)

Very Likely Vote (6.15)

Not Sure/Possibly (6.34)

Not Likely Vote (6.00)

$16 MILLION 
ADDITIONS

Means based on those able to rate.
Distance from end of bars to 100% = “No Idea” replies.  

281



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
38

VOLUNTEERED MAIN REASON WHY RATING IS NOT HIGHER FOR THE 
$128 MILLION BUILDING RENOVATIONS COMPONENT OF 

THE PROPOSED $180 MILLION MILLARD BOND

Base:  Those rating the building renovation component as a “6” or lower.  
Percentages total vertically to 100%.  
*Each mentioned by 1% or less of the base sample.
(Reference:  Q10A)

Table 4A

Volunteered Main Reason
% Of 

Base Sample 
(n=371)

Adequate/No Need/Schools Are New 33%
Don’t Spend Money Wisely 11%
No Need For Artificial Turf 8%
Need More Information 8%
Should Focus On Education 6%
Depends On Which Buildings 3%
Bond Amount Is Too High 3%
Having Better Security Is More Important 2%
No Children Attending 2%
Don’t Want Higher Taxes 2%
Better Spent On Technology 2%
Use Space Available/Enrollment Declining 2%
Poor Timing/Economy Is Poor 2%
All Other Reasons* 9%
No Reason/Don’t Know/Refused 7%

282



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
39

VOLUNTEERED MAIN REASON WHY RATING IS NOT HIGHER FOR THE 
$16 MILLION ADDITIONS COMPONENT OF 

THE PROPOSED $180 MILLION MILLARD BOND

Base:  Those rating the additions component as a “6” or lower.  
Percentages total vertically to 100%.  
*Each mentioned by 1% or less of the base sample.
(Reference:  Q10B)

Table 4B

Volunteered Main Reason
% Of 

Base Sample 
(n=375)

No Need/Enrollment Has Gone Down/Have Enough Space 24%
Need More Information 15%
Don’t Use Space Wisely 8%
Support Services Has New Building/Has Enough Space 6%
Don’t Know What “Support Services” Means 5%
Security Is More Important 3%
Should Focus On Education 3%
No Children Attending/Children Graduating 3%
Need To Cut Support Services 3%
Don’t Want Tax Increase 2%
Better Spent On Technology 2%
Bond Amount Is Too High 2%
Other Components More Important/Lower Priority 2%
Poor Economy 2%
Increase Classroom Size 2%
All Other Reasons* 8%
No Reason/Don’t Know 10%

283



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
40

VOLUNTEERED MAIN REASON WHY RATING IS NOT HIGHER FOR THE 
$25 MILLION TECHNOLOGY COMPONENT OF 

THE PROPOSED $180 MILLION MILLARD BOND

Base:  Those rating the technology component as a “6” or lower.  
Percentages total vertically to 100%.  
*Each mentioned by 1% or less of the base sample.
(Reference:  Q10C)

Table 4C

Volunteered Main Reason
% Of 

Base Sample 
(n=249)

No Need/Adequate/Up-To-Date 36%
Focus On Basic Education 11%
Need More Information 9%
Amount Is Too High 4%
Don’t Spend The Money They Have Wisely 4%
Don’t Want Tax Increase 3%
No Children Attending/Child Graduating 3%
Kids Have Computers At Home 2%
Should Already Be In Budget/Not Have Bond For Tech 2%
Poor Economy 2%
Parents Should Buy For Their Child 2%
All Other Reasons* 9%
No Reason/Don’t Know/Refused 13%

284



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
41

VOLUNTEERED MAIN REASON WHY RATING IS NOT HIGHER FOR THE 
$6 MILLION SECURITY COMPONENT OF 

THE PROPOSED $180 MILLION MILLARD BOND

Base:  Those rating the security component as a “6” or lower.  
Percentages total vertically to 100%.  
*Each mentioned by 1% or less of the base sample.
(Reference:  Q10D)

Table 4D

Volunteered Main Reason
% Of 

Base Sample 
(n=271)

No Need/Already Secure 45%
Overreaction To Millard South Incident 9%
Things Will Happen Anyway/Can’t Prevent 8%
Need More Information 4%
Too Much Money 4%
Parents Need To Take Responsibility For Child’s Actions 4%
Not Spending Money Wisely 3%
Try Other Way To Maintain Security 3%
Don’t Want Tax Increase 2%
Need To Teach Students About Bullying/How To Cope 2%
No Children Attending 2%
All Other Reasons* 7%
No Reason/Don’t Know 7%

285



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
42

VOLUNTEERED MAIN REASON WHY RATING IS NOT HIGHER FOR THE 
$5 MILLION ENERGY-EFFICIENCY COMPONENT OF 

THE PROPOSED $180 MILLION MILLARD BOND

Base:  Those rating the energy-efficiency component as a “6” or lower.  
Percentages total vertically to 100%.  
*Each mentioned by 1% or less of the base sample.
(Reference:  Q10E)

Table 4E

Volunteered Main Reason
% Of 

Base Sample 
(n=316)

No Need 16%
Better Spent Elsewhere With More Need/Lower Priority 10%
High Cost/Expensive 9%
Need More Information 6%
Costs Are More Than Payback 4%
Need To Focus On Education 4%
Not Spending Money Wisely 4%
Taxes Too High 3%
Don’t Believe In It/Trust It 3%
Takes Too Long To Recoup Costs 3%
No Benefit To Students 2%
Needs To Be A Smaller Amount 2%
More Need For Security 2%
Economy 2%
Renovation Needs 2%
All Other Reasons* 14%
No Reason/Don’t Know/Refused 14%

286



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
43

19

24

29

31

39

37

31

45

36

21

30

35

30

29

34

31

36

37

31

28

31

33

32

26

24

20

18

21

20

20

14

14

14

12

14

11

13

29

20

23

30

30

18

26

17

15

15

22

22

10

18

21

21

27

19

22

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

Not Likely Vote (n=42)

Not Sure/Possibly (n=191)

Very Likely Vote (n=254)

Absolutely Certain Vote (n=313)

Non-Parents (n=504)

Parents (n=296)

Total Sample (n=800)

Not Likely Vote (n=42)

Not Sure/Possibly (n=191)

Very Likely Vote (n=254)

Absolutely Certain Vote (n=313)

Non-Parents (n=504)

Parents (n=296)

Total Sample (n=800)

Major

Moderate

Slight

None

% Of Sample Segment

IMPACT OF 4 SPECIFIC ARGUMENTS ON SUPPORTING THE 
$180 MILLION MILLARD SCHOOL BOND

• In Total, By Parent Status, & Likelihood To Vote •

INCREASED USE 
OF PORTABLE 
CLASSROOMS

IMPACT ON 
SUPPORTING

(Continued)

Figure 7

Distance from end of bars to 100% = “Don’t Know” replies.

INCREASED 
CLASS SIZES

287



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
44

% Of Sample Segment

IMPACT OF 4 SPECIFIC ARGUMENTS ON SUPPORTING THE 
$180 MILLION MILLARD SCHOOL BOND

• In Total, By Parent Status, & Likelihood To Vote •

NEIGHBORHOODS 
REASSIGNED TO 
OTHER SCHOOLS

Figure 7 (Continued)

Distance from end of bars to 100% = “Don’t Know” replies.
(Reference:  Q11A-D)

IMPACT ON 
SUPPORTING

TAX LEVY 
INCREASE 
1 TO 2 
CENTS

19

13

24

23

20

17

16

26

20

36

40

43

37

38

42

40

14

29

35

30

28

35

31

21

22

23

19

21

20

21

21

20

20

22

22

19

21

17

25

19

28

25

22

24

36

26

24

31

32

20

28

15

13

15

14

14

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

Not Likely Vote (n=42)

Not Sure/Possibly (n=191)

Very Likely Vote (n=254)

Absolutely Certain Vote (n=313)

Non-Parents (n=504)

Parents (n=296)

Total Sample (n=800)

Not Likely Vote (n=42)

Not Sure/Possibly (n=191)

Very Likely Vote (n=254)

Absolutely Certain Vote (n=313)

Non-Parents (n=504)

Parents (n=296)

Total Sample (n=800)

Major

Moderate

Slight

None

288



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
45

30
34

36
30

23

14
28

26
37

27
37

30

27
27
40

29
29

33

27
30

34

48
32
36

22

29
32

30

4
5

2

5
3

4

4
5

2

5
4

4
3

4
3

4

8
4

8

9
5

7

5
9

7

9
10
7

4

8
5

7

2
3

2

4
2

2

3
2

1

2
3

3

3
2

2

13
12

13

13
14

11

10
13

17

10
14
13

13

13
12

13

16
15

7

16
15

9

15
11

16

14
10
11

18

16
9

14

34

24
32

28

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

Strongly In Favor

Moderately In
Favor

Leaning Towards

Completely
Undecided

Leaning Against

Moderately
Against

Strongly Against

PARENT 
STATUS

% Of Sample Segment

EDUCATED VOTING INTENTIONS WITH REGARD TO PROPOSED
$180 MILLION MILLARD SCHOOL BOND ISSUE

• In Total & By Selected Sample Segments •

Figure 8

(Reference:  Q12)

AGE 
GROUP

EDUCATED 
VOTE WOULD 

BE…

REGION
Millard North (n=216)
Millard South (n=256)
Millard West (n=328)

TOTAL SAMPLE (n=800)

Parent (n=296)
Non-Parent (n=504)

Under 40 (n=212)
40 To 59 (n=398)
60/Over (n=183)

Under 7 Years (n=181)
7 To 15 Years (n=201)
Over 15 Years (n=418)

LENGTH OF 
RESIDENCY

LIKELIHOOD 
TO VOTE Absolutely Certain (n=313)

Very Likely (n=254)
Not Sure/Possibly (n=191)

Not Likely (n=42)

289



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
46

VOLUNTEERED REASONS FOR BEING MORE POSITIVE ABOUT THE 
PROPOSED $180 MILLION MILLARD SCHOOL BOND 

• In Total, By Parent Status, & Likelihood To Vote •

*Caution:  Small sample size.
Base:  Those whose opinion became more positive after being provided with more information.
1Each mentioned by 1% or less of the total base sample.
Percentages total vertically and exceed 100% due to multiple (2) mentions accepted.  
(Reference:  Q12A)

Table 5A

Volunteered Reasons
% Of 

Total Base 
(n=175)

-- Parent Status -- -- Likelihood To Vote --

Parent 
(n=64)

Non-
Parent 
(n=111)

Absolutely 
Certain
(n=51)

Very 
Likely
(n=60)

Not Sure/
Possibly 
(n=54)

Not 
Likely
(n=10*)

Know More Details 23% 20% 24% 18% 28% 22% 20%
Know How It’s To Be Allocated 17% 14% 19% 20% 12% 20% 20%
Don’t Want Larger Class Sizes 12% 16% 10% 14% 8% 13% 20%
The Need For Security 9% 8% 10% 12% 7% 9% 10%
Need For Improving Technology 9% 9% 8% 6% 8% 9% 20%
Don’t Want Reassignment To Other Schools 7% 12% 4% 6% 8% 4% 20%
It’s Needed/Necessary 7% 9% 6% 6% 5% 9% 20%
Need Building Upgrades/Renovations 5% 5% 5% 8% 2% 6% --
Don’t Want Portables 4% 6% 3% 2% 8% 2% --
Keeping High Standards/Level/Best Education 4% 2% 5% 6% 3% 4% --
Benefits The Students 3% 5% 3% 2% 5% 4% --
It’s For Education 3% -- 5% 2% -- 7% --
Expansion Needed 2% 3% 2% 4% 2% 2% --
Impacts My Family Directly 2% 3% 1% 2% 2% 2% --
All Other Reasons1 10% 11% 10% 12% 15% 6% --
No Reason/Don’t Know 12% 12% 11% 12% 15% 10% 10%

290



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
47

VOLUNTEERED REASONS FOR BEING MORE NEGATIVE ABOUT THE 
PROPOSED $180 MILLION MILLARD SCHOOL BOND 

• In Total, By Parent Status, & Likelihood To Vote •

*Caution:  Small sample size.
Base:  Those whose opinion became more negative after being provided with more information.
1Each mentioned by 2% or less of the total base sample.
Percentages total vertically and may exceed 100% due to multiple (2) mentions accepted.  
(Reference:  Q12B)

Table 5B

Volunteered Reasons
% Of 

Total Base 
(n=70)

-- Parent Status -- -- Likelihood To Vote --

Parent 
(n=25*)

Non-
Parent 
(n=45)

Absolutely 
Certain
(n=25*)

Very 
Likely
(n=23*)

Not Sure/
Possibly 
(n=17*)

Not 
Likely
(n=5*)

Disagree With Allocations 16% 16% 16% 16% 22% 6% 20%
Need For More Information 14% 12% 16% 20% 13% 12% --
No Need/Priority 11% 16% 9% 16% 9% 12% --
Don’t Want Increased Taxes 10% 16% 7% 12% 13% 6% --
Knowing More Of The Specifics 10% 12% 9% 4% 9% 18% 20%
Too High Overall 10% 4% 13% 12% 13% 6% --
Needs To Be More About Education 4% 4% 4% 8% -- 6% --
No Need For Additional Security 4% 4% 4% 4% 4% 6% --
Too Much Focus On Technology 4% 8% 2% 8% -- 6% --
No Need For Additional Toward Administration 3% 4% 2% -- 9% -- --
Need More For Technology 3% 8% -- -- 4% 6% --
Need For A New School 3% 4% 2% -- 9% -- --
Only Need Increased Security 3% 8% -- -- 9% -- --
Need To Look Into Alternatives For Funds 3% -- 4% 4% -- 6% --
Need To Spend More Wisely 3% 8% -- 4% 4% -- --
Use What We Have/Buildings Not At Capacity 3% -- 4% 8% -- -- --
Too Much Toward Renovations 3% 4% 2% 4% 4% -- --
All Other Reasons1 17% 12% 20% 12% 9% 29% 40%
No Reason/Don’t Know 13% 4% 17% 12% 9% 18% 20%

291



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
48

38
43

44
40

33

24
38
37

45

35
48

40

24
25
33

26
27

25

26
25

28

45
30

30
18

26
26

26

4
3

6

4
5

4

5
4

4

7
3
6

3

5
4

4

7
5

5

8
5

6

3
7

7

10
7

7
3

6
5

6

1
1

1

3

1

2
1

1

2
2
1

1

1
1

1

11
11

9

10
11

9

7
11

15

7
10
10

12

12
8

11

15
12

6

16
13

8

13
12
12

5
10
9

18

15
8

12

47

33
39

40

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

Strongly In Favor

Moderately In
Favor

Leaning Towards

Completely
Undecided

Leaning Against

Moderately
Against

Strongly Against

PARENT 
STATUS

% Of Sample Segment*

VOTING INTENTIONS WITH REGARD TO PROPOSED
SCALED BACK $135 MILLION MILLARD SCHOOL BOND ISSUE

• In Total & By Selected Sample Segments •

Figure 9

*Note:  Those strongly in favor of the proposed $180 million Millard school 
bond were assumed to be strongly in favor of the $135 million bond.  
(Reference:  Q13)

AGE 
GROUP

VOTE WOULD 
BE…

REGION
Millard North (n=216)
Millard South (n=256)
Millard West (n=328)

TOTAL SAMPLE (n=800)

Parent (n=296)
Non-Parent (n=504)

Under 40 (n=212)
40 To 59 (n=398)
60/Over (n=183)

Under 7 Years (n=181)
7 To 15 Years (n=201)
Over 15 Years (n=418)

LENGTH OF 
RESIDENCY

LIKELIHOOD 
TO VOTE Absolutely Certain (n=313)

Very Likely (n=254)
Not Sure/Possibly (n=191)

Not Likely (n=42)

292



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
49

50
54

55
51

44

36
50
50
53

46
58

51

23
23
31

27
25

24

23
24

30

40
27
26
21

25
25

25

2
1

2

1
1

1

1
2

1

2
1
2

1

2
1

2

4
4

4

6
4

4

3
4

6

5
6
6

3

4
4

4

1
1

1

1
1

2

1
1
1

2
2

1

2

1

9
8

7

9
8

7

5
9
12

10
8
7

8

10
6

8

11
9

5

11
9
7

12
9
6

7
6
7

13

11
6

9

55

45
52

50

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

Strongly In Favor

Moderately In
Favor

Leaning Towards

Completely
Undecided

Leaning Against

Moderately
Against

Strongly Against

PARENT 
STATUS

% Of Sample Segment*

VOTING INTENTIONS WITH REGARD TO PROPOSED
SCALED BACK $90 MILLION MILLARD SCHOOL BOND ISSUE

• In Total & By Selected Sample Segments •

Figure 10

*Note:  Those strongly in favor of the proposed $180 million or $135 million Millard 
school bond were assumed to be strongly in favor of the $90 million bond.  
(Reference:  Q14)

AGE 
GROUP

VOTE WOULD 
BE…

REGION

TOTAL SAMPLE (n=800)

LENGTH OF 
RESIDENCY

LIKELIHOOD 
TO VOTE

Under 40 (n=212)
40 To 59 (n=398)
60/Over (n=183)

Under 7 Years (n=181)
7 To 15 Years (n=201)
Over 15 Years (n=418)

Millard North (n=216)
Millard South (n=256)
Millard West (n=328)

Parent (n=296)
Non-Parent (n=504)

Absolutely Certain (n=313)
Very Likely (n=254)

Not Sure/Possibly (n=191)
Not Likely (n=42)

293



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
50

WHAT, IF ANYTHING, WOULD MAKE YOU FEEL MORE 
POSITIVE TOWARDS A SCHOOL BOND?  

• In Total, By Parent Status, & Likelihood To Vote •

*Each mentioned by 1% or less of the total sample.
Percentages total vertically and exceed 100% due to multiple (2) mentions accepted.  
(Reference:  Q15)

Table 6A

Volunteered Responses

% Of 
Total 

Sample  
(n=800)

-- Parent Status -- -- Likelihood To Vote --

Parent 
(n=296)

Non-
Parent 
(n=504)

Absolutely 
Certain
(n=313)

Very 
Likely

(n=254)

Not Sure/
Possibly 
(n=191)

Not 
Likely
(n=42)

More Information 13% 11% 14% 12% 15% 13% 7%
Knowing Where Money Goes 7% 6% 7% 6% 8% 7% 5%
Lower Taxes/Not Raising Taxes 6% 6% 5% 5% 6% 6% 7%
More Efficient Spending 5% 3% 6% 5% 3% 6% 2%
Used For Education 4% 4% 3% 4% 2% 4% 7%
If I Saw A Need 3% 1% 4% 4% 2% 2% --
Reduce Bond Amount 3% 3% 3% 3% 4% 2% 2%
If I Had Children In The System 2% -- 3% 2% 3% 2% 2%
Increased Security 2% 3% 1% 1% 2% 2% --
Able To Keep Class Sizes Down 2% 2% 2% 3% 2% 1% 2%
An Improved Economy 2% 2% 2% 2% 3% 1% 2%
All Other Responses* 27% 35% 22% 30% 25% 24% 29%
Nothing/Refused/Don’t Know 43% 41% 43% 42% 40% 45% 45%

294



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
51

*Each mentioned by 1% or less of the total sample.
Percentages total vertically and may exceed 100% due to multiple (2) mentions accepted.  
(Reference:  Q16)

Table 6B

Volunteered Responses

% Of 
Total 

Sample 
(n=800)

-- Parent Status -- -- Likelihood To Vote --

Parent 
(n=296)

Non-
Parent 
(n=504)

Absolutely 
Certain
(n=313)

Very 
Likely

(n=254)

Not Sure/
Possibly 
(n=191)

Not 
Likely
(n=42)

Higher Taxes 10% 10% 9% 7% 11% 10% 12%
Upgrades/Improvements When Not Needed 8% 6% 9% 8% 9% 8% 7%
If Not Used As Stated/Changes 4% 4% 4% 3% 5% 3% 10%
Too Large An Increase In Taxes 4% 4% 3% 4% 5% 3% --
If Costs Went Up More Than Proposed 4% 3% 5% 4% 4% 5% 5%
Not Given Enough Information 3% 3% 4% 4% 3% 3% 2%
If I Disagree With Allocation Of Funds 3% 4% 2% 3% 2% 3% 5%
If Doesn’t Go Towards Students’ Education 2% 2% 3% 3% 1% 4% --
If Money Goes Towards Administration 2% 1% 3% 4% 2% -- --
The Economy 2% 1% 2% 2% 2% 1% --
If Insist On Larger Bond Amount 2% 2% 1% 1% 2% 2% --
All Other Responses* 23% 27% 20% 21% 23% 26% 19%
Nothing/Refused/Don’t Know 44% 44% 44% 46% 40% 44% 50%

WHAT, IF ANYTHING, WOULD MAKE YOU FEEL MORE 
NEGATIVE ABOUT A SCHOOL BOND?  

• In Total, By Parent Status, & Likelihood To Vote •

295



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
52

APPENDIX A –
SURVEY INSTRUMENT

296



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
53

297



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
54

298



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
55

299



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
56

300



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
57

301



Millard Public Schools
Bond Issue Insight Study

April 2011
58

302


	Board Packet May 16, 2011
	Agenda
	E.1. Board Minutes May 2, 2011
	Financials
	E.4. Committee Minutes May 9, 2011
	G.1 Approval of Ppolicy 3122 - Support Services - Business - Procurement Cards
	Policy 3122
	G.2. Approval of Policy 5410 - Pupil Services - Substance Use
	Policy 5410
	G.3. Approval of Policy 5480 - Pupil Services - Search and Seizure
	Policy 5480
	G.4. Approval of Policy 5490 - Pupil Services - Use of Alcohol and other Drug Screening and Testing Technology
	Policy 5490
	H.2.  Approval of 2011 Graduates from Millard North, Millard South, and Millard West
	H.3. Approval of Regular Education Bus Services for 2011-2012
	H.4. Approval of Rule 5480.1 - Pupil Services - Search and Seizure
	Rule 5480.1
	H.5. Approval of Rule 5490.1 - Pupil Services - Use of Alcohol and other Drug Screening and Testing Technology
	Rule 5490.1
	H.6. Approval of Rule 6031.1 - Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment - School Day for Students
	Rule 6031.1
	H.7. Approval of Rule 6315.1 - Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment - Millard Education Program: Use of Assessment Data
	Rule 6315.1
	H.8. Approval of Utility Easement at Ezra Millard Elementary
	H.9. Approval of Liability Insurance Self-Insured Retention Program
	H.10. Approval of PreK-12 Science Framework: Part I PreK-8
	H.11. Approval of PreK-5 Science Field Study
	H.12. Approval of Personnel Actions: Amendment to Continuing Contract(s), Leave(s) of Absence, Resignation(s), New Hires
	Amendment to Continuing Contract
	Leave of Absence
	Resignations
	New Hires
	H.13. Oath of Office for New Board Member
	I. ELO Senior Status Report
	I.2. Legislative Update
	I.3. Bond Issue Survey Report



